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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).    YES  ☐    NO  ☒

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant, as of
June 30, 2018, the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, based on the
closing price of $13.10 per share of the Registrant’s common stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange on
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement relating to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated
by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K where indicated.  Such definitive Proxy Statement will
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the registrant’s fiscal year
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD‑LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “seek,” “might,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”
“may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “approximately,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” or the negative or plural of these words or
similar expressions, as they relate to our company, business and management, are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but
are not limited to, statements about:

•our financial performance, including our revenues, margins, costs, expenditures, growth rates and operating
expenses, and our ability to generate positive cash flow and become profitable;
•increasing our share of Consumer Packaging Goods (“CPG”s) marketing spend on promotions and media on our
platforms and increase the number of brands that are using our platform within each CPG;
•our ability to adapt to changes in marketing budgets of CPGs and retailers and the timing of their marketing spend;
•our expectations regarding Quotient Promotions Cloud, Quotient Media Cloud, Quotient Analytic Cloud, and
Quotient Audience Cloud platforms;
•our expectations regarding the shift to digital promotions and advertising from off-line channels;  
•our ability to successfully expand our media solutions into new areas such as Retail Performance Media, media
agency, influencer marketing, and sponsored search;
•our ability to maintain and expand our data rights within our retailer network;
•our ability to successfully execute and grow our Retail Performance Media programs;
•our ability to successfully expand our promotions solutions into new areas such as targeted printed offers at checkout
and loyalty rewards programs;
•our ability to successfully execute our digital promotions and media solutions into retailers’ in-store and point of sale
systems and consumer channels;
•our ability to deploy, execute, and continue to develop Quotient Analytics and our data, measurement, and analytics
solutions in support of our digital promotions and media solutions;
•our ability to demonstrate the value of our digital promotions and media solutions through trusted measurement
metrics;
•our ability to expand the use by consumers of our digital promotions and media offerings and broaden the selection
and use of digital coupons, cash-back offers, and coupon codes;
•our strategies relating to the growth of our platform and our business, including pricing strategies;
•our ability to successfully enter new markets;
•our ability to successfully integrate our newly acquired companies into our business;
•our ability to respond to changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including with respect to privacy and
data protection, or enforcement by government regulators, including fines, orders, or consent decrees;
•the effects of increased competition in our markets and our ability to compete effectively;
•our ability to effectively grow and train our sales and operations teams;
•our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our brand and intellectual property;
•our strategies relating to, and outcomes of, and costs associated with defending, intellectual property infringement
and other claims;
•our significant operating leverage in our business;
•our ability to develop and launch new services and features; and
•our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel.
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We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events and
financial trends affecting our business. Forward-looking statements should not be read as guarantees of future
performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at, or by, which such performance
or results will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information available to our management at the
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our management’s good faith belief as of such date with respect to future
events, and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially
from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to
be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. We discuss these risks in greater detail in “Item 1A: Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form
10-K. We caution you that the foregoing list of important factors may not contain all of the material factors that are
important to you. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statement to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions based on new information, future events or
otherwise. If we update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make
additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, you
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

PART I

Item 1.Business.
Overview

Quotient Technology Inc. is an industry leading digital marketing company, providing technology and services that
power integrated digital promotions and media programs for consumer packaged goods (“CPG”s) brands and retailers.
These programs are delivered across our network, including our flagship consumer brand Coupons.com and our retail
partners’ properties. This network provides Quotient with proprietary and licensed data, including online behavior,
purchase intent, and retailers’ in-store point-of-sale (“POS”) shopper data, to target shoppers with the most relevant
digital coupons and ads. Customers and partners use Quotient to influence shoppers via digital channels, integrate
marketing and merchandising programs, and leverage shopper data and insights to drive measurable sales results.

For our retail partners, we provide a digital platform, Quotient Retailer iQ (“Retailer iQ”), to directly engage with
shoppers across their websites, mobile, ecommerce, and social channels. This platform is generally co-branded or
white-labeled through retailers’ savings or loyalty programs and uses shopper data to deliver relevant digital
promotions from brand marketers and retailers to shoppers.

Our network is made up of three constituencies:

•Our clients consist of approximately 700 CPGs, representing approximately 2,000 brands, including many of the
leading food, beverage, personal and household product manufacturers;
•Our retail partners, representing multiple classes of trade such as leading grocery retailers; drug, dollar, club, and
mass merchandise channels, where the majority of CPG products are sold; and
•Millions of consumers visiting our web, mobile properties, and social channels, as well as those of our CPG and
retailer partners.

Through these three groups, we have created a network effect, which we believe gives us a competitive advantage
over both offline and online competitors. As our shopper audience increases, our platform becomes more valuable to
CPGs and retailers, which, in turn, rely more heavily on our platform for their digital promotions and media. In
addition, the breadth of coupon and advertising content offered from leading brands enables us to attract and retain
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more retailers and shoppers. As our network expands, we generate more shopper data and insights, which improve our
ability to deliver more relevant and personalized promotions and media, and strengthens our measurement and data
insights solutions.

We primarily generate revenue by providing digital coupons and media solutions to our customers and partners.
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We generate revenue from promotions, in which CPGs pay us to deliver coupons to consumers through our network
of publishers and retail partners. Each time a coupon is activated through our platform or, in some cases, redeemed,
we are generally paid a fee. Activation of a digital coupon can include: saving it to a retailer loyalty account or
printing it for physical redemption at a retailer.

Promotion revenues also include our Specialty Retail business, in which specialty stores including clothing,
electronics, home improvement and many others offer coupon codes that we distribute. Each time a consumer makes a
purchase using a coupon code, a transaction occurs and a distribution fee is generally paid.

We also generate revenues from digital media in which CPGs, retailers, and advertising agencies, use our platform to
deliver digital advertising. Using our proprietary data and shopper data from our retail partners, we target audiences
with digital ad campaigns. These ads are delivered to shoppers through our network, including our websites and
mobile apps, as well as those of our publishers, retailers and other third parties. Campaigns are measured based on
optimization and performance, attributing digital ad campaigns to in-store purchases in near real time. In 2018, we
acquired Ahalogy, an influencer marketing platform, and Elevaate, a sponsored search technology platform for our
retail partners and CPG customers. Our media solutions, including the solutions we acquired from Ahalogy and
Elevaate help serve our customers and partners’ needs as they shift more of their marketing dollars to digital.

We generally pay a distribution fee to retailers and publishers for activation or redemption of a digital promotion, for
media campaigns, and for use of data for targeting or measurement. We also pay a fee to third-party publishers for
traffic acquisition, which consists of delivering campaigns on certain networks or sites. These distribution and
third-party service fees are included in our cost of revenues. See Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations – “Non-GAAP Financial Measure and Key Operating Metrics” for more
information.

During 2018, we generated revenues of $387.0 million, representing 20% growth over 2017, and a net loss of
$28.3 million as compared to $15.1 million in 2017. See our Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying
notes for more information. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was no revenue from a customer
that accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2016, total revenue
from The Procter and Gamble Company accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues.

Our Industry

Retailers and CPGs are turning to data-driven digital marketing strategies to engage and influence shoppers to
compete more effectively in today’s retail environment and drive sales. By shifting dollars from traditional offline
channels to digital, brands and retailers can use shopper data and behaviors to target and deliver digital coupons and
advertising with greater efficiency and return on investment.

For decades, retailers and CPGs have worked together to drive sales, which in turn benefits both parties. CPGs sell
their products to retailers, and retailers are responsible for selling those products directly to shoppers. To help retailers
attract shoppers and ensure sales, CPGs spend over $225 billion annually in promotions, media, shopper marketing,
trade and other in-store advertising. Historically, the vast majority of these dollars have been spent in offline channels
such as free-standing inserts found in Sunday newspapers, direct mail, printed circulars, in-store aisle tags, end caps
and TV. These traditional offline channels are becoming less effective as consumers spend more time online,
particularly on mobile, giving way to the rising importance of using data to drive personalized and targeted, content to
shoppers. To reach shoppers at the right time and place, CPGs are shifting dollars historically spent in offline channels
to digital.

At the same time, traditional retailers are paving the path for this digital shift by investing in technology and creating
digital strategies to better compete and drive sales.  This includes investment around loyalty strategies, ecommerce
experiences, and data-driven advertising platforms. As retailers expand their digital capabilities, it creates greater
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opportunities for CPGs to shift marketing dollars from offline to digital.

Digital coupons, primarily funded by CPGs, have been found to be more effective and are redeemed at higher rates
compared to traditional offline promotions. According to a 2018 mid-year industry report by NCH Marketing
Services, Inc., digital coupons (including digital print and digital paperless coupons) represented approximately 1.7%
of total U.S. CPG coupon distribution volume, but accounted for just over 20% of total U.S. CPG coupon
redemptions. We believe that the ease of digital promotions, coupled with greater awareness of digital savings
programs, is broadening the demographic reach and driving demand for digital promotions.
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Trade promotions, defined as special promotions offered to drive additional sales directly from a particular retailer, are
also funded by CPGs. Historically, trade promotions have been mass marketed through retailers in offline vehicles
such as aisle tags and printed circulars. We believe CPGs will shift offline trade promotions to digital as retailers
continue to increase their digital marketing activities and better use their shopper data.

Advertising from shopper marketing, defined as advertising funded by the CPG to gain shopper awareness and drive
sales within a specific retailer, is also shifting from traditional in-store and print advertising to digital, particularly to
mobile. Shopper marketers are looking to reach shoppers across the right touchpoints at the right time. Additionally,
portions of CPG brand advertising, which have historically been spent in traditional offline channels such as print and
TV, are also expected to shift to digital channels. eMarketer projects that in 2019, CPG and consumer products brands
will spend approximately $11.0 billion on digital ads, an increase from the approximately $6 billion spent in 2016.

As the shift to digital coupon and digital advertising continues to grow, so does the importance placed on data to target
audiences and measure campaign performance. Today, over 90% of grocery sales still occur in-store with shopper data
residing offline, creating a particular need to attribute dollars spent in digital coupons and advertising directly to
in-store sales. As a greater portion of grocery sales shift to online, retailers are investing in omni-channel strategies,
technology, and solutions to meet shopper demands, compete effectively and drive sales. These investments are
creating an increased number of digital touchpoints, using combined data from offline and online sales, for retailers
and their CPGs to target shoppers with relevant promotions and digital marketing. As retailers add more omni-channel
capabilities, it enables CPGs to shift more marketing dollars to digital. 

Our Platforms and Solutions

We offer an industry leading digital platform providing technology and services that power integrated digital
promotions and media programs for CPG brands and retailers. We do this through personalized and targeted
promotions and media for the purpose of driving profitable sales and building shopper loyalty. Approximately 700
CPGs, representing approximately 2,000 brands, use our platform to manage and distribute digital coupons and
advertising, target shopper audiences, and measure campaign performance and sales results.  

Through Quotient’s solutions, brands and retailers can integrate their marketing campaigns across national brand
promotions, trade and loyalty rewards promotions, shopper marketing, brand media advertising, social and influencer
marketing, and sponsored search. Our solutions combine shopper insights and purchase data with broad distribution
capabilities across mobile, web, social and ecommerce channels. Brands and retailers can develop and execute
targeted marketing and promotional programs within days, while using campaign performance metrics to adjust
programs in near real time. This differs from the long lead times typically required in traditional offline marketing and
measurement vehicles.

We have a broad distribution network that includes our owned and operated web and mobile properties, such as
Coupons.com, and thousands of publishing and retail partner properties which include 85 million registrants on
savings programs powered by us. Through this network, we distribute relevant and targeted coupons and media.

We power Retailer iQ, our proprietary and core platform, used at top retailers in the grocery, drug, dollar, club and
mass merchandise channels. Retailers integrate Retailer iQ into their points-of-sale (POS), or loyalty program, which
serves as their digital marketing platform, creating a direct, digital relationship with millions of their shoppers.
Through Retailer iQ, we use shopper data and insights to distribute personalized and targeted coupons and media,
primarily funded by our CPG customers or retail partners, to help drive shopper loyalty and increase sales. Additional
Retailer iQ features include digital grocery list, digital receipt, digital circular and beacon technology.

With the foundation of Retailer iQ integrated into retailers’ point of sale or loyalty programs, we’ve developed four
proprietary platforms in which our go-to-market solutions fall under: Quotient Promotions Cloud, Quotient Media
Cloud, Quotient Analytics Cloud and Quotient Audience Cloud.
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Quotient Promotions Cloud

Quotient Promotions Cloud platform offers digital paperless and digital print promotions across our distribution
network. With digital paperless, shoppers save coupons directly to retailer loyalty accounts for automatic digital
redemption, or by redeeming coupons using a mobile device for cash back after taking a picture of a retailer receipt
with the appropriate purchase. With digital print, shoppers select coupons and print them from their desktop or mobile
device to redeem in store.
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Through our platform, CPGs and retailers can reach shoppers on the web and on mobile devices by offering digital
coupons through our extensive network which includes:

•the Coupons.com website and our Coupons.com and Shopmium mobile applications;
•CPG and retailer websites and mobile applications, either hosted by us or hosted by them using our APIs; and
•thousands of third-party publishing websites and mobile applications included in our network.

We have designed and engineered our platform to support personalization, targeting and optimization in the delivery
of digital coupons. We start with demographic and geography-based personalization techniques that enable consumers
to see and easily access the most relevant content. We personalize content based on offers the consumer has clicked on
and searches the consumer may have conducted on our network as well as the coupons that the consumer previously
activated, and/or redeemed.

Quotient Promotions Cloud offers national digital coupons from CPG brands, and retail-specific coupons sourced
from shopper marketers and retailers. Other products included in Quotient Promotions Cloud are Quotient Targeted
Promotions based on the criteria listed above, combined with shopper data from our Retailer iQ integrations with
select retailers. We also offer receipt-scanning, cash-back mobile coupons for direct cash back after taking a picture of
a retailer receipt with the appropriate purchase. In the third quarter 2018, we acquired SavingStar, a CRM platform
that builds and tracks loyalty programs with consumers across multiple retailers. With the addition of SavingStar, we
now offer Quotient Loyalty Rewards, an area of focus for many brands as they expand their direct-to-consumer
relationships.

Quotient Media Cloud

Quotient Media Cloud platform offers targeted advertising solutions, enabling brands and retailers to reach shoppers
before, during and after their shopping cycles with digital media campaigns. Brands and advertisers can leverage our
proprietary shopper data and audience segments to deliver targeted media ads across our network, including retail
partners and Coupons.com, and across third-party publishers’ web, mobile and social channels outside our network.
For example, we can target consumers on Facebook who have redeemed a coupon or purchased a product in a
particular product category with advertising within that product category.

Our media solutions include execution and delivery of targeted media and dynamic creative services.

In 2018, we added influencer marketing and sponsored search through the acquisitions of Ahalogy and Elevaate,
respectively. Ahalogy brings social expertise and an extensive influencer network to our customers and partners. Their
proprietary data and category trends help develop and create compelling influencer marketing campaigns, including
new recipe ideas, creative new product uses and brand awareness to shoppers across paid social channels. With the
acquisition of Elevaate, we expanded our media units within sponsored search within a retailer’s ecommerce
experience. With this additional technology, retailers can enhance their ecommerce experience while making it easy
for shoppers to find the products they need and want. These added solutions also give brands and advertisers the
ability to manage their digital budgets through a single strategic partner, reaching shoppers through paid search media
and sponsored search directly on the retailers’ properties.  

For retailers, we power Quotient Retail Performance Media (RPM) Platforms, giving retailers the ability to expand
their digital media strategies and leverage their shopper data to drive sales. Through RPM, brand marketers can use
specific retail data to target and deliver media directly to shoppers and measure direct sales results. Additionally,
retailers deliver digital media campaigns through RPM. We distribute these targeted ads via retailer digital properties,
our expansive network including Coupons.com properties, and other third-party publishing sites.   We also power
Quotient Digital Circular, a personalized retail circular experience for shoppers, with targeted media units for brands
to advertise their products and drive sales.
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We also provide CPGs, retailers and other advertisers access to our Coupons.com audience, including our website and
mobile properties, to highlight their brands, including premium media and advertising placements on our site,
promoted positions within our coupon galleries and premium placement in our marketing efforts.
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Quotient Analytics Cloud  

Quotient Analytics Cloud provides campaign analytics and measured sales results to CPGs and retailers, attributing
digital promotions and/or media campaigns to in-store and online purchases. Through Quotient Analytics, we combine
purchase data from select retailers across the Quotient Retailer iQ network with online engagement and
purchase-intent data from Quotient’s flagship brand, Coupons.com, and the Company’s thousands of publishing
partners. Our campaign measurement tools also provide brands and retailers with flexibility to adjust their campaigns
in mid-flight to drive greater efficiency with marketing dollars. As our platform, network and audience expands, the
value of our data and analytics increases. We provide analytics and insights through Quotient Promo iQ and Quotient
Media iQ.

Quotient Audience Cloud

In the beginning of January 2019, we introduced Quotient Audience Cloud whereby marketers can purchase shopper
audience segments to be used for targeted media and measurement. The audience segments are derived from first
party data and insights from Coupons.com properties, and shopper data from select Retailer iQ partners. The Audience
Cloud platform offers syndicated shopper audiences, or customer audience segments, and may be used in conjunction
with our Quotient Media Cloud advertising services, or purchased separately.

Growth Strategy

We intend to grow our platform and our business through the following key strategies:

Increase revenues from CPGs already on our platform.    Based on our experience to date, we believe we have
opportunities to continue increasing revenues from our existing CPG customer base through:

•increasing our share of CPG spending on overall coupons and media;
•increasing the number of brands that are using our platform within each CPG;
•leveraging data to provide our customers and partners with more insight, including campaign performance, and to
distribute more targeted promotions, media, and analytics across our retail partner properties, our network including
our owned and operated properties, and third-party sites, and to expand our capabilities within Quotient Audience
Cloud; and
•maximizing consumer’s experiences across all products.

Grow our promotions business.      We plan to grow Quotient Promotions Cloud through increased consumer demand
of coupons, and by increasing the number of coupons CPG brands offer on the platform. By bringing retailers and
shoppers into our network, our ability to expand our targeted coupons and expand our audience reach grows,
increasing our ability to more effectively engage consumers and drive sales. We plan to invest in Quotient Promotions
Cloud, by expanding shopper adoption on Retailer iQ, and growing our solutions through targeted digital paperless
coupons, targeted printed coupons at checkout, brand loyalty coupons and CRM capabilities for CPGs.  We intend to
continue to invest in technologies and product offerings that further integrate digital promotions and media, including
selling these offerings together through packaged solutions.

Grow our media business.     We plan to grow Quotient Media Cloud, including Retail Performance Media, influencer
marketing, and search and sponsored search. We plan to continue to invest in our media solutions, expanding the use
of our proprietary data as well as data from select exclusive retail partnerships, and by adding and expanding new
publishers, partnerships, new verticals, and third parties such as media agencies.

Expand and grow Quotient Analytics and Quotient Audience. As our network, content pool and shopper audience
expand, we believe that our platform will become more valuable, resulting in greater data, insights and shopper
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audience segments. We expect to introduce more robust, solutions to our customers and partners around campaign
performance, analytics and insights, as well as around Quotient Audience Cloud.

Grow our current customer base and add new industry segments.    We believe we have the opportunity to grow the
number of brands and retailers that we serve, thereby increasing the value of our platform to all constituents. In
addition, we intend to continue growing our business with other manufacturers and retailers in new industry segments
such as convenience and specialty/franchise retail, restaurants and entertainment venues.
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Grow shopper adoption and engagement of our digital offerings.    We plan to continue to innovate and invest across
our platform, including Retailer iQ, Retail Performance Media, Quotient Analytics, mobile solutions, media and
digital promotion offerings, Coupons.com mobile app, and our network. We plan to continue to create additional
consumer touchpoints across the network by expanding our promotions and media solutions at retailer checkout and
within ecommerce, in order to generate and increase shopper adoption, expand our audience network and leverage
shopper data. We believe that CPG spending on digital promotions and marketing will continue to grow as point of
sale, mobile channels and social media offer new opportunities to engage consumers on their path to purchase.

Grow international operations.    Many CPGs and retailers on our platform have global operations and we believe that
we can opportunistically grow our operations and offerings in existing international markets and partner with our
existing clients to enter new geographies in which they operate. We also plan to leverage our existing presence in
France through our mobile application Shopmium, a receipt-scanning, cash-back mobile application platform, to
broaden our international opportunity beginning with the United Kingdom.

Selectively pursue strategic acquisitions.   We intend to continue pursuing selective acquisition and partnership
opportunities that we believe can expand our business.

Security

Our platform includes a proprietary digital distribution management system to enable CPGs and retailers to securely
control the number of coupons distributed by device. We have controls in place to limit the number of digital coupons
that can be printed. Similar controls are in place for linking coupons to loyalty cards and other paperless solutions,
which allows us to limit the number of coupons distributed and activated. In addition, each printed coupon carries a
unique ID that is encrypted, enabling us to trace each coupon from print to redemption. All of our digital print
coupons can be authenticated and validated using this unique code. This unique ID also can be used to detect
counterfeit or altered coupons. Our platform allows us to systematically identify and respond to fraudulent and
prohibited activities by restricting a device from printing coupons.

Sales and Marketing

We have a team of dedicated, skilled specialists focused on CPGs and retailers. We believe that our sales, integration,
promotions and media campaign management and analytics, and customer support capabilities are difficult to replicate
and a key reason for the growth of our business. Much of our sales activity is focused on expanding the number of
brands within our existing CPG customers that offer digital promotions and media through our platform as well as
increasing the revenue from those brands currently using our platform. The team is also focused on expanding
relationships within CPGs to include shopper marketing teams, where we believe there is a large opportunity for
growth particularly in media. Additionally, we are focused on continuing to increase the size and breadth of our
network. We are also seeking to partner with CPGs and other manufacturers and retailers in new industry segments
such as convenience and specialty/franchise retail, restaurants and entertainment venues.

In addition to sales support during the campaign planning process, our sales representatives provide additional support
to CPGs and retailers to ensure that their campaigns are launched and delivered within specified timeframes.
Representatives assigned to specific customers review performance metrics and share feedback with the advertiser.

We are focused on managing our brand, increasing market awareness and generating new advertiser leads. In doing
so, we often present at industry conferences, create custom events and invest in public relations. In addition, our
marketing team advertises online, in print and in other forms of media, creates case studies, sponsors research,
publishes marketing collateral and undertakes customer research studies.

Technology and Infrastructure
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Since inception, we have made significant investments and will continue to invest in developing our differentiated and
proprietary platforms aimed at solving the problems of CPGs and retailers in ways that traditional solutions cannot.
We are focused on offering solutions that provide measurable results. We have assembled a team of highly skilled
engineers and computer scientists with deep expertise across a broad range of relevant disciplines. Key focus areas of
our engineering team include:

•Scalable infrastructure.    We use a combination of proprietary and open-source software to achieve a horizontally
scalable, global, distributed and fault-tolerant architecture, with the goal of enabling us to ensure the continuity of our
business, regardless of local disruptions. Our computational infrastructure currently processes millions of events per
day and is designed in a way that enables us to add significant capacity to our platform as we scale our business
without requiring any material design or architecture modifications. We use a combination
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of public and private cloud computing platforms. Our private cloud technology infrastructure is hosted across data
centers in co-location facilities in California, Nevada, and Virginia.
•Redundancy.    Our production infrastructure utilizes a hot failover configuration which allows us to switch server
loads, be it a single server or an entire data center, to the other data center within minutes. Data is continuously
replicated between sites, and multiple copies at each site provide fast recovery whenever it is requested. Each data
center has been designed to handle more than our entire server needs, which enables us to perform platform
maintenance, business resumption and disaster recovery without any customer impact.
•Reporting.    Our user interface provides flexible reporting and interactive visualization of the key drivers of success
for each media campaign. We use these reporting and visualization products internally to manage campaigns and
provide advertisers with campaign insights.
•AdTech.    Our media delivery is largely powered by proprietary ad servers, creative and social platforms, workflow
automation tools, and data management tools.  We develop and use these platforms with a range of differentiated
features that are specialized for the CPG and retail vertical.
•Security.    Our security policy adheres to established policies to ensure that all data, code, and production
infrastructure are secure and protected. Our data centers are SSAE 16 Type II certified and we are PCI DSS
compliant where required. We use our internal team and third parties to test, audit, and review our entire production
environment to protect it.

Competition

We compete against a variety of different businesses with respect to different aspects of our business, including:

•traditional offline coupon and discount services, as well as newspapers, magazines and other traditional media
companies that provide coupon promotions and discounts on products and services in free standing inserts or other
forms, including Valassis Communications, Inc., News America Marketing Interactive, Inc. and Catalina Marketing
Corporation;
•providers of digital coupons such as Valassis’ Redplum.com, Catalina Marketing Corporation’s Cellfire, Inmar, News
America Marketing’s SmartSource, You  Tech, and companies that offer coupon codes such as RetailMeNot, Inc.,
Groupon Inc., Exponential Interactive Inc.’s TechBargains, Savings.com, Inc. and Ebates Performance Marketing,
Inc., companies that offer cash back solutions such as iBotta, Inc., News America Marketing’s Checkout 51, and
companies providing other e-commerce based services that allow consumers to obtain direct or indirect discounts on
purchases;
•internet sites that are focused on specific communities or interests that offer coupons or discount arrangements
related to such communities or interests;  
•companies offering online and marketing services to retailers and CPGs, such as MyWebGrocer, Inc. and Flipp
Corporation;
•companies offering CPG and retail digital media services, such as Triad Media Inc. and Criteo; and
•retailers marketing and offering their own digital coupons directly to consumers using their own websites, email
newsletters and alerts, mobile applications and social media channels.

We believe the principal factors that generally determine a company’s competitive advantage in our market include the
following:

•scale and effectiveness of reach in connecting CPGs and retailers to consumers in a digital manner, through web,
mobile and other online properties;
•ability to attract consumers to use digital coupons and/or engage with digital media;
•platform security, scalability, reliability and availability;
•our proprietary intent data and access to POS data from select retail partners;
•number of channels by which a company engages with consumers;
•integration of products and solutions;
•rapid deployment of products and services for customers;
•breadth, quality and relevance of the Company’s digital coupons, media and measurement;
•ability to deliver digital coupons that are widely available and easy to use in consumers’ preferred form;
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•integration with retailer applications;
•brand recognition;
•quality of tools, reporting and analytics for planning, development, optimization and measurement of promotions and
media; and
•breadth and expertise of the Company’s sales organization.

While we believe we compete effectively with respect to the factors identified above, we may face increasing
competition from larger or more established companies that seek to enter our market or from smaller companies that
launch new products, solutions and services that could gain market acceptance.

Culture and Employees

We are proud of our company culture and consider it to be one of our competitive strengths. Our culture helps drive
our business and compete for talented employees in a highly competitive market. We seek to offer an environment
that allows our employees to thrive and grow.

As of December 31, 2018, we had 877 full-time employees, consisting of 594 employees in the United States and 283
employees internationally.

Intellectual Property

We protect our intellectual property by relying on federal, state, and common law rights in the United States and
equivalent rights in other jurisdictions, as well as contractual restrictions. We control access to our proprietary
technology and algorithms by entering into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees
and contractors, and confidentiality agreements with third parties.

In addition to these contractual arrangements, we also rely on a combination of trade secrets, patents, copyrights,
trademarks, service marks and domain names to protect our intellectual property. We pursue the registration of our
copyrights, trademarks, service marks and domain names in the United States and in certain locations outside the
United States. As of December 31, 2018, we hold or have exclusive rights to 32 active issued patents in the United
States and 11 active patents that have been issued outside of the United States with terms expiring between 2019 and
2033. See the risk factor titled “We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property rights” for more
information.

Circumstances outside our control could pose a threat to our intellectual property rights. For example, effective
intellectual property protection may not be available in the United States or other countries in which we operate. Also,
the efforts we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effective or may require significant
expenditures and other resources to enforce. Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights or
unauthorized disclosure or use of our intellectual property could harm our business and our operating results, or ability
to compete.

Companies in Internet-related and other industries may own large numbers of patents, copyrights and trademarks and
may frequently request license agreements, threaten litigation or file suit against us based on allegations of
infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. We currently are, have been subject to in the past, and
expect to face in the future, allegations that we have infringed the trademarks, copyrights, patents and other
intellectual property rights of third parties, including our competitors and non-practicing entities. As we face
increasing competition and as our business grows, we will likely face more claims of infringement.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in California in May 1998 and reincorporated in Delaware in June 2009. We changed our name
to Quotient Technology Inc. on October 20, 2015. Our corporate website address is www.quotient.com. Information
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contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute part of this report and inclusions of our
website address in this report are inactive textual references only. Quotient, the Quotient logo, SavingStar, Elevaate,
Quotient Retailer iQ Quotient Analytics and Ahalogy are trademarks or registered trademarks of Quotient Technology
Inc. and its subsidiaries in the United States and other countries. Other marks are property of their respective owners.
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Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and other reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) under the Exchange Act. We also make available, free of charge on the investor relations portion
of our website at investors.quotient.com, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed electronically with the SEC. You can inspect and
copy our reports, proxy statements and other information filed with the SEC at the offices of the SEC’s Public
Reference Room located at 100 F Street, NE, Washington D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for
further information on the operation of Public Reference Rooms. The SEC also maintains an Internet website at
http://www.sec.gov/ where you can obtain most of our SEC filings. You can also obtain paper copies of these reports,
without charge, by contacting Investor Relations at (650) 605-4600 (option 7).

Webcasts of our earnings calls and certain events we participate in or host with members of the investment
community are available on our investor relations website at www.quotient.com. Additionally, we announce investor
information, including news and commentary about our business and financial performance, SEC filings, notices of
investor events, and our press and earnings releases, on our investor relations website, as well as through press
releases, SEC filings, public conference calls, our corporate blog and social media in order to achieve broad,
non-exclusionary distribution of information to the public. We encourage our investors and others to review the
information we make public in these locations as such information could be deemed to be material information. Please
note that this list may be updated from time to time.  Investors and others can receive notifications of new information
posted on our investor relations website in real time by signing up for email alerts. Further corporate governance
information, including our corporate governance guidelines, board committee charters, and code of conduct, is also
available on our investor relations website under the heading “Governance.” The contents of our websites, blog, press
releases, public conference calls and social media are not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form
10-K or in any other report or document we file with the SEC (and the contents of other SEC filings are not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other report or document we file with the SEC
except as required by law or to the extent we expressly incorporate such SEC filing into this Annual Form 10-K or
other report or document we file with the SEC), and any references to our websites are intended to be inactive textual
references only.

Item 1A.Risk Factors.
Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described below,
which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial conditions, and the trading price
of our common stock.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have incurred net losses since inception and we may not be able to generate sufficient revenues to achieve or
subsequently maintain profitability.

We have incurred net losses of $28.3 million, $15.1 million and $19.5 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
We have an accumulated deficit of $322.1 million as of December 31, 2018. We anticipate that our costs and expenses
will increase in the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in:

•sales and marketing;
•research and development, including new product development;
•our technology infrastructure;
•general administration, including legal and accounting expenses related to our growth and continued expenses;
•expanding into new markets; and
•strategic opportunities, including commercial relationships, retail partnerships and acquisitions.
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For example, we have incurred and expect to continue to incur expenses developing, improving, integrating, investing,
marketing and maintaining our Promotions, Media, Audience and Analytics Cloud platforms and solutions, which
include Retailer iQ, Retail Performance Media, and Quotient Analytics, and we may not succeed in increasing our
revenues sufficiently to offset these expenses. 

If we are unable to execute our growth strategy and gain efficiencies in our operating costs, our business could be
adversely impacted. We cannot be certain that we will be able to attain or maintain profitability on a quarterly or
annual basis. If we are unable to effectively manage these risks and difficulties as we encounter them, our business,
financial condition and results of operations may suffer.
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We may not achieve revenue growth.

We may not be able to achieve revenue growth, and we may not be able to generate sufficient revenues to achieve
profitability. In addition, historically the growth rate of our business, and as a result, our revenue growth, has varied
from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year, and we expect that variability to continue. For example, some of our
products experience seasonal sales and buying patterns mirroring those in the CPG, retail, and e-commerce markets,
including back-to-school and holiday campaigns, where demand increases during the second half of our fiscal year,
and our revenues may otherwise fluctuate due to changes in marketing budgets of CPGs and retailers and the timing of
their marketing spend. Marketing spend by CPGs is considered the most flexible and easiest to cut at the end of a
quarter or fiscal year if a CPG is facing budget pressures and as a result we are not always able to anticipate such
fluctuations. Decisions by major CPGs or retailers to delay or reduce their digital promotion and media spending, or
divert spending away from digital promotions, digital media campaigns, or other digital marketing from our platforms,
or changes in our fee arrangements with CPGs, retailers and other commercial partners, could also slow our revenue
growth or reduce our revenues.  

As our business evolves, we will continue to experiment with different pricing models and fee arrangements with
CPGs and retailers, which may impact how we monetize transactions. For example, we are experimenting with
ROI-based pricing strategies and service packages though we cannot offer any assurance on the success or adoption
rate of such strategies. If we shift a greater number of our arrangements with CPGs to these other models, some of
which require us to receive fees upon the redemption of digital coupons on our platform rather than activation as is
generally done, and we do not achieve anticipated activation rates, our revenue growth and revenues could be harmed.

We believe that our continued revenue growth will depend on our ability to:

•increase our share of CPG marketing spend on promotions and media through our platforms and increase the number
of brands that are using our platform within each CPG;
•adapt to changes in marketing budgets of CPGs and retailers and the timing of their marketing spend;
•successfully expand our media solutions into new areas such as Retail Performance Media, media agency, influencer
marketing, and sponsored search;
•maintain and expand our data rights with our retailer network;
•successfully execute and grow Retail Performance Media programs;
•successfully expand our promotions solutions into new areas such as targeted printed offers at checkout and loyalty
rewards programs;
•successfully execute our digital promotions and digital media solutions into retailers’ in-store and point of sale
systems and consumer channels;
•deploy, execute, and continue to develop Quotient Analytics and our data, measurement, and analytics solutions in
support of our digital promotions and media solutions;
•demonstrate the value of our digital promotions and media solutions through trusted measurement metrics;
•expand the use by consumers of our digital promotions and media offerings and broaden the selection and use of
digital coupons, coupon codes and cash-back offers;
•successfully enter into new markets;
•successfully integrate our newly acquired companies into our business;
•grow and maintain our retailer network through direct and indirect commercial partnerships;
•respond to changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including with respect to privacy and data protection,
or enforcement by government regulators, including fines, orders, or consent decrees;
•manage the shift from desktop to mobile devices;
•manage the transition from digital print coupons to digital paperless coupons;
•innovate our product offerings to retain and grow our consumer base;
•grow the number of transactions across our platform;
•expand the number, variety, quality, and relevance of digital coupons available on our web, mobile and social
channels, as well as those of our CPGs, retailers and network of publishers;
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•increase the awareness of our brands, and earn and build our reputation;
•hire, integrate, train and retain talented personnel;
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•effectively manage scaling and international expansion of our operations; and
•successfully compete with existing and new competitors.

However, we cannot assure you that we will successfully accomplish any of these actions. Failure to do so could harm
our business and cause our operating results to suffer.

If we fail to attract and retain CPGs, retailers and publishers and expand our relationships with them, our revenues and
business will be harmed.

The success of our business depends in part on our ability to increase our share of CPG marketing spend on our
promotions and media solutions and on our platforms; increase the number of brands that use our solutions and
platforms within each CPG; increase adoption and scale of Retailer iQ; and our ability to demonstrate the value of our
solutions through measurement and data analytics. It also depends on (i) our ability to obtain, maintain, and expand
data rights agreements with our retail partners, (ii) our ability to further integrate our platforms and promotions and
media solutions into retailers’ in-store and point of sale systems and consumer channels, which depends in part on
retailers’ commitment in modifying point of sale systems and other solutions to integrate with our platforms, (iii) our
ability to obtain the right to distribute Retailer iQ digital promotions more broadly through our websites and mobile
apps and those of our publishers, and (iv) our retail partners’ commitment in promoting our digital marketing solutions
to their customers. If we do not create more value than available alternatives, or if CPGs and retailers do not find that
offering digital promotions and media on our platforms enables them to reach consumers and sufficiently increase
sales with the scale and effectiveness that is compelling to them, CPGs and retailers may not increase their distribution
of digital promotions and media on our platforms, or they may decrease them or stop offering them altogether, and
new CPGs and retailers may decide not to use our platforms.

For example, if CPGs decide that our platforms do not provide the right solutions for them to connect with consumers,
we may not be able to increase our prices or CPGs may pay us less. Likewise, if retailers decide that our Promotions,
Media, Audience and Analytics Cloud platforms and solutions are less effective at increasing sales to and loyalty of
existing and new consumers, retailers may demand a higher percentage of the total proceeds from each digital
campaign or demand minimum guaranteed payments. Furthermore, if retailers do not find that Retailer iQ increases
consumer engagement and loyalty, our overall success may be harmed. In addition, we expect to face increased
competition, and competitors may accept lower payments from CPGs to attract and acquire new CPGs, or provide
retailers and publishers a higher distribution fee than we currently offer to attract and acquire new retailers and
publishers. We may also experience attrition in our CPGs, retailers and publishers in the ordinary course of business
resulting from several factors, including losses to competitors, changes in CPG budgets, and decisions by CPGs,
retailers and publishers to offer digital coupons and media through their own websites or other channels without using
a third-party platform such as ours or through a competitive third-party network or platform, and failure to maintain
distribution agreements with third-party digital promotions networks and platforms. If we are unable to retain and
expand our relationships with existing CPGs, retailers and publishers or if we fail to attract new CPGs, retailers and
publishers to the extent sufficient to grow our business, or if too many CPGs, retailers and publishers are unwilling to
offer digital coupons and media with compelling terms through our platforms, we may not increase the number of
high quality coupons and marketing campaigns on our platform and our revenues, gross margin and operating results
will be adversely affected. 

The loss or decrease in spending of any significant customer could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.

Our business is exposed to risks related to customer concentration, particularly among CPGs and retailers. The loss or
decrease in spending of any of our significant customers or deterioration in our relations with any of them could
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

If we are unable to grow or successfully respond to changes in the digital promotions market, our business could be
harmed.
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As consumer demand for digital coupons has increased, promotion spending has shifted from traditional coupons
through traditional offline or analog channels, such as newspapers and direct mail, to digital coupons. However, it is
difficult to predict whether the pace of transition from traditional to digital coupons will continue at the same rate and
whether the growth of the digital promotions market will continue. Some large retailers do not yet use digital
paperless coupons. If a retailer decides not to accept digital paperless coupons or a CPG reduces its spend in digital
promotions, our business could be harmed. In order to expand our business, we must appeal to and attract consumers
who historically have used traditional promotions to purchase goods or may prefer alternatives to our offerings, such
as those of our competitors. If the demand for digital coupons does not continue to grow as we expect, or if we fail to
successfully address this demand, our business will be harmed. For example, the growth of our revenues will require
increasing the
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number of brands that are using our digital promotions solutions within each CPG. If our projections regarding the
adoption and usage of Retailer iQ by retailers, CPGs and consumers, do not occur or are slower than expected, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects will be harmed. A variety of factors could slow the
success of Retailer iQ generally, including insufficient time, resources or funds committed by retailers to the
promotion of Retailer iQ, a retailer’s decision to forego marketing Retailer iQ, our inability to obtain sufficient data
rights to maximize the functionality of our platforms and our inability to monetize enhanced Retailer iQ functionality,
and our inability to efficiently integrate Retailer iQ with a retailer’s system. Even if we are successful in driving the
adoption and usage of Retailer iQ by retailers, CPGs and consumers, if Retailer iQ fee arrangements or transaction
volumes, or the mix of offers, change or do not meet our projections, our revenues may be harmed. We expect that the
market will evolve in ways which may be difficult to predict. It is also possible that digital coupon offerings generally
could lose favor with CPGs, retailers or consumers. In the event of these or any other changes to the market, our
continued success will depend on our ability to successfully adjust our strategy to meet the changing market
dynamics. In addition, we will need to continue to grow demand for our digital promotions platform by CPGs,
retailers and consumers, including through continued innovation and implementation of new initiatives associated
with the digital coupons. For example, if consumer demand for our software-free print solution, cash-back receipt
scanning solution, or our mobile application does not grow as we expect, our business may be harmed. If we are
unable to grow or successfully respond to changes in the digital promotions market, our business could be harmed and
our results of operations could be negatively impacted. For example, we are seeing a shift from digital paper coupons
to digital paperless coupons. Our revenues may be harmed if we are unable to manage this transition and the growth of
digital paperless coupons is slower than the decline in digital print coupons. Conversely, acceleration of this shift
(from, for example, acceptance of digital paperless coupons by new retailers) could lead to unanticipated increases in
revenue.

We depend in part on data-rights agreements with our retail partners to power a range of products and the termination
of such agreements or the failure to obtain additional data rights can severely impact our revenue and growth.

Our Promotions, Media, Audience and Analytics Cloud platforms and solutions, which include Retailer iQ and
Quotient Analytics, are powered in part by data we obtain from our retail partners.  Our access to this data is governed
by data-rights agreements with some of our retail partners.  These data-rights agreements have complex rules and are
required to be renewed periodically.  If we fail to secure additional data rights or renew expiring data-rights
agreements, if we are found to be in violation of any of our obligations under these agreements, or if retailers lose
their data rights, we could lose access to retailer data.  Without retailer data, our Promotions, Media, Audience and
Analytics Cloud platforms and solutions, which includes Retailer iQ and Quotient Analytics and our targeted
promotions and media offerings, would be less valuable to our CPG customers, publishers, ad tech and retail partners.
In addition, changes to international, federal, state, local and municipal laws, regulations and industry standards that
relate to privacy, electronic communications, data protection, intellectual property, e-commerce, competition, price
discrimination, consumer protection, taxation, and the use of promotions may require us to amend, or alter our
practices under, our data rights agreements.  If we and our retail partners cannot timely respond to such legal and
regulatory changes, our revenue and growth would be impaired.  See the risk factor below titled “Our business is
subject to complex and evolving laws, regulations and industry standards, and unfavorable interpretations of, or
changes in, or failure by us to comply with these laws, regulations and industry standards could substantially harm our
business and results of operations.” for additional information.

Our ability to generate revenue depends on our collection and use of significant amounts of data from various sources,
which may be restricted by consumer choice, restrictions imposed by retailers, publishers and browsers or other
software developers, changes in technology, and new developments in laws, regulations and industry standards.

Our ability to deliver our Promotions, Media, Audience and Analytics Cloud platforms and solutions depends on our
ability to successfully leverage data, including data that we collect from consumers, data we receive from retail
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partners and third parties, and data from our own operating history.  Using cookies, loyalty card numbers both on-line
and in-store, device identifiers, and other tracking technologies, we collect information about the interactions of
consumers with our retail partners’ digital properties and in-store, our own and operated properties, and certain other
publisher sites. Our ability to successfully leverage such data depends on our continued ability to access and use such
data, which can be restricted by a number of factors, including consumer choice, the success of our retail partners in
obtaining consumer consent, restrictions imposed by our retail partners, publishers and web browser developers or
other software developers, changes in technology, including changes in web browser technology, and new
developments in, or new interpretations of laws, regulations and industry standards.
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Consumer resistance to the collection and sharing of the data used to deliver targeted advertising, increased visibility
of consent or “do not track” mechanism as a result of industry regulatory and/or legal developments, the adoption by
consumers of browsers settings or “ad-blocking” software and the development and deployment of new technologies
could materially impact our ability to collect data or reduce our ability to deliver relevant promotions or media, which
could materially impair the results of our operations. See the risk factor below titled “Our business is subject to
complex and evolving laws, regulations and industry standards, and unfavorable interpretations of, or changes in, or
failure by us to comply with these laws, regulations and industry standards could substantially harm our business and
results of operations.” for additional information.

We expect a number of factors to cause our operating results to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis, which may
make it difficult to predict our future performance.

Historically, our revenue growth has varied from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year, and we expect that variability to
continue. In addition, our operating costs and expenses have fluctuated in the past, and we anticipate that our costs and
expenses will increase over time as we continue to invest in growing our business. Our operating results could vary
significantly from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year as a result of these and other factors, many of which are outside
of our control, and as a result we have a limited ability to forecast the amount of future revenues and expenses, which
may adversely affect our ability to predict financial results accurately, and we expect our operating results to vary
from quarter-to-quarter, which may cause results to fall below our estimates or the expectations of public market
analysts and investors. Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results may lead analysts to change their long-term
models for valuing our common stock, cause us to face short-term liquidity issues, impact our ability to retain or
attract key personnel or cause other unanticipated issues, all of which could cause our stock price and the trading price
of the convertible senior notes to decline. As a result of the potential variations in our quarterly revenues and
operating results, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our revenues and operating results may not be
meaningful and the results of any one quarter or historical patterns should not be considered indicative of our future
sales activity, expenditure levels or performance.

In addition to other factors discussed in this section, factors that may contribute to the variability of our quarterly and
annual results include:

•our ability to grow our revenues by increasing our share of CPG spending and the number of brands using our
platform, including Retailer iQ, increasing media spending on our platform, further integrating with our retailers,
adding new CPGs and retailers to our network and growing our current consumer base and expanding into new
industry segments such as convenience, specialty/franchise retail, restaurants and entertainment;
•our ability to grow our revenues will depend on CPGs’ annual marketing budget which are affected by economic
headwinds facing the CPG industry;
•our ability to successfully respond to changes in the digital promotions and media market and continue to grow the
market and demand for our platform;
•our ability to grow consumer selection and use of our digital promotion offerings and attract new consumers to our
platform;
•the amount and timing of digital promotions and marketing campaigns by CPGs, which are affected by budget
cycles, economic conditions, seasonality and other factors;
•the impact of global business or macroeconomic conditions, including the resulting effects on the level of coupon and
trade promotion spending by CPGs and spending by consumers;
•the impact of competitors or competitive products and services, and our ability to compete in the digital promotions
market;
•our ability to obtain and increase the number of high quality coupons;
•our ability to grow and maintain our relationships with retailers, including our ability to negotiate favorable data
rights agreements with retailers;
•changes in consumer behavior with respect to digital promotions and how consumers access digital coupons and our
ability to develop applications that are widely accepted and generate revenues for CPGs, retailers and us;
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•the costs of investing, maintaining and enhancing our technology infrastructure;
•the costs of developing new products, solutions and enhancements to our platform;
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•our ability to manage our growth, including scaling Retailer iQ, developing and growing our Media, Audience and
Analytics Cloud platforms;
•the success of our sales and marketing efforts;
•the costs of acquiring new companies which we anticipate will help us grow our business;
•the costs of successfully integrating acquired companies and employees into our operations, including costs related to
the integration of Ahalogy, Elevaate and SavingStar;
•changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including with respect to privacy and data protection, or
enforcement by government regulators, including fines, orders, or consent decrees;
•our ability to deal effectively with fraudulent transactions or customer disputes;
•the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel, which can be affected by changes in U.S.
immigration policies;
•the effectiveness of our internal controls;
•increased legal, accounting and compliance costs associated with complying with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act (“SOX”); and
•changes in accounting rules, tax laws or interpretations thereof.

The effects of these factors individually or in combination could cause our quarterly and annual operating results to
fluctuate, and affect our ability to forecast those results and our ability to achieve those forecasts. As a result,
comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely on our past
results as an indication of our future performance. This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing
to meet or exceeding the expectations of our investors or financial analysts for any period. In addition, we may release
guidance in our quarterly earnings conference calls, quarterly earnings releases, or otherwise, based on predictions of
our management, which are necessarily uncertain in nature. The guidance provided depends on our prediction of CPG
marketing budgets which can fluctuate greatly and are beyond our control.  Our guidance may vary materially from
actual results. If our revenue or operating results, or the rate of growth of our revenue or operating results, fall below
or above the expectations of our investors or financial analysts, or below or above any forecasts or guidance we may
provide to the market, or if the forecasts we provide to the market are below or above the expectations of analysts or
investors, the price of our common stock could decline or increase substantially. Such a stock price decline or increase
could occur even when we have met our own or other publicly stated revenue or earnings forecasts. Our failure to
meet our own or other publicly stated revenue or earnings forecasts, or even when we meet our own forecasts but fall
short of analyst or investor expectations, could cause our stock price to decline and expose us to costly lawsuits,
including securities class action suits. Such litigation against us could impose substantial costs and divert our
management’s attention and resources. If we exceed our own or other publicly stated revenue or earnings forecasts, or
even when we meet our own forecasts but exceed analyst or investor expectations, our stock price could increase.

If the distribution fees that we pay as a percentage of our revenues increase, our gross profit and business will be
harmed.

When we deliver promotions or media on a retailer’s receipt, website or mobile app or through its loyalty program, or
the website or mobile app of a publisher, or through our Retailer iQ platform, and the consumer takes certain actions,
we pay a distribution fee to the retailer or other publisher, which, in some cases may be prepaid or guaranteed prior to
being incurred. Such fees have increased as a percentage of our revenues in recent periods. If such fees as a percentage
of our revenues continue to increase, our cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues could increase and our
operating results would be adversely affected. Additionally, if the adoption and usage of Retailer iQ does not meet
projections, certain prepaid or guaranteed distribution fees with some of the retailers will not be recoverable and the
distribution fee will increase as a percentage of revenue. During the third quarter of 2016, we recorded a one-time
charge associated with certain distribution fees under an arrangement with a retail partner that were deemed
unrecoverable. We considered various factors in our assessment including our historical experience with the
transaction volumes through the retailer and comparative retailers, ongoing communications with the retailer to
increase its marketing efforts to promote the digital platform, as well as the projected revenues, and associated
revenue share payments. Accordingly, during the third quarter of 2016, we recognized a loss of $7.4 million related to
such distribution fee arrangement. At December 31, 2018, we had no prepaid non-refundable payments with our
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Retailer iQ partners.
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Our gross margins are dependent on many factors, some of which are not directly controlled by us.

The factors potentially affecting our gross margins include:

•our product mix since we have significant variations in our gross margin among products. Any substantial change in
product mix could change our gross margin,
•evolving fee arrangements with CPGs, because as we continue to scale customers on Retailer iQ we will continue to
experiment with various fee arrangements which might have an impact on our gross margins;
•evolving fee arrangements with retailers, because as we expand our product offerings we have also expanded
distribution fee arrangements with retailers which might have an impact on our gross margins;
•success of our pricing strategies, including our ROI-based pricing strategy and service package pricing strategy;
•growth and expansion of our lower-margin media products, including programmatic ads delivered through
third-party ad-tech partners and publishers; and
•pricing and acceptance of higher-margin new products.

For instance, during the past 12 months we have seen pressure on our gross margin which we principally attribute to
the factors described above and we expect this pressure to continue as our growth strategy evolve and our product mix
continues to change.

If we fail to maintain and expand the use by consumers of digital coupons on our platforms, our revenues and business
will be harmed.

We must continue to maintain and expand the use by consumers of digital coupons in order to increase the
attractiveness of our platforms to CPGs and retailers and to increase revenues and achieve profitability. If consumers
do not perceive that we offer a broad selection of relevant and high quality digital coupons, or that the usage of digital
coupons is easy and convenient through our platforms, we may not be able to attract or retain consumers on our
platforms. If we are unable to maintain and expand the use by consumers of digital coupons on our platforms,
including through our software-free print solution, our retail partners properties, our white label customer relationship
management solutions, and Coupons.com and Shopmium mobile application, or if we do not do so to a greater extent
than our competitors, CPGs may find that offering digital promotions on our platforms do not reach consumers with
the scale and effectiveness that is compelling to them. Likewise, if retailers find that using our platforms, including
Retailer iQ, does not increase sales of the promoted products and consumer loyalty to the retailer to the extent they
expect, then the revenues we generate may not increase to the extent we expect or may decrease. Any of these could
adversely affect our operating results.

If we are not successful in responding to changes in consumer behavior and do not develop products and solutions that
are widely accepted and generate revenues, our results of operations and business could be adversely affected.

The methods by which consumers access digital coupons are varied and evolving. Our platform has been designed to
engage consumers at the critical moments when they are choosing the products they will buy and where they will
shop. Consumers can select our digital coupons both online through web and mobile and in-store. In order for us to
maintain and increase our revenues, we must be a leading provider of digital coupons in each of the forms by which
consumers access them. As consumer behavior in accessing digital coupons changes and new distribution channels
emerge, if we do not successfully respond and do not develop products or solutions that are widely accepted and
generate revenues we may be unable to retain consumers or attract new consumers and as a result, CPGs and retailers,
and our business may suffer. As another example, we are seeing a transition from digital print coupons to digital
paperless coupons. If we do not manage this transition and digital print transactions decline faster than digital
paperless transactions increase, our revenues may be harmed.

Consumers are increasingly using mobile devices to access our content, and if we are unsuccessful in expanding the
capabilities of our digital coupon solutions for our mobile platforms to allow us to generate net revenues as effectively
as our website platforms, our net revenues could decline.
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Web usage and the consumption of digital content are increasingly shifting from desktop to mobile platforms such as
smartphones. The growth of our business depends in part on our ability to drive engagement, activation and shopping
behavior for our retailers and CPGs through these mobile channels. Our success on mobile platforms will be
dependent on our interoperability with popular mobile operating systems that we do not control, such as Android and
iOS, and any
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changes in such systems that degrade our functionality, ease of convenience or that give preferential treatment to
competitive services could adversely affect usage of our services through mobile devices.

Further, to deliver high quality mobile offerings, it is important that our platform integrates with a range of other
mobile technologies, systems, networks and standards that we do not control. We may not be successful in developing
relationships with key participants in the mobile industry or in developing products that operate effectively with these
technologies, systems, networks or standards. If we fail to achieve success with our mobile applications and mobile
website, or if we otherwise fail to deliver effective solutions to CPGs and retailers for mobile platforms and other
emerging platforms, our ability to monetize these growth opportunities will be constrained, and our business, financial
condition and operating results would be adversely affected.

Our success on mobile platforms will also be dependent on our ability to develop features or products that will make
our mobile platform attractive to, and drive engagement by, consumers.  If we fail to develop such features or
products after investing in their development, our ability to monetize these growth opportunities will be constrained,
and our business, financial condition and operating results may be adversely affected.

We depend in part on third-party advertising agencies as intermediaries, and if we fail to develop and maintain these
relationships, our business may be harmed.

A growing portion of our business is conducted indirectly with third-party advertising agencies acting on behalf of
CPGs and retailers. Third-party advertising agencies are instrumental in assisting CPGs and retailers to plan and
purchase media and promotions, and each third-party advertising agency generally allocates media and promotion
spend from CPGs and retailers across numerous channels. We are still developing relationships with, and do not have
exclusive relationships with, third-party advertising agencies and we depend in part on third-party agencies to work
with us as they embark on marketing campaigns for CPGs and retailers. While in most cases we have developed
relationships directly with CPGs and retailers, we nevertheless depend in part on third-party advertising agencies to
present to their CPG and retailer clients the merits of our platform. Inaccurate descriptions of our platform by
third-party advertising agencies, over whom we have no control, negative recommendations regarding use of our
service offerings or failure to mention our platform at all could hurt our business. In addition, if a third-party
advertising agency is disappointed with our platform on a particular campaign or generally, we risk losing the
business of the CPG or retailer for whom the campaign was run, and of other CPGs and retailers represented by that
agency. Since many third-party advertising agencies are affiliated with other third-party agencies in a larger corporate
structure, if we fail to develop and maintain good relations with one third-party advertising agency in such an
organization, we may lose business from the affiliated third-party advertising agencies as well.

Our sales could be adversely impacted by industry changes relating to the use of third-party advertising agencies. For
example, if CPGs or retailers seek to bring their campaigns in-house rather than using an agency, we would need to
develop direct relationships with the CPGs or retailers, which we might not be able to do and which could increase our
sales and marketing expenses. Moreover, to the extent that we do not have a direct relationship with CPGs or retailers,
the value we provide to CPGs and retailers may be attributed to the third-party advertising agency rather than to us,
further limiting our ability to develop long-term relationships directly with CPG and retailers. CPGs and retailers may
move from one third-party advertising agency to another, and we may lose the underlying business. The presence of
third-party advertising agencies as intermediaries between us and the CPGs and retailers thus creates a challenge to
building our own brand awareness and affinity with the CPGs and retailers that are the ultimate source of our
revenues. In addition, third-party advertising agencies conducting business with us may offer their own digital
promotion solutions. As such, these third-party advertising agencies are, or may become, our competitors. If they
further develop their own capabilities they may be more likely to offer their own solutions to advertisers, and our
ability to compete effectively could be significantly compromised and our business, financial condition and operating
results could be adversely affected.
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Competition presents an ongoing threat to the success of our business.

We expect competition in digital promotions and media to continue to increase. The market for digital promotions and
media is competitive, fragmented and rapidly changing. We compete against a variety of companies with respect to
different aspects of our business, including:

•offline coupon and discount services, as well as newspapers, magazines and other traditional media companies that
provide coupon promotions and discounts on products and services in free standing inserts or other forms, including
Valassis Communications, Inc., News America Marketing Interactive, Inc. and Catalina Marketing Corporation;
•providers of digital coupons such as Valassis’ Redplum.com, Catalina Marketing Corporation’s Cellfire, News
traditional America Marketing’s SmartSource., Inmar, You Technology, and companies that offer coupon codes such
as RetailMeNot, Inc., Groupon, Inc., Exponential Interactive, Inc.’s TechBargains.com, Savings.com, Inc., Honey
Science Corporation and Ebates Performance Marketing, Inc., companies that offer cash back solutions such as
iBotta, Inc., and News America Marketing’s Checkout 51, and companies providing other e-commerce based services
that allow consumers to obtain direct or indirect discounts on purchases;
•Internet sites and blogs that are focused on specific communities or interests that offer coupons or discount
arrangements related to such communities or interests;  
•companies offering online and marketing services to retailers and CPGs, such as MyWebGrocer, Inc. and Flipp
Corp.; and
•companies offering CPG and retail digital media services, such as Triad Media Inc. and Criteo.

We believe the principal factors that generally determine a company’s competitive advantage in our market include the
following:

•scale and effectiveness of reach in connecting CPGs and retailers to consumers in a digital manner, through web,
mobile and other online properties;
•ability to attract consumers to use digital coupons delivered by it;
•platform security, scalability, reliability and availability;
•integration with retailer applications, point of sales systems, and consumer channels;
•access to retailer data;
•measurement that demonstrates the effectiveness of campaigns;
•quality of tools, reporting and analytics for planning, development and optimization of promotions;
•number of channels by which a company engages with consumers;
•integration of products and solutions;
•rapid deployment of products and services for customers;
•breadth, quality and relevance of the Company’s digital promotions including coupons;
•ability to deliver high quality and increasing number of digital coupons that are widely available and easy to use in
consumers’ preferred form;
•brand recognition and reputation;
•breadth and expertise of the Company’s sales organization; and
•skill and expertise of the Company’s operations organization.

We are subject to competition from large, well-established companies which have significantly greater financial,
marketing and other resources than we do and have offerings that compete with our platform or may choose to offer
digital promotions as an add-on to their core business on their own or in partnership with one of our competitors that
would directly compete with ours. Many of our larger actual and potential competitors have the resources to
significantly change the nature of the digital promotions industry to their advantage, which could materially
disadvantage us. For example, Google and Facebook and online retailers such as Amazon have highly trafficked
industry platforms which they have leveraged, or could leverage, to distribute digital coupons or other digital
promotions and media that could negatively affect our business. In addition, these potential competitors may have
greater access to first-party data, be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and
changes in consumer habits. These competitors may engage in more extensive research and development efforts,
undertake more far-reaching marketing campaigns and adopt more aggressive pricing policies, which may allow them

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

39



to attract more consumers and, as a result, more CPGs and retailers, or generate revenues more effectively than we do.
Our competitors may offer digital coupons or targeted media campaigns that are similar to the digital coupons and
targeted media campaigns we offer or that achieve greater
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market acceptance than those we offer. We are also subject to competition from smaller companies that launch similar
or new products and services that we do not offer and that could gain market acceptance.

Our success depends on the effectiveness of our platform in connecting CPGs and retailers with consumers and with
attracting consumer use of the digital coupons delivered through our platform. To the extent we fail to provide digital
coupons for high quality, relevant products, or otherwise fail to successfully reach consumers on their mobile device
or elsewhere, consumers may become dissatisfied with our platform and decide not to use our digital coupons and
elect to use the digital coupons distributed by one of our competitors. As a result of these factors, our CPGs and
retailers may not receive the benefits they expect, and CPGs may use the offerings of one of our competitors, and
retailers may elect to handle coupons themselves or exclude us from integrating with their in-store and point of sale
systems or consumer channels, and our operating results would be adversely affected. Similarly, if retailers elect to
use a competitive distribution network or platform, and we do not have, or fail to maintain, an agreement to distribute
content through that network or platform, CPGs may elect to provide digital coupons directly to that network or
platform, instead of through our platform. If retailers and CPGs require our platform to integrate with competitive
offerings instead of using our products, we could lose some of our competitive advantage and our business could be
harmed.

We also face significant competition for trade promotion and marketing spending. We compete against online and
mobile businesses, including those referenced above, and traditional advertising outlets, such as television, radio and
print, for trade promotion and marketing spending. In order to grow our revenues and improve our operating results,
we must increase our share of CPG spending on digital coupons and media relative to traditional sources and relative
to our competitors, many of whom are larger companies that offer more traditional and widely accepted media
products.

We also directly and indirectly compete with retailers for consumer traffic. Many retailers market and offer their own
digital coupons directly to consumers using their own websites, email newsletters and alerts, mobile applications and
social media channels. Additionally, some retailers also market and offer their own digital coupons directly to
consumers using our platform for which we earn no revenue.  Our retailers could be more successful than we are at
marketing their own digital coupons and could decide to terminate their relationship with us.

We may face competition from companies we do not yet know about. If existing or new companies develop, market or
offer competitive digital coupon solutions, acquire one of our existing competitors or form a strategic alliance with
one of our competitors, our ability to compete effectively could be significantly compromised and our operating
results could be harmed. On December 18, 2018, Inmar announced that it would acquire Kroger’s subsidiary You
Technology and enter into a long-term strategic relationship with Kroger. Should the Inmar transaction close, it could
adversely affect our current distribution of digital promotions through You Technology to Kroger shoppers and the
Company could be harmed.

The success and scale of Retailer iQ depends, in part, on the level of commitment and support by retailers.  

If retailers do not commit sufficient time, resources and funds towards the marketing of digital promotions and
programs on Retailer iQ, the growth and scale of Retailer iQ and its penetration into the consumer market will be
adversely affected. The success of Retailer iQ requires integration with a retailer’s point of sales system, loyalty
programs and consumer channels. This integration requires time and effort from both the retailer and ourselves, which
also involves our working with third-party systems and solutions, some of whom may be our competitors. In addition,
the success of Retailer iQ requires increased consumer adoption which requires significant support from retailers, this
support includes marketing of Retailer iQ to consumers, providing technical support to consumers, and retailers
satisfaction of increased and complex data privacy regulations to obtain consumer consent.  

Acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic investments could result in operating difficulties, dilution and other harmful
consequences.
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We expect to evaluate and consider a wide array of potential strategic transactions, including acquisitions and
dispositions of businesses, joint ventures, technologies, services, products and other assets and strategic investments.
At any given time, we may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to one or more of these types of
transactions. Any of these transactions could be material to our financial condition and results of operations. The
process of integrating any acquired business may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures and is itself
risky. The areas where we may face difficulties include:

•expected and unexpected costs incurred in identifying and pursuing strategic transactions and performing due
diligence regarding potential strategic transactions that may or may not be successful;
•failure of an acquired company to achieve anticipated revenue, earnings, cash flows or other desired technological
and business goals;
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•effectiveness of our due diligence review and our ability to evaluate the results of such due diligence, which are
dependent upon the accuracy and completeness of statements and disclosures made by the acquired company;
•diversion of management time, as well as a shift of focus from operating the businesses to issues related to
integration and administration;
•the need to integrate the acquired company’s accounting, management, information, human resource and other
administrative systems to permit effective management, and the lack of control if such integration is delayed or not
implemented;
•retention of key employees from the acquired company and cultural challenges associated with integrating employees
from the acquired company into our organization;
•the need to implement or improve controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a public company at companies
that prior to acquisition had lacked such controls, procedures and policies;
•in some cases, the need to transition operations and customers onto our existing platforms;
•in certain instances, the ability to exert control of acquired businesses that include earnout provisions in the
agreements relating to such acquisitions or the potential obligation to fund an earnout for, or other obligations related
to, a product that has not met expectations;
•the need to integrate operations across different geographies, cultures and languages and to address the particular
economic, currency, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries;
•liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including violations of laws, rules and
regulations, commercial disputes, tax liabilities and other known and unknown liabilities;
•write-offs or charges related to acquired assets or goodwill; and
•litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees,
users, former stockholders or other third parties and intellectual property infringement claims.

For example, we have acquired businesses whose technologies are new to us and with which we did not have
significant experience. We have made and are making investments of resources to support such acquisitions, which
will result in ongoing operating expenses and may divert resources and management attention from other areas of our
business. We cannot assure you that these investments and the integration of these acquisitions will be successful. If
we fail to successfully integrate the companies we acquire, we may not realize the benefits expected from the
transaction and our business may be harmed.

Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions and
investments could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of any or all of our acquisitions or joint ventures,
or we may not realize them in the time frame expected or cause us to incur unanticipated liabilities, and harm our
business. Future acquisitions or joint ventures may require us to issue dilutive additional equity securities, spend a
substantial portion of our available cash, incur debt or contingent liabilities, amortize expenses related to intangible
assets or incur incremental operating expenses or write-offs of goodwill or impaired acquired intangible assets, which
could adversely affect our results of operations and harm our business.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business and financial performance may suffer.

We have significantly expanded our operations and anticipate expanding further to pursue our growth strategy.
Through acquisitions we have added four additional offices within the last two years.  Such expansion increases the
complexity of our business and places significant demands on our management, operations, technical performance,
financial resources and internal control over financial reporting functions. Continued growth could strain our ability to
deliver digital promotions and media on our platform, develop and improve our operational, financial, legal and
management controls, and enhance our reporting systems and procedures. Failure to manage our expansion may limit
our growth, damage our reputation and negatively affect our financial performance and harm our business.

To effectively manage this growth, we will need to continue to improve our operational, financial and management
controls, and our reporting systems and procedures. If we do not effectively manage the growth of our business and
operations the scalability of our business and our operating results could suffer.
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Our current and planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to support and effectively
manage our future operations. We may not be able to hire, train, retain, motivate and manage required personnel. As
we continue to grow, we must effectively integrate, develop and motivate a large number of new employees. We
intend to continue to expand our research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative
organizations, and over time, expand our international operations. To attract top talent, we have had to offer, and
believe we will need to continue to offer, highly competitive compensation packages before we can validate the
productivity of those employees. If we fail to effectively manage our hiring needs and successfully integrate our new
hires, our efficiency
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and ability to meet our forecasts and our employee morale, productivity and retention could suffer, and our business
and operating results could be adversely affected.

Providing our products and services to our CPGs, retailers and consumers is costly and we expect our expenses to
continue to increase in the future as we grow our business with existing and new CPGs and retailers and develop new
products and services that require enhancements to our technology infrastructure. In addition, our operating expenses,
such as our sales, marketing and engineering expenses are expected to continue to grow to support our anticipated
future growth. As a result of the requirements of being a public company we incur significant legal, accounting and
other expenses. Our expenses may grow faster than our revenues, and our expenses may be greater than we anticipate.
Managing our growth will require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable management resources. If we
fail to achieve the necessary level of efficiency in our organization as it grows, our business, operating results and
financial condition would be harmed.

If we do not effectively grow and train our sales and operations teams, we may be unable to grow our business with
CPGs and retailers and our business will be adversely affected.

We continue to be dependent on our sales team to obtain new CPGs and retailers and to drive sales from our existing
CPGs and retailers. We also continue to be dependent on our operations team to execute and provide support to our
new and existing CPGs and retailers. We believe that there is significant competition for sales and operations
personnel with the skills and technical knowledge that we require. Our ability to achieve significant revenue growth
will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training, integrating and retaining sufficient numbers of sales
and operations personnel to support our growth. New hires require significant training and it may take time before
they achieve full productivity. Our recent hires and planned hires may not become productive as quickly as we expect,
and we may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the markets where we do
business or plan to do business. In addition, if we continue to grow rapidly, a large percentage of our sales and
operations teams will be new to the Company and our solution. If (i) we are unable to hire and train sufficient
numbers of effective sales and operations personnel, (ii) the sales personnel are not successful in obtaining new CPGs
and retailers or increasing sales to our existing CPGs and retailers or (iii) the operations personnel are not successful
in executing and supporting our new and existing CPGs and retailers, our business will be adversely affected.

Our sales cycle with CPGs and retailers is long and unpredictable and may require us to incur expenses before
executing or renewing a customer agreement, which makes it difficult to project when, if at all, we will obtain new
CPGs and retailers, or renew customer agreements with existing CPG customers and retail partners, and when we will
generate additional revenues.

We market our services and products directly to CPGs and retailers. New CPG and retailer relationships typically take
time to obtain and finalize. Existing CPG and retailer relationships may change and take time to re-establish due to
market consolidation and personnel changes. A significant time period may pass between selection of our services and
products by key decision-makers and the signing of a contract. The length of time between the initial sales call and the
realization of a final contract is difficult to predict. As a result, it is difficult to predict when we will obtain new CPGs
and retailers and when performance and delivery of services will be initiated with these potential CPGs and retailers.
In addition, our customers typically have no obligation to renew their agreements with us after their initial term, and in
order for us to maintain or improve our results of operations, it is important that our customers renew their agreements
with us when the initial term expires. As part of our sales and renewal cycle, we may incur significant expenses before
executing or renewing a definitive agreement with a prospective or existing CPG or retailer and before we are able to
generate any revenues from such agreement or renewal. If conditions in the marketplace generally or with a specific
prospective CPG or retailer change negatively, it is possible that no definitive agreement will be executed or renewed,
and we will be unable to recover any expenses incurred before a definitive agreement is executed or renewed, which
would in turn have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our business depends on our ability to maintain and scale the network infrastructure necessary to operate our
platforms, including our websites, mobile applications and Retailer iQ platform, and any significant disruption in
service could result in a loss of CPGs, retailers and consumers.

We deliver digital coupons via our platforms, including over our websites and mobile applications, as well as through
those of our CPGs and retailers and our publishers and other third parties. Our reputation and ability to acquire, retain
and serve CPGs and retailers, as well as consumers who use digital coupons or view media on our platforms are
dependent upon the reliable performance of our platforms. As the number of our CPG customers, retailers and
consumers and the number of digital promotions and information shared through our platforms continue to grow, we
will need an increasing amount of network capacity and computing power. Our technology infrastructure is hosted
across two data centers in co-location facilities in California and Nevada. In addition, we use two other co-location
facilities in California and Virginia to
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host our Retailer iQ platform. We have spent and expect to continue to spend substantial amounts in our data centers
and equipment and related network infrastructure to handle the traffic on our platform. The operation of these systems
is expensive and complex and could result in operational failures. In the event that the number of transactions or the
amount of traffic on our platforms grows more quickly than anticipated, we may be required to incur significant
additional costs. Interruptions in these systems or service disruptions, whether due to system failures, computer
viruses, malware, ransomware, denial of service attacks, attempts to degrade or disrupt services, or physical or
electronic break-ins, could affect the security or availability of our websites and platform, and prevent CPGs, retailers
or consumers from accessing our platform. A substantial portion of our network infrastructure is hosted by third-party
providers. Any disruption in these services or any failure of these providers to handle existing or increased traffic
could significantly harm our business. Any financial or other difficulties these providers face may adversely affect our
business, and we exercise little control over these providers, which increases our vulnerability to problems with the
services they provide. If we do not maintain or expand our network infrastructure successfully or if we experience
operational failures, we could lose current and potential CPGs, retailers and consumers, which could harm our
operating results and financial condition.

If our websites or those of our publishers fail to rank prominently in unpaid search results from search engines like
Google, Yahoo! and Bing, traffic to our websites could decline and our business would be adversely affected.

Our success depends in part on our ability to attract consumers through unpaid Internet search results on search
engines like Google, Yahoo! and Bing. The number of consumers we attract to our websites from search engines is
due in large part to how and where our websites rank in unpaid search results. These rankings can be affected by a
number of factors, many of which are not in our direct control, and they may change frequently. For example, major
search engines frequently modify their ranking algorithms, methodologies or design layouts. As a result, links to our
websites may not be prominent enough to drive traffic to our websites or we may receive less favorable placement
which could reduce traffic to our website, and we may not know how or otherwise be in a position to influence the
results. In some instances, search engine companies may change these rankings in order to promote their own
competing products or services or the products or services of one or more of our competitors. Our websites have
experienced fluctuations in search result rankings in the past, and we anticipate fluctuations in the future. For
example, the search result rankings of our websites have fallen relative to the same time last year. In addition,
websites must comply with search engine guidelines and policies. These guidelines and policies are complex and may
change at any time. If we fail to follow such guidelines and policies properly, search engines may rank our content
lower in search results or could remove our content altogether from their index. Moreover, the use of voice
recognition technology, such as Alexa, Google Assistant or Siri, may drive traffic away from search engines, which
could reduce traffic to our website. Any reduction in the number of consumers directed to our websites could reduce
the effectiveness of our coupon codes for specialty retailers and digital promotions for CPGs and retailers and could
adversely impact our business and results of operations. It could also reduce our ability to sell media advertising on
our sites, which would negatively impact revenues and harm our business.

If we fail to continue to obtain and increase the number of high quality coupons through our platform, our revenue
growth or our revenues may be harmed.

We generally generate revenues as consumers select, or activate, a digital coupon through our platform. Our business
model depends upon the availability of high quality and increasing number of digital coupons. CPGs and retailers
have a variety of channels through which to promote their products and services. If CPGs and retailers elect to
distribute their digital coupons through other channels or not to promote digital coupons at all, or if our competitors
are willing to accept lower prices than we are, our ability to obtain high quality digital coupons available on our
platform may be impeded and our business, financial condition and operating results will be adversely affected. If we
cannot maintain sufficient digital coupons inventory to offer through our platform, consumers may perceive our
service as less relevant, consumer traffic to our websites and those of our publishers will decline and, as a result,
CPGs and retailers may decrease their use of our platform to deliver digital coupons and our revenue growth or
revenues may be harmed.
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Our business relies in part on electronic messaging, including emails and SMS text messages, and any technical, legal
or other restrictions on the sending of electronic messages or an inability to timely deliver such communications could
harm our business.

Our business is in part dependent upon electronic messaging. We provide emails, mobile alerts and other messages to
consumers informing them of the digital coupons on our websites, and we believe these communications help generate
a significant portion of our revenues. We also use electronic messaging, in part, as part of the consumer sign-up and
verification process. Because electronic messaging services are important to our business, if we are unable to
successfully deliver electronic messages to consumers, if there are legal restrictions on delivering these messages to
consumers, or if consumers do not or cannot open our messages, our revenues and profitability could be adversely
affected. Changes in how webmail applications or other email management tools organize and prioritize email may
result in our emails being delivered or routed to a less prominent location in a consumer’s inbox or viewed as “spam” by
consumers and may reduce the likelihood of that consumer opening our emails. Actions taken by third parties that
block, impose restrictions on or charge for the delivery of electronic messages could also harm our business. From
time to time,
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Internet service providers or other third parties may block bulk email transmissions or otherwise experience technical
difficulties that result in our inability to successfully deliver emails or other messages to consumers.

Changes in laws or regulations, or changes in interpretations of existing laws or regulations, including the Telephone
Consumer Protection Act, or the TCPA in the United States and laws regarding commercial electronic messaging in
other jurisdictions, that would limit our ability to send such communications or impose additional requirements upon
us in connection with sending such communications could also adversely impact our business. For example, the
Federal Communications Commission amended certain of its regulations under the TCPA in recent years in a manner
that could increase our exposure to liability for certain types of telephonic communication with customers, including
but not limited to text messages to mobile phones. Under the TCPA, plaintiffs may seek actual monetary loss or
statutory damages of $500 per violation, whichever is greater, and courts may treble the damage award for willful or
knowing violations. Given the enormous number of communications we send to consumers, a determination that there
have been violations of the TCPA or other communications-based statutes could expose us to significant damage
awards that could, individually or in the aggregate, materially harm our business. Moreover, even if we prevail, such
litigation against us could impose substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources.

We also rely on social networking messaging services to send communications. Changes to these social networking
services’ terms of use or terms of service that limit promotional communications, restrictions that would limit our
ability or our customers’ ability to send communications through their services, disruptions or downtime experienced
by these social networking services or reductions in the use of or engagement with social networking services by
customers and potential customers could also harm our business.

We rely on a third-party service for the delivery of daily emails and other forms of electronic communication, and
delay or errors in the delivery of such emails or other messaging we send may occur and be beyond our control, which
could damage our reputation or harm our business, financial condition and operating results. If we were unable to use
our current electronic messaging services, alternate services are available; however, we believe our sales could be
impacted for some period as we transition to a new provider, and the new provider may be unable to provide
equivalent or satisfactory electronic messaging service. Any disruption or restriction on the distribution of our
electronic messages, termination or disruption of our relationship with our messaging service providers, including our
third-party service that delivers our daily emails, or any increase in our costs associated with our email and other
messaging activities could harm our business.

We are dependent on technology systems and electronic communications networks that are supplied and managed by
third parties, which could result in our inability to prevent or respond to disruptions in our services.

Our ability to provide services to consumers depends on our ability to communicate with CPGs, retailers and
customers through the public Internet and electronic networks that are owned and operated by third parties. Our
products and services also depend on the ability of our users to access the public Internet. In addition, in order to
provide services promptly, our computer equipment and network servers must be functional 24 hours per day, which
requires access to telecommunications facilities managed by third parties and the availability of electricity, which we
do not control. A severe disruption of one or more of these networks, including as a result of utility or third-party
system interruptions, could impair our ability to process information, which could impede our ability to provide digital
promotions and media to consumers, harm our reputation, result in a loss of customers or CPGs and retailers and
adversely affect our business and operating results.

If our security measures or information we collect and maintain are compromised or publicly exposed, CPGs, retailers
and consumers may curtail or stop using our platforms.

We collect and maintain data about consumers, including personally identifiable information, as well as other
confidential or proprietary information. Like all businesses that use computer systems and the Internet, our security
measures, and those of our third-party service providers, may not detect or prevent all attempts to gain access to our
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systems, denial-of-service attacks, viruses, malicious software including malware and ransomware, break-ins,
phishing attacks, social engineering, human error, security breaches or other attacks and similar disruptions that may
jeopardize the security of information stored in or transmitted by our systems or solutions or that we or our third-party
service providers otherwise maintain, including payment systems, any of which could lead to interruptions, delays, or
website shutdowns, causing loss of critical data or the unauthorized disclosure or use of personally identifiable or
other confidential information, or subject us to fines or higher transaction fees or limit or result in the termination of
our access to certain payment methods. If we experience compromises to our security that result in performance or
availability problems, the complete shutdown of one or more of our websites and mobile applications or the loss or
unauthorized access to or disclosure of confidential information, personally identifiable information, or other personal
data, CPGs, retailers, and
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consumers may lose trust and confidence in us and decrease their use of our platform or stop using our platform
entirely. Further, such compromises to personal or sensitive information could lead to litigation or other adversarial
actions by business partners or consumers.

Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access are often sophisticated and change frequently, neither we
nor third-party service providers can guarantee that our systems will not be breached. In addition, consumer
information including email addresses, phone numbers and data on consumer usage of our websites and mobile
applications could be hacked, hijacked, altered or otherwise claimed or controlled by unauthorized persons. Security
breaches can also occur as a result of nontechnical issues, including intentional or inadvertent actions by our
employees or by persons with whom we have commercial relationships that lead to exposure of any types of sensitive
information. Any or all of these issues, or the perception that any of them has occurred, even if inaccurate, could
negatively impact our reputation and our ability to attract and retain CPGs and retailers as well as consumers or could
reduce the frequency with which our platform is used, cause existing or potential CPG or retailer customers to cancel
their contracts or subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory fines or other action or liability, and harm our business
and results of operations.

Remediation of any potential cyber security breach may involve significant time, resources, and expenses, which may
result in potential regulatory inquiries, litigation or other investigations, and can affect our financial and operational
condition.  

Failure to deal effectively with fraudulent or other improper transactions could harm our business.

Digital coupons are issued in the form of redeemable coupons, coupon codes with unique identifiers or cash-back
rebates. It is possible that third parties may create counterfeit digital coupons or coupon codes or exceed print or use
limits in order to fraudulently or improperly claim discounts or credits for redemption. It is also possible that third
parties may fraudulently or improperly claim cash-back rebates causing us to pay out cash that we are not able to get
reimbursement from our customers. It is possible that individuals will circumvent our anti-fraud systems using
increasingly sophisticated methods or methods that our anti-fraud systems are not able to counteract. Further, we may
not detect any of these unauthorized activities in a timely manner. Third parties who succeed in circumventing our
anti-fraud systems may sell the fraudulent or fraudulently obtained digital coupons on social networks, which would
damage our brand and relationships with CPGs and harm our business. Legal measures we take or attempt to take
against these third parties may be costly and may not be ultimately successful. In addition, our service could be
subject to employee fraud or other internal security breaches, and we may be required to reimburse CPGs and retailers
for any funds stolen or revenues lost as a result of such breaches. Our CPGs and retailers could also request
reimbursement, or stop using digital coupons, if they are affected by buyer fraud or other types of fraud. We may
incur significant losses from fraud and counterfeit digital coupons. If our anti-fraud technical and legal measures do
not succeed, our business may suffer.

Factors adversely affecting performance marketing programs and our relationships with performance marketing
networks and brand partners, or the termination of these relationships, may adversely affect our ability to attract and
retain merchants and our coupon codes business.

A portion of our business is based upon consumers using coupon codes from specialty retailers in connection with the
purchase of goods or services. The commissions we earn for coupon codes accessed through our platform are tracked
by performance marketing networks. Third-party performance marketing networks provide publishers with affiliate
tracking links that allow for revenues to be attributed to publishers. When a consumer executes a purchase on a
publisher’s website as a result of a performance marketing program, most performance marketing conversion tracking
tools credit the most recent link or ad clicked by the consumer prior to that purchase. This practice is generally known
as “last-click attribution.” We generate revenues through transactions for which we receive last-click attribution. Risks
that may adversely affect our performance marketing programs and our relationships with performance marketing
networks include the following, some of which are outside our control:
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•we may not be able to adapt to changes in the way in which CPGs and merchants attribute credit to us in their
performance marketing programs, whether it be “first-click attribution” or “multichannel attribution,” which applies
weighted values to each of a retailer’s advertisements and tracks how each of those advertisements contributes to a
purchase, or otherwise;
•we may not receive revenue if consumers make purchases from their mobile devices as many retailers currently do
not recognize affiliate tracking links on their mobile-optimized websites or applications, and tracking mechanisms on
mobile websites or applications may not function to allow retailers to properly attribute sales to us;
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•we may not generate revenue if consumers use mobile devices for shopping research but make purchases using
coupon codes found on our sites in ways where we do not get credit;
•refund rates for products delivered on merchant sites may be greater than we estimate;
•performance marketing networks may not provide accurate and timely reporting on which we rely, we could fail to
properly recognize and report revenues and misstate financial reports, projections and budgets and misdirect our
advertising, marketing and other operating efforts for a portion of our business;
•we primarily rely on a small number of performance marketing networks in non-exclusive arrangements, the loss of
which could adversely affect our coupon codes business;
•we primarily rely, in connection with our search engine marketing business, on a small number of brand partners that
work with us in non-exclusive arrangements, the loss of which could adversely affect our coupon codes business;
•industry changes relating to the use of performance marketing networks could adversely impact our commission
revenues;
•to the extent performance marketing networks serve as intermediaries between us and merchants, it may create
challenges to building our own brand awareness and affinity with merchants, and the termination of our relationship
with the performance marketing networks would terminate our ability to receive payments from merchants we
service through that network; and
•performance marketing networks may compete with us.

While coupon codes from specialty retailers represent a declining portion of our business, any of these risks could
adversely affect our revenues in this area.

Our business is subject to complex and evolving laws, regulations and industry standards, and unfavorable
interpretations of, or changes in, or failure by us to comply with these laws, regulations and industry standards could
substantially harm our business and results of operations.

We are subject to a variety of international, federal, state, local and municipal laws, regulations and industry standards
that relate to privacy, electronic communications, data protection, intellectual property, e-commerce, competition,
price discrimination, consumer protection, taxation, and the use of promotions. Many of these laws, regulations, and
standards are still evolving and being tested in courts and industry standards are still developing. Our business,
including our ability to operate and expand, could be adversely affected if legislation, regulations or industry
standards are adopted, interpreted or implemented in a manner that is inconsistent with our current business practices
and that require changes to these practices or the design of our platform. Existing and future laws, regulations and
industry standards could restrict our operations, and our ability to retain or increase our CPGs and retailers and
consumers’ use of digital promotions delivered on our platform may be adversely affected and we may not be able to
maintain or grow our revenues as anticipated.

If the use of third-party cookies is rejected by Internet users, restricted by third parties outside of our control, or
otherwise subject to unfavorable regulation, our performance could decline and we could lose customers and revenue.

We use small text files (referred to as "cookies"), placed through an Internet browser on an Internet user's machine
which corresponds to a data set that we keep on our servers, to gather important data to help deliver our solution.
Certain of our cookies, including those that we predominantly use in delivering our solution, are known as
"third-party" cookies because they are delivered by third parties rather than by us. Our cookies collect anonymous
information, such as when an Internet user views an advertisement, clicks on an advertisement, or visits one of our
advertisers' websites. In some countries, including countries in the European Economic Area, this information may be
considered personal information under applicable data protection laws. On mobile devices, we may also obtain
location based information about the user's device through our cookies. We use these cookies to achieve our
customers' campaign goals, to ensure that the same Internet user does not unintentionally see the same media too
frequently, to report aggregate information to our customers regarding the performance of their digital promotions and
marketing campaigns, and to detect and prevent fraudulent activity throughout our network. We also use data from
cookies to help us decide whether and how much to bid on an opportunity to place an advertisement in a certain
Internet location and at a given time in front of a particular Internet user. A lack of data associated with or obtained
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from cookies may significantly detract from our ability to make decisions about which inventory to purchase for an
advertiser's campaign and may undermine the effectiveness of our solution and harm our business.
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Cookies may easily be deleted or blocked by Internet users. All of the most commonly used Internet browsers
(including Chrome, Firefox, Internet Explorer, and Safari) allow Internet users to prevent cookies from being accepted
by their browsers. Internet users can also delete cookies from their computers at any time. Some Internet users also
download "ad blocking" software that prevents cookies from being stored on a user's computer. If more Internet users
adopt these settings or delete their cookies more frequently than they currently do, our business could be harmed. In
addition, the Safari and Firefox browsers blocks third-party cookies by default, and other browsers may do so in the
future. Unless such default settings in browsers were altered by Internet users to permit the placement of third-party
cookies, we would be able to set fewer of our cookies in users’ browsers, which could adversely affect our business. In
addition, companies such as Google have publicly disclosed their intention to move away from cookies to another
form of persistent unique identifier, or ID, to identify individual Internet users or Internet-connected devices in the
bidding process on advertising exchanges. If companies do not use shared IDs across the entire ecosystem, this could
have a negative impact on our ability to find the same anonymous user across different web properties, and reduce the
effectiveness of our solution.

In addition, in the European Union, or EU, Directive 2009/136/EC, commonly referred to as the "Cookie Directive,"
directs EU member states to ensure that collecting information on an Internet user's computer, such as through a
cookie, is allowed only if the Internet user has appropriately given his or her prior freely given, specific, informed and
unambiguous consent. Similarly, this Directive which also contains specific rules for the sending of marketing
communications, limits the use of marketing texts messages and e-mails. Additionally, an e-Privacy Regulation,
which will replace the Cookie Directive with requirements that could be stricter in certain respects, apply directly to
activities within the EU without the need to be transposed in each Member State’s Law, and could impose stricter
requirements regarding the use of cookies and marketing e-mails and text messages and additional penalties for
noncompliance, has been proposed, although at this time it is unclear whether it will be approved as it is currently
drafted or when its requirements will be effective. We may experience challenges in obtaining appropriate consent to
our use of cookies from consumers or to send marketing communications to consumers within the EU, which may
affect our ability to run promotions and our operating results and business in European markets, and we may not be
able to develop or implement additional tools that compensate for the lack of data associated with cookies. Moreover,
even if we are able to do so, such additional tools may be subject to further regulation, time consuming to develop or
costly to obtain, and less effective than our current use of cookies.  

Failure to comply with federal, state and international privacy, data protection, marketing and consumer protection
laws, regulations and industry standards, or the expansion of current or the enactment or adoption of new privacy, data
protection, marketing and consumer protection laws, regulations or industry standards, could adversely affect our
business.

We and our service providers are subject to a variety of federal, state and international laws, regulations and industry
standards regarding privacy, data protection, data security, marketing and consumer protection, which address the
collection, storing, sharing, using, processing, disclosure and protection of data relating to individuals, as well as the
tracking of consumer behavior and other consumer data. We are also subject to laws, regulations and industry
standards relating to endorsements and influencer marketing. Many of these laws, regulations and industry standards
are changing and may be subject to differing interpretations, costly to comply with or inconsistent among
jurisdictions. For example, the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, expects companies like ours to comply with
guidelines issued under the Federal Trade Commission Act that govern the collection, use, disclosure, and storage of
consumer information, and establish principles relating to notice, consent, access and data integrity and security. The
laws and regulations in many foreign countries relating to privacy, data protection, data security, marketing and
consumer protection often are more restrictive than in the United States, and may in some cases be interpreted to have
a greater scope. Additionally, the laws, regulations and industry standards, both foreign and domestic, relating to
privacy, data protection, data security, marketing and consumer protection are dynamic and may be expanded or
replaced by new laws, regulations or industry standards. For example, on June 28, 2018 California enacted the
California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”), the directives of which will become operative on January 1,
2020; the CCPA has already been amended once and grants consumers new rights with respect to their personal
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information. We believe our policies and practices comply in material respects with applicable privacy, data
protection, data security, marketing and consumer protection guidelines, laws and regulations. However, if our belief
is incorrect, or if these guidelines, laws or regulations or their interpretation change or new legislation or regulations
are enacted, we may be compelled to provide additional disclosures to our consumers, obtain additional consents from
our consumers before collecting, using, or disclosing their information or implement new safeguards to help our
consumers manage our use of their information, among other changes.

Various industry standards on privacy and data security have been developed and are expected to continue to develop,
which may be adopted by industry participants at any time. We are subject to the terms of our privacy policies and
obligations to third parties relating to privacy, data protection and data security, including contractual obligations
relating to privacy rights, data protection, data use and data security measures. We are also required, under certain
regulatory regimes and industry standards, to contractually require our service providers to meet certain privacy and
security requirements. Certain of our solutions, including Quotient Promotions, Media, Audience and Analytics Cloud
platforms and solutions depend in part on our ability to use data that we obtain in connection with our offerings, and
our ability to use this data may be subject to restrictions in our commercial agreements and subject to the privacy
policies of the entities that provide us with this data. Our failure to adhere to these third-party restrictions on data use
may result in claims, proceedings or actions against us by our business counterparties or other parties, or other
liabilities, including loss of business, reputational damage, and remediation costs, which could adversely affect our
business.
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We strive to comply with applicable laws, policies, contractual and other legal obligations and certain applicable
industry standards of conduct relating to privacy, data security, data protection, marketing and consumer protection.
However, these obligations and standards of conduct often are complex, vague, and difficult to comply with fully, and
it is possible that these obligations and standards of conduct may be interpreted and applied in new ways and/or in a
manner that is inconsistent with each other or that new laws, regulations or other obligations may be enacted. It is
possible that our practices may be argued or held to conflict with applicable laws, policies, contractual or other legal
obligations, or applicable industry standards of conduct relating to privacy, data security, data protection, marketing or
consumer protection. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with our posted privacy policies or with any
data-related consent orders, FTC, other regulatory requirements or orders or other federal, state or, as we continue to
expand internationally, international privacy, data security, data protection, marketing or consumer protection-related
laws, regulations, contractual obligations or self-regulatory principles or other industry standards could result in
claims, proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others or other liabilities or could result in a loss
of consumers using our digital coupons or loss of CPGs and retailers. Any of these circumstances could adversely
affect our business. Further, if third parties we work with violate applicable laws, our policies or other privacy-related
obligations, such violations may also put our consumers’ information at risk and could in turn have an adverse effect
on our business.

With respect to personal data transfers from the European Economic Area, or EEA, we have previously relied on
compliance with the U.S.-EU and U.S.-Swiss Safe Harbor Frameworks as agreed to and set forth by the U.S.
Department of Commerce, and the EU and Switzerland, which legitimized the transfer of personally identifiable
information by U.S. companies doing business in Europe from the EEA and Switzerland to the U.S. In October 2015,
a decision of the Court of Justice of the European Union, or CECJ, deemed the U.S.-EU Safe Harbor Framework an
invalid method of compliance with restrictions set forth in the Data Protection Directive (and member states’
implementations thereof) regarding the transfer of data outside of the EEA. U.S. and EU authorities reached a political
agreement in February 2016 regarding a new means for legitimizing personal data transfers from the EEA to the U.S.,
the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield. However, this framework is subject to an annual review that could result in changes to its
framework and is being  challenged by national regulators and private parties. We have engaged in certain actions in
an effort to legitimize our transfers of personal data from Europe to the U.S., and we anticipate engaging in additional
activities in an effort to do so going forward. However, some of the transfer mechanisms on which we are relaying to
legitimate the transfer of data outside of the EEA, such as standard Model Contractual Clauses (MCCs), have been
subjected to regulatory and judicial scrutiny. Thus, while we have engaged in significant efforts to implement and
maintain appropriate mechanisms to transfer data outside the EEA, if one or more of these mechanism is invalidated,
we may become unsuccessful in establishing legitimate means of transferring all personal data from Europe to the
U.S., we may experience reluctance or refusal by European consumers, retailers or CPGs to continue to use our
solutions due to the potential risk exposure to such individuals and organizations  and we and our CPG and retail
partners may be at risk of enforcement actions taken by an European data protection authority until we ensure that all
applicable data transfers to us from the EEA and Switzerland are legitimized. In addition, the EU General Data
Protection Regulation, or GDPR became effective in May 2018 and supersedes the 1995 EU Data Protection
Directive, and includes more stringent operational requirements for processors and controllers of personal data,
including payment card information, create additional rights for data subjects and impose significant penalties for
non-compliance of up to the greater of €20 million or 4% of global annual revenues. Additionally, in June 2016, United
Kingdom voters approved an exit from the EU, commonly referred to as “Brexit,” which could also lead to further
legislative and regulatory changes. In March 2017, the United Kingdom began the process to leave the EU by April
2019.  While the Data Protection Act of 2018, that “implements” and complements the GDPR has achieved Royal
Assent on May 23, 2018 and is now effective in the United Kingdom, it is still unclear whether transfer of data from
the EEA to the United Kingdom will remain lawful under GDPR. We may incur liabilities, expenses, costs, and other
operational losses under GDPR and applicable EU Member States and the United Kingdom privacy laws in
connection with any measures we take to comply with them.

Additionally, California recently enacted legislation that has been dubbed the first “GDPR-like” law in the United
States.  Known as the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, it creates new individual privacy rights for
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consumers (as that word is broadly defined in the law) and places increased privacy and security obligations on
entities handling personal data of consumers or households.  When it goes into effect on January 1, 2020, the CCPA
will require covered companies to provide new disclosures to California consumers, provide such consumers new
ways to opt-out of certain sales of personal information, and allow for a new cause of action for data breaches.
Legislators have stated that amendments will be proposed to the CCPA before it goes into effect, but it remains
unclear what, if any, modifications will be made to this legislation or how it will be interpreted. As currently written,
the CCPA will likely impact (possibly significantly) our US operations and exemplifies the vulnerability of our
business to not only cyber threats but also the evolving regulatory environment related to personal data.
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We expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards concerning privacy,
data protection and information security in the United States and other jurisdictions, and we cannot yet determine the
impact such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our business. For instance, with the increased focus
on the use of data for advertising, the anticipation and expectation of future laws, regulations, standards and other
obligations could impact us and our existing and potential business partners and delay certain business partnerships or
deals until there is greater certainty. In addition, as we expand our data analytics and other data related product
offerings there may be increased scrutiny on our use of data and we may be subject to new and unexpected
regulations. Future laws, regulations, standards and other obligations could, for example, impair our ability to collect
or use information that we utilize to provide targeted digital promotions and media to consumers, CPGs and retailers,
thereby impairing our ability to maintain and grow our total customers and increase revenues. Future restrictions on
the collection, use, sharing or disclosure of our users’ data or additional requirements for express or implied consent of
users for the use and disclosure of such information could require us to modify our solutions, possibly in a material
manner, and could limit our ability to develop or outright prohibit new solutions and features. Any such new laws,
regulations, other legal obligations or industry standards, or any changed interpretation of existing laws, regulations or
other standards may require us to incur additional costs and restrict our business operations.  If our measures fail to
comply with current or future laws, regulations, policies, legal obligations or industry standards relating to privacy,
data protection, data security, marketing or consumer protection, we may be subject to litigation, regulatory
investigations, fines or other liabilities, as well as negative publicity and a potential loss of business. Moreover, if
future laws, regulations, other legal obligations or industry standards, or any changed interpretations of the foregoing
limit our users’, CPGs’ or retailers’ ability to use and share personally identifiable information or our ability to store,
process and share personally identifiable information or other data, demand for our solutions could decrease, our costs
could increase, our revenue growth could slow, and our business, financial condition and operating results could be
harmed.

Indemnity provisions in various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property
infringement and other losses.

Our agreements with CPGs, retailers and other third parties may include indemnification provisions under which we
agree to indemnify them for losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual property infringement or
other liabilities relating to or arising from our products, services or other contractual obligations. The term of these
indemnity provisions generally survives termination or expiration of the applicable agreement. Large indemnity
payments could harm our business.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property rights.

We regard our trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade dress, trade secrets, proprietary technology, and
similar intellectual property as critical to our success.

We strive to protect our intellectual property rights in a number of jurisdictions, a process that is expensive and may
not be successful or which we may not pursue in every location. We strive to protect our intellectual property rights by
relying on federal, state and common law rights, contractual restrictions as well as rights provided under foreign laws.
These laws are subject to change at any time and could further restrict our ability to protect our intellectual property
rights.

We also may not be able to acquire or maintain appropriate domain names in all countries in which we do business.
Furthermore, regulations governing domain names may not protect our trademarks and similar proprietary rights. We
may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names that are similar to, infringe upon, or diminish the
value of our trademarks and other proprietary rights.

We typically enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and
confidentiality agreements with parties with whom we conduct business in order to limit access to, and disclosure and
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use of, our proprietary information. Also, from time to time, we make our intellectual property rights available to
others under license agreements. However, these contractual arrangements and the other steps we have taken to
protect our intellectual property may not prevent the misappropriation or disclosure of our proprietary information,
infringement of our intellectual property rights or deter independent development of similar technologies by others
and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of such misappropriation or infringement. Third parties that
license our proprietary rights also may take actions that diminish the value of our proprietary rights or reputation.
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Obtaining and maintaining effective intellectual property rights is expensive, including the costs of defending our
rights. Even where we have such rights, they may be later found to be unenforceable or have a limited scope of
enforceability. We may not be able to discover or determine the extent of any unauthorized use of our proprietary
rights. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, protect our respective trade secrets or
determine the validity and scope of proprietary rights claimed by others. Any litigation of this nature, regardless of
outcome or merit, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management and technical resources, any of which
could adversely affect our business and operating results. If we fail to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual
property rights, our business and operating results may be harmed.

We may be accused of infringing intellectual property rights of third parties.

Other parties may claim that we infringe their proprietary rights. We are, have been subject to, and expect to continue
to be subject to, claims and legal proceedings regarding alleged infringement by us of the intellectual property rights
of third parties. Such claims, whether or not meritorious, may result in the expenditure of significant financial and
managerial resources, injunctions against us, or the payment of damages, including to satisfy indemnification
obligations. We may need to obtain licenses from third parties who allege that we have infringed their rights, but such
licenses may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all. In addition, we may not be able to obtain or utilize on
terms that are favorable to us, or at all, licenses or other rights with respect to intellectual property we do not own.
These risks have been amplified by the increase in third parties whose sole or primary business is to assert such
claims.

We may be unable to continue to use the domain names that we use in our business, or prevent third parties from
acquiring and using domain names that infringe on, are similar to, or otherwise decrease the value of our brand or our
trademarks or service marks.

We may lose significant brand equity in our “Coupons.com” domain name, our “Quotient.com” domain name, and other
valuable domain names. If we lose the ability to use a domain name, whether due to trademark claims, failure to
renew an applicable registration, or any other cause, we may be forced to market our products under new domain
names, which could cause us substantial harm, or to incur significant expense in order to purchase rights to the domain
names in question. In addition, our competitors and others could attempt to capitalize on our brand recognition by
using domain names similar to ours. We also may not be able to acquire or maintain appropriate domain names or
trademarks in all countries in which we do business.  Domain names similar to ours have been registered in the United
States and elsewhere. We may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring and using domain names that infringe
on, are similar to, or otherwise decrease the value of our brand or our trademarks or service marks. Protecting and
enforcing our rights in our domain names may require litigation, which could result in substantial costs and diversion
of management’s attention and harm our business.

Our business depends on strong brands, and if we are not able to maintain and enhance our brands, or if we receive
unfavorable media coverage, our ability to retain and expand our number of CPGs, retailers and consumers will be
impaired and our business and operating results will be harmed.

We believe that the brand identity that we have developed has significantly contributed to the success of our business.
We also believe that maintaining and enhancing our brands are critical to expanding our base of CPGs, retailers and
consumers. Maintaining and enhancing our brands may require us to make substantial investments and these
investments may not be successful. If we fail to promote and maintain our brands, or if we incur excessive expenses in
this effort, our business would be harmed. We anticipate that, as our market becomes increasingly competitive,
maintaining and enhancing our brands may become increasingly difficult and expensive. Maintaining and enhancing
our brands will depend on our ability to continue to provide sufficient quantities of reliable, trustworthy and high
quality digital coupons, which we may not do successfully.
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Unfavorable publicity or consumer perception of our websites, platforms, practices or service offerings, or the
offerings of our CPGs and retailers, could adversely affect our reputation, resulting in difficulties in recruiting,
decreased revenues and a negative impact on the number of CPGs and retailers we feature and our user base, the
loyalty of our consumers and the number and variety of digital coupons we offer. As a result, our business could be
harmed.  
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Some of our solutions contain open source software, which may pose particular risks to our proprietary software and
solutions.

We use open source software in our solutions and will use open source software in the future. From time to time, we
may face claims from third parties claiming ownership of, or demanding release of, the open source software and/or
derivative works that we developed using such software (which could include our proprietary source code), or
otherwise seeking to enforce the terms of the applicable open source license. These claims could result in litigation
and could require us to purchase a costly license or cease offering the implicated solutions unless and until we can
re-engineer them to avoid infringement. This re-engineering process could require significant additional research and
development resources. In addition to risks related to license requirements, use of certain open source software can
lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide
warranties or controls on the origin of software. Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or manage, and, if
not addressed, could have a negative effect on our business and operating results.

We may be required to record a significant charge to earnings if our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets become
impaired.

We are required under GAAP to review our amortizable intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment at
least annually. Conditions that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant decline in the
observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or any
other significant adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets may not be
recoverable. The events and circumstances we consider include the business climate, legal factors, operating
performance indicators and competition. In the future we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings in
our condensed consolidated financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or
amortizable intangible assets is determined. This could adversely impact our results of operations and harm our
business.

If we fail to expand effectively in international markets, our revenues and our business may be harmed.

We currently generate almost all of our revenues from the United States. We also operate to a limited extent in the
United Kingdom, France and other countries in Europe. Many CPGs and retailers on our platforms have global
operations and we plan to grow our operations and offerings through expansion in existing international markets and
by partnering with our CPGs and retailers to enter new geographies that are important to them. Further expansion into
international markets will require management attention and resources and we have limited experience entering new
geographic markets. Entering new foreign markets will require us to localize our services to conform to a wide variety
of local cultures, business practices, laws and policies. The different commercial and Internet infrastructure in other
countries may make it more difficult for us to replicate our business model. In some countries, we will compete with
local companies that understand the local market better than we do, and we may not benefit from first-to-market
advantages. We may not be successful in expanding into particular international markets or in generating revenues
from foreign operations. As we expand internationally, we will be subject to risks of doing business internationally,
including the following:

•competition with strong local competitors and preference for local providers, or foreign companies entering the same
markets;
•the cost and resources required to localize our platforms;
•burdens of complying with a wide variety of different laws and regulations, including intellectual property laws and
regulation of digital coupons and media, Internet services, privacy and data protection, marketing and consumer
protection laws, anti-competition regulations and different liability standards, which may limit or prevent us from
offering of our solutions in some jurisdictions or limit our ability to enforce contractual obligations;
•differences in how trade promotion spending is allocated;
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•differences in the way digital coupons and advertising are delivered and how consumers access and use digital
coupons;
•technology compatibility;
•difficulties in recruiting and retaining qualified employees and managing foreign operations;
•different employee/employer relationships and the existence of workers’ councils and labor unions;
•shorter payment cycles, different accounting practices and greater problems in collecting accounts receivable;
•higher product return rates;
•seasonal reductions in business activity;
•adverse tax effects and foreign exchange controls making it difficult to repatriate earnings and cash; and
•political and economic instability.
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Changes in the U.S. taxation of international activities may increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our
financial condition and results of operations. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we plan to operate
may challenge our methodologies for valuing developed technology or intercompany arrangements, including our
transfer pricing, or determine that the manner in which we operate our business does not achieve the intended tax
consequences, which could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our financial position and results of
operations. Significant judgment will be required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for
income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there will be many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. As we expand our business to operate in numerous taxing jurisdictions, the
application of tax laws may be subject to diverging and sometimes conflicting interpretations by tax authorities of
these jurisdictions. It is not uncommon for taxing authorities in different countries to have conflicting views. In
addition, tax laws are dynamic and subject to change as new laws are passed and new interpretations of the law are
issued or applied. In the United States, legislation commonly known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (referred to herein
as the “Tax Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017, which included a number of changes, such as a reduction in the
corporate tax rate, a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings as of
December 31, 2017 and provided for the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a
territorial system. These changes, or future changes in tax laws applicable to us, could materially increase our future
income tax expense.

Our planned corporate structure and intercompany arrangements will be implemented in a manner we believe is in
compliance with current prevailing tax laws. However, the tax benefits which we intend to eventually derive could be
undermined if we are unable to adapt the manner in which we operate our business and due to changing tax laws.

Our failure to manage these risks and challenges successfully could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The loss of one or more key members of our management team, or our failure to attract, integrate and retain other
highly qualified personnel in the future, could harm our business.

We currently depend on the continued services and performance of the key members of our management team,
including Steven R. Boal, our Executive Chairman, and Mir Aamir, our President and Chief Executive Officer.
Mr. Boal is one of our founders and his leadership has played an integral role in our growth. Mr. Aamir’s deep industry
experience and long-standing relationships with both CPGs and retailers are key to our growth and developing our
business strategy. Key institutional knowledge remains with a small group of long-term employees and directors
whom we may not be able to retain. The loss of key personnel, including key members of management as well as our
marketing, sales, product development and technology personnel, could disrupt our operations and have an adverse
effect on our ability to grow our business.

As we become a more mature company, we may find our recruiting and retention efforts more challenging. We are
seeking to continue to hire a significant number of personnel, including certain key management personnel. We may
be limited in our ability to recruit global talent by U.S. immigration laws, including those related to H1-B visas. The
demand for H1-B visas to fill highly-skilled IT and computer science jobs is greater than the number of H-1B visas
available each year; for the U.S. government’s 2018 fiscal year, the U.S. issued 85,000 H-1B visas out of 199,000
requests.  In addition, the regulatory environment related to immigration under the current presidential administration
may increase the likelihood that immigration laws may be modified to further limit the availability of H1-B visas. If a
new or revised visa program is implemented, it may impact our ability to recruit, hire and retain qualified skilled
personnel, which could adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition. If we do not succeed
in attracting, hiring and integrating qualified personnel, or retaining and motivating existing personnel, we may be
unable to grow effectively.

Changes to financial accounting standards or the SEC’s rules and regulations may affect our results of operations and
cause us to change our business practices.
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We prepare our financial statements to conform to U.S. GAAP. These accounting principles are subject to
interpretation by the FASB, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”), the SEC and various bodies
formed to interpret and create appropriate accounting policies. A change in those policies can have a significant effect
on our reported results and may affect our reporting of transactions completed before a change is announced. Changes
to those rules or the questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we
conduct our business. For example, in February 2016, the FASB issued a new standard, Topic 842, which will require
us to record most of our leases on our balance sheets beginning in our first quarter of fiscal year 2019.  
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We are currently or could be exposed in the future to fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates.

To date, we have generated almost all of our revenues from within the United States. As a result, we currently do not
have significant revenues or expenses in our international operations and we do not hedge our foreign currency
exchange risk. However, we plan to grow our operations and offerings through expansion in existing international
markets and by partnering with our existing CPGs and retailers to enter new geographies that are important to them.
For example, we opened a research and development facility in Bangalore, India and acquired Shopmium, which has
research and development operations in Paris, France. As we expand our business outside the United States we will
face exposure to adverse movements in currency exchange rates. We will be exposed to foreign exchange rate
fluctuations from the conversion of collections and expenses not denominated in U.S. dollars. If the U.S. dollar
weakens against foreign currencies, the conversion of these foreign currency denominated transactions will result in
increased revenues, operating expenses and net income. Similarly, if the U.S. dollar strengthens against foreign
currencies, the conversion of these foreign currency denominated transactions will result in decreased revenues,
operating expenses and net income. As exchange rates vary, sales and other operating results, when translated, may
differ materially from expectations. Our risks related to currency fluctuations will increase as our international
operations become an increasing portion of our business. In addition, we face exposure to fluctuations in interest rates
which may impact our investment income unfavorably.

Our use of and reliance on international research and development resources and operations may expose us to
unanticipated costs or events.

We have research and development centers in India and France.  We expect to increase our headcount, development,
and operations activity in India. There is no assurance that our reliance upon international research and development
resources and operations will enable us to achieve our research and development and operational goals or greater
resource efficiency. Further, our international research and development and operations efforts involve significant
risks, including:

•difficulty hiring and retaining appropriate personnel due to intense competition for such resources and resulting wage
inflation in the cities where our research and development activities and operations are located;
•different labor regulations, especially in the European Union, where labor laws are generally more advantageous to
employees as compared to United States, including deemed hourly wage and overtime regulations in these locations;
•exposure to liabilities under anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and similar applicable laws and regulations in other jurisdictions;
•delays and inefficiencies caused by geographical separation of our international research and development activities
and operations and other challenges inherent to efficiently managing an increased number of employees over large
geographic distances, including the need to implement appropriate systems, policies, benefits and compliance
programs;
•the knowledge transfer related to our technology and resulting exposure to misappropriation of intellectual property
or information that is proprietary to us, our customers and other third parties;
•heightened exposure to change in the economic, security and political conditions in the countries where our research
and development activities and operations are located;
•fluctuations in currency exchange rates and regulatory compliance in the countries where our research and
development activities and operations are located; and
•interruptions to our operations in the countries where our research and development activities and operations are
located as a result of floods and other natural catastrophic events as well as other events beyond our control such as
power disruptions or terrorism.

Difficulties resulting from the factors above could increase our research and development or operational expenses,
delay the introduction of new products, or impact our product quality, the occurrence of any of which could adversely
affect our business and operating results.
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Our business is subject to interruptions, delays or failures resulting from earthquakes, other natural catastrophic events
or terrorism.

Our headquarters is located in Mountain View, California. Our current technology infrastructure is hosted across two
data centers in co-location facilities in California and Nevada. In addition, we use two other co-location facilities in
California and Virginia to host our Retailer iQ platform. Our services, operations and the data centers from which we
provide our services are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, fires, floods, power losses,
telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks, acts of war, human errors, break-ins and similar events. A significant
natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire or flood, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations and our insurance coverage may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that
may occur. Acts of terrorism could cause disruptions to the Internet, our business or the economy as a whole. We may
not have sufficient protection or recovery plans in certain circumstances, such as natural disasters affecting areas
where data centers upon which we rely are located, and our business interruption insurance may be insufficient to
compensate us for losses that may occur. Such disruptions could negatively impact our ability to run our websites,
which could harm our business.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited, and our failure to raise capital when needed could prevent us
from growing.

We may in the future be required to raise additional capital through public or private financing or other arrangements.
Such financing may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all, and our failure to raise capital when needed could
harm our business. Additional equity or equity-linked financing, such as our convertible senior notes, may dilute the
interests of our stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants and could reduce our
profitability. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, we may not be able to grow our business or respond to
competitive pressures.

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

In general, under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, and similar state
law provisions, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its
pre-change net operating losses, or NOLs, to offset future taxable income. If our existing NOLs are subject to
limitations arising from ownership changes, our ability to utilize NOLs could be limited by Section 382 of the Code.
Future changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, also could result in an ownership
change under Section 382 of the Code. Additionally, our NOLs arising in tax years beginning prior to January 1, 2018
are subject to expiration and may expire prior to being utilized. Under the Tax Act any NOLs arising in tax years
beginning after December 31, 2017 are not subject to expiration and may be carried forward indefinitely, but in any
given year such NOLs may only be used to offset a maximum of 80% of taxable income for the year, determined
without regard to the application of such NOLs. There is also a risk that our NOLs could otherwise be unavailable to
offset future income tax liabilities due to changes in the law, including regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the
use of NOLs or other unforeseen reasons. In addition, the Tax Act includes changes to the U.S. federal corporate
income tax rate, and our net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets will be revalued at the newly
enacted rate. We do not expect this to have a material impact on our financials because we currently maintain a full
valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets. For these reasons, we may not be able to utilize all of our NOLs,
even if we attain profitability.

State and foreign laws regulating money transmission could impact our cash-back applications.

Many states and certain foreign jurisdictions impose license and registration obligations on those companies engaged
in the business of money transmission, with varying definitions of what constitutes money transmission. If our
cash-back applications were to subject us to any applicable state or foreign laws, it could subject us to increased
compliance costs and delay our ability to offer this product in certain jurisdictions pending receipt of any necessary
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licenses or registrations. If we need to make product and operational changes in light of these laws, the growth and
adoption of these products may be adversely impacted, and our revenues may be harmed.
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Risks Related to Our Convertible Senior Notes

We are leveraged financially, which could adversely affect our ability to adjust our business to respond to competitive
pressures and to obtain sufficient funds to satisfy our future growth, business needs and development plans.

In November 2017, we issued $200 million aggregate principal amount of convertible senior notes (the “notes”).  Our
leveraged capital structure could have negative consequences, including, but not limited to, the following:

•we may be more vulnerable to economic downturns, less able to withstand competitive pressures and less flexible in
responding to changing business and economic conditions;
•our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general
corporate or other purposes may be limited;
•a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations in the future may be required for the payment of the principal
amount of our existing indebtedness when it becomes due; and
•we may elect to make cash payments upon any conversion of the convertible notes, which would reduce our cash on
hand.

Our ability to meet our payment obligations under our notes depends on our ability to generate significant cash flow in
the future. This, to some extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, and regulatory
factors as well as other factors that are beyond our control. There can be no assurance that our business will generate
cash flow from operations, or that additional capital will be available to us, in an amount sufficient to enable us to
meet our debt payment obligations and to fund other liquidity needs. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow
to service our debt obligations, we may need to refinance or restructure our debt, sell assets, reduce or delay capital
investments, or seek to raise additional capital. If we were unable to implement one or more of these alternatives, we
may be unable to meet our debt payment obligations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, or financial condition.

The conditional conversion feature of the notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and
operating results.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the notes is triggered, holders of the notes will be entitled to convert
their notes at any time during specified periods at their option. Upon conversion, we will pay or deliver, as the case
may be, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election.
If one or more holders elect to convert their notes, (unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering
solely shares of our common stock (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share)), we intend to
settle a portion or all of our conversion obligation in cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, even
if holders of notes do not elect to convert their notes, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to
reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which
would result in a material reduction of our net working capital.

The accounting method for convertible debt securities that may be settled in cash, such as the notes, could have a
material effect on our reported financial results.

Under Accounting Standards Codification 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (“ASC 470-20”), an entity
must separately account for the liability and equity components of the convertible debt instruments (such as the notes)
that may be settled entirely or partially in cash upon conversion in a manner that reflects the issuer’s economic interest
cost. The effect of ASC 470-20 on the accounting for the notes is that the equity component is required to be included
in the additional paid-in capital section of stockholders’ equity on our consolidated balance sheet at the issuance date
and the value of the equity component would be treated as debt discount for purposes of accounting for the debt
component of the notes. As a result, we will be required to record a greater amount of non-cash interest expense as a
result of the amortization of the discounted carrying value of the notes to their face amount over the term of the notes.
We will report larger net losses (or lower net income) in our financial results because ASC 470-20 will require interest
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to include both the amortization of the debt discount and the instrument’s nonconvertible coupon interest rate, which
could adversely affect our reported or future financial results, the trading price of our common stock and the trading
price of the notes.
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The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the conversion spread on
diluted net income per share, if applicable. The effect of which is that the shares issuable upon conversion of such
notes are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share except to the extent that the conversion value of
such notes exceeds their principal amount. Under the treasury stock method, for diluted earnings per share purposes,
the transaction is accounted for as if the number of shares of common stock that would be necessary to settle such
excess, if we elected to settle such excess in shares, are issued. We cannot be sure that the accounting standards in the
future will continue to permit the use of the treasury stock method. If we are unable or otherwise elect not to use the
treasury stock method in accounting for the shares issuable upon conversion of the notes, then our diluted earnings per
share could be adversely affected.

Conversion of our notes will dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders and may depress the price of our
common stock.

The conversion of some or all of our notes, if such conversion occurs, will dilute the ownership interests of
then-existing stockholders to the extent we deliver shares upon conversion of any of the notes.  Any sales in the public
market of the common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our
common stock.  In addition, the existence of the notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the
conversion of the notes could be used to satisfy short positions, or anticipated conversion of the notes into shares of
our common stock could depress the price of our common stock.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock

The market price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, subject to wide fluctuations and could
subject us to litigation.

The price of our common stock may change in response to variations in our operating results and also may change in
response to other factors, including factors specific to technology companies, many of which are beyond our control.
As a result, our stock price may experience significant volatility. Among other factors that could affect our stock price
are:

•the financial projections that we or analysts may choose to provide to the public, any changes in these projections or
our failure for any reason to meet these projections;
•actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations;
•whether our results of operations meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors;
•addition or loss of significant customers or commercial business partners;
•price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
•fluctuations in the trading volume of our shares or the size of our public float;
•success of competitive products or services;
•the public’s response to press releases or other public announcements by us or others, including our filings with the
SEC;
•disputes or other developments related to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters or our ability to
obtain intellectual property protection for our technologies;
•announcements relating to litigation;
•speculation about our business in the press or the investment community;
•reports, guidance and ratings issued by securities or industry analysts;
•future sales of our common stock by our significant stockholders, officers and directors;
•changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of debt or equity securities;
•our entry into new markets;
•regulatory developments in the United States or foreign countries;
•strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings; and
•changes in accounting principles.
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If any of the foregoing occurs, it could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. In addition, the stock
market in general has experienced substantial price and volume volatility that is often seemingly unrelated to the
operating results of any particular companies. Moreover, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in
general experiences uneven investor confidence, the market price of our common stock could decline for reasons
unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. The market price for our stock might also decline in
reaction to events that affect other companies within, or outside, our industry, even if these events do not directly
affect us. Some companies that have experienced volatility in the trading price of their stock have been subject of
securities litigation. If we are the subject of such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of
management’s attention and resources.

Substantial future sales of shares by our stockholders could negatively affect our stock price.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could depress the market price of
our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We
have approximately 94,995,211 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2018, assuming no exercise
of our outstanding options or vesting of our outstanding RSUs.

Our equity incentive plans allow us to issue, among other things, stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock
units and we have filed a registration statement under the Securities Act to cover the issuance of shares upon the
exercise or vesting of awards granted under those plans.

The concentration of our common stock ownership with our executive officers, directors and owners of 5% or more of
our outstanding common stock will limit your ability to influence corporate matters.

Our executive officers, directors and owners of 5% or more of our outstanding common stock together beneficially
own approximately 51% of our outstanding common stock, based on the number of shares outstanding as of
December 31, 2018. These stockholders therefore have significant influence over management and affairs and over all
matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such
as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets, for the foreseeable future. This concentrated control limits your
ability to influence corporate matters and, as a result, we may take actions that our stockholders do not view as
beneficial. This ownership could affect the value of your shares of common stock.

Our stock repurchase program could affect the price of our common stock and increase volatility and may be
suspended or terminated at any time, which may result in a decrease in the trading price of our common stock.

Our Board of Directors has approved share repurchase programs for us to repurchase shares of our stock. In April
2018, our Board of Directors authorized a one-year share repurchase program (“2018 Program”) for us to repurchase up
to $100.0 million of our common stock from May 2018 through May 2019. During May 2018, the active repurchase
program at that time expired. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we repurchased and retired 1,264,053 shares
of our common stock for an aggregate of $15.8 million. As of December 31, 2018, $84.2 million remained available
for repurchases under the 2018 Program. Stock repurchases may be made from time to time at prevailing market
prices, subject to certain restrictions on volume, pricing and timing. The repurchases may be made in the open market,
through negotiated transactions, including accelerated share repurchase agreements, and through plans designed to
comply with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Act.  The 2018 Program is discretionary, and we may suspend, modify
or terminate the 2018 Program at any time without prior notice. Repurchases pursuant to our stock repurchase
program could affect the price of our common stock and increase its volatility. The existence of our stock repurchase
program could also cause the price of our common stock to be higher than it would be in the absence of such a
program and could potentially reduce the market liquidity for our common stock. Additionally, repurchases under our
stock repurchase program will diminish our cash reserves, which could impact our ability to further develop our
technology, access and/or retrofit additional facilities and service our indebtedness. There can be no assurance that any
stock repurchases will enhance stockholder value because the market price of our common stock may decline below
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the levels at which we repurchased such shares. Any failure to repurchase shares after we have announced our
intention to do so may negatively impact our reputation and investor confidence in us and may negatively impact our
stock price. Although our stock repurchase program is intended to enhance long-term stockholder value, short-term
stock price fluctuations could reduce the program’s effectiveness.
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our
ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, SOX, and the rules and regulations of the New
York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to
increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time consuming
and costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems and resources.

SOX requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control
over financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the SEC is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that
information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
principal executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over financial
reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant
resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight. Any failure to implement and
maintain effective internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic
management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we will be required to include in our periodic reports
we will file with the SEC under Section 404 of SOX. In the event that we are not able to demonstrate compliance with
Section 404 of SOX, that our internal control over financial reporting is perceived as inadequate or that we are unable
to produce timely or accurate financial statements, investors may lose confidence in our operating results and our
stock price could decline.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions
in our business. Further, weaknesses in our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting may be
discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their
implementation or improvement, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations
and could result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of management evaluations
and independent registered public accounting firm audits of our internal control over financial reporting that we will
eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls
and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our
reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our
common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, our common stock may not be
able to remain listed on the NYSE.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is required to audit the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as we lost our status as an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, effective
December 31, 2018. We lost our status and are considered a large accelerated filer as the aggregate market value of
our common equity held by our non-affiliates exceeded the $700 million threshold when measured as of the last
business day of the end of our second quarter of 2018. If our independent registered public accounting firm concludes
that our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, it may issue an adverse report.

Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material
and adverse effect on our business and operating results, and cause a decline in the price of our common stock.

Effective December 31, 2018, we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” and the reduced disclosure
requirements applicable to “emerging growth companies” will no longer apply, which will increase our costs as a public
company and demands on management.
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Effective December 31, 2018 we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act.   As such,
we will incur significant additional expenses that we did not previously incur in complying with the SOX and rules
implemented by the SEC. The cost of compliance with Section 404 of SOX (“Section 404”) has required and will
continue to require us to incur substantial accounting expense and expend significant management time on
compliance-related issues as we implement additional corporate governance practices and comply with reporting
requirements.  Moreover, if we or our independent registered public accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our
internal control over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, the market price of our stock
could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which
would require additional financial and management resources.
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Furthermore, investor perceptions of our company may suffer if, in the future, material weaknesses are found, and this
could cause a decline in the market price of our stock. Irrespective of compliance with Section 404, any failure of our
internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our stated operating results and harm
our reputation. If we are unable to implement these changes effectively or efficiently, it could harm our operations,
financial reporting or financial results and could result in an adverse opinion on internal control from our independent
registered public accounting firm.

In addition, we have previously taken advantage of the JOBS Act reduced disclosure requirements applicable to
"emerging growth companies" regarding executive compensation and exemptions from the requirements of holding
advisory say-on-pay votes on executive compensation. We are no longer eligible for such reduced disclosure
requirements and exemptions and as such, we will be required to hold a say-on-pay vote and a say-on-frequency vote
at our 2019 annual meeting of stockholders. We expect that the increased disclosure requirements will require
additional attention from management and will result in increased costs to us, which could include higher legal fees,
accounting fees and fees associated with investor relations activities, among others.

If securities analysts do not publish research or if securities analysts or other third parties publish inaccurate or
unfavorable research about us, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that securities analysts and other
third parties choose to publish about us. We do not control these analysts or other third parties. The price of our
common stock could decline if one or more securities analysts downgrade our common stock or if one or more
securities analysts or other third parties publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us or cease publishing reports
about us.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We intend to retain all of our earnings for the foreseeable future to finance the operation and expansion of our
business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock. As a result, you can expect to receive a
return on your investment in our common stock only if the market price of the stock increases.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may
consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and by-laws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of
control or changes in our management. Amongst other things, these provisions:

•authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that could be issued by our Board of Directors to defend against
a takeover attempt;
•establish a classified Board of Directors, as a result of which the successors to the directors whose terms have expired
will be elected to serve from the time of election and qualification until the third annual meeting following their
election;
•require that directors only be removed from office for cause and only upon a majority stockholder vote;
•provide that vacancies on the Board of Directors, including newly created directorships, may be filled only by a
majority vote of directors then in office rather than by stockholders;
•prevent stockholders from calling special meetings; and
•prohibit stockholder action by written consent, requiring all actions to be taken at a meeting of the stockholders.

In addition, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which
generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in a broad range of business combinations with any
“interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder becomes an “interested”
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stockholder.
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Item 1B.Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.

Item 2.Properties.
Our principal executive office is located in Mountain View, California, totaling approximately 42,000 square feet
under lease expiring December 2020. We have additional principal office space in Cincinnati, Ohio that includes two
spaces totaling approximately 42,000 square feet under leases expiring from November 2023 to June 2024. We
maintain additional leased spaces in Marina Del Rey, California, Pleasanton, California, New York, New York,
Boston, Massachusetts, Bangalore, India, Paris, France, and London, United Kingdom. We believe our properties are
generally suitable to meet our needs for the foreseeable future. In addition, to the extent we require additional space in
the future, we believe that it would be readily available on commercially reasonable terms.

Item 3.Legal Proceedings.
We are a party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. Although the results of
litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we currently believe that the final outcome of these matters
will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Regardless of the
outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on our business because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of
management resources and other factors.

Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures.
None.
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PART II

Item 5.Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock, $0.00001 par value, began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “COUP” on
March 7, 2014, the date of our IPO. We changed our name to Quotient Technology Inc. on October 20, 2015.  Our
common stock began trading on the New York stock Exchange under the symbol “QUOT” on October 21, 2015.

Holders

As of February 25, 2019, there were 56 holders of record of our common stock. Because most of our shares of
common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total
number of beneficial stockholders represented by these record holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate that we will pay any
dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. Instead, we currently plan to retain any earnings
to finance the growth of our business. Any future determination relating to dividend policy will be made at the
discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations and capital
requirements as well as other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following is a summary of stock repurchases for each month during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2018.

Period

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased

Average
Price

Paid Per

Share

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased
Under

Publicly
Announced
Program (1)

Approximate
Dollar Value
of

Shares That
May Yet Be

Purchased
Under the

Program (1)
October 1
- 31, 2018 — $ — — $89,100,000
November
1 - 30,
2018 — — — 89,100,000
December
1 - 31,
2018 456,282 10.64 456,282 84,200,000

456,282 $ 10.64 456,282 $84,200,000
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(1)In April 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the 2018 Program to repurchase up to $100.0 million
of the Company’s common stock for a one-year duration from May 2018 through May 2019. During the fourth
quarter ended December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased and retired 456,282 shares of its common stock for
an aggregate of $4.9 million. As of December 31, 2018, $84.2 million remained available under the 2018 Program.
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Performance Graph

The following shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference
into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act, except to the extent we specifically
incorporate it by reference into such filing.

This chart compares the cumulative total return on our common stock with that of the Russell 3000 and the S&P
North American Technology Sector Index. The chart assumes $100 was invested at the close of market on March 7,
2014, in our common stock, the Russell 3000 and the S&P North American Technology Sector Index, and assumes
the reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of
future stock price performance.

Base INDEXED RETURNS
Period Quarter Ending

Company / Index 3/7/2014 Q1'14Q2'14 Q3'14 Q4'14 Q1'15 Q2'15 Q3'15 Q4'15
Quotient

   Technology Inc. $ 100 $82 $ 88 $ 40 $ 59 $ 39 $ 36 $ 30 $ 23
Russell 3000 Index $ 100 $99 $ 104 $ 103 $ 108 $ 110 $ 109 $ 101 $ 107
S&P North

   American

   Technology

   Sector Index $ 100 $98 $ 103 $ 106 $ 110 $ 111 $ 112 $ 108 $ 119

Company / Index Q1'16 Q2'16 Q3'16 Q4'16 Q1'17 Q2'17 Q3'17 Q4'17 Q1'18 Q2'18 Q3'18 Q4'18
Quotient

   Technology Inc. $ 35 $ 45 $ 44 $ 36 $ 32 $ 38 $ 52 $ 39 $ 44 $ 44 $ 52 $ 36
Russell 3000 Index $ 107 $ 109 $ 113 $ 118 $ 124 $ 127 $ 132 $ 140 $ 138 $ 143 $ 153 $ 130
S&P North

   American

   Technology

   Sector Index $ 120 $ 119 $ 134 $ 134 $ 150 $ 156 $ 168 $ 182 $ 194 $ 209 $ 227 $ 186

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

Not applicable.
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Item 6.Selected Financial Data

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues $386,958 $322,115 $275,190 $237,309 $221,761
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues (1) 206,230 140,752 114,870 92,203 86,186
Sales and marketing (1) 90,086 92,833 92,596 92,454 78,865
Research and development (1) 46,873 50,009 50,503 48,367 49,583
General and administrative (1) 49,805 48,124 43,404 34,833 33,392
Change in fair value of escrowed shares and

   contingent consideration, net 13,190 5,515 (6,450 ) 1,231 (5,741 )
Total costs and expenses 406,184 337,233 294,923 269,088 242,285
Loss from operations (19,226 ) (15,118 ) (19,733 ) (31,779 ) (20,524 )
Interest expense (13,411 ) (1,589 ) — (290 ) (922 )
Gain on sale of a right to use a web domain name — — — 4,800 —
Other income (expense), net 4,801 928 495 (22 ) (72 )
Loss before income taxes (27,836 ) (15,779 ) (19,238 ) (27,291 ) (21,518 )
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 482 (702 ) 241 (561 ) 1,926
Net loss $(28,318 ) $(15,077 ) $(19,479 ) $(26,730 ) $(23,444 )
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $(0.30 ) $(0.17 ) $(0.23 ) $(0.32 ) $(0.35 )
Weighted-average number of common shares used in

   computing net loss per share, basic and diluted 93,676 89,505 84,157 82,807 67,828

(1)    The stock-based compensation expense included above was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
(in thousands)

Cost of revenues $2,315 $2,000 $1,821 $1,728 $3,086
Sales and marketing 6,596 6,621 5,776 10,658 9,464
Research and development 6,137 7,949 7,286 9,680 11,536
General and administrative 16,338 15,682 13,403 10,280 11,424
Total stock-based compensation $31,386 $32,252 $28,286 $32,346 $35,510

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: (in thousands)
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $322,766 $394,537 $175,346 $159,947 $201,075
Working capital 352,810 404,145 207,694 177,547 204,837
Property and equipment, net 15,579 16,610 16,376 25,128 25,399
Total assets 662,353 629,075 362,756 321,071 331,807
Deferred revenues 8,686 6,276 6,856 7,342 6,219
Debt obligations — — — — 7,500
Convertible senior notes, net 155,719 145,821 — — —
Total liabilities 282,266 231,034 51,007 55,581 54,919
Total stockholder's equity $380,087 $398,041 $311,749 $265,490 $276,888

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

85



43

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

86



Item 7.Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes to consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical financial information, the following
discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations that involve
risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those discussed in
these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed
below and elsewhere in this prospectus, particularly in “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements.”

Overview

Quotient Technology Inc. is an industry leading digital marketing company, providing technology and services that
power integrated digital promotions and media programs for consumer packaged goods (“CPG”s) brands and retailers.
These programs are delivered across our network, including our flagship consumer brand Coupons.com and our retail
partners’ properties. This network provides Quotient with proprietary and licensed data, including online behavior,
purchase intent, and retailers’ in-store point-of-sale (“POS”) shopper data, to target shoppers with the most relevant
digital coupons and ads. Customers and partners use Quotient to influence shoppers via digital channels, integrate
marketing and merchandising programs, and leverage shopper data and insights to drive measurable sales results.

For our retail partners, we provide a digital platform, Retailer iQ, to directly engage with shoppers across their
websites, mobile, ecommerce, and social channels. This platform is generally co-branded or white-labeled through
retailers’ savings or loyalty programs and uses shopper data to deliver relevant digital promotions from brand
marketers and retailers to shoppers.

Our network is made up of three constituencies: over 2,000 brands from approximately 700 CPGs; retail partners
across multiple classes of trade such as grocery retailers, drug, dollar, club, and mass merchandise channels; and
consumers visiting our web, mobile properties, social channels, as well as those of our CPG and retailer partners.

We primarily generate revenue by providing digital coupons and media solutions to our customers and partners.

We generate revenue from promotions, in which CPGs pay us to deliver coupons to consumers through our network
of publishers and retail partners. Each time a coupon is activated through our platform or, in some cases, redeemed,
we are generally paid a fee. Activation of a digital coupon can include: saving it to a retailer loyalty account or
printing it for physical redemption at a retailer.

As our business evolves, we will continue to experiment with different pricing models and fee arrangements with
CPGs and retailers, which may impact how we monetize transactions. For example, we are continuing to experiment
with ROI-based pricing strategies and service packages, some of which require us to receive fees upon redemption of
digital coupons rather than activation, as further discussed below in “Risk Factors”.

Promotion revenues also include our Specialty Retail business, in which specialty stores including clothing,
electronics, home improvement and many others offer coupon codes that we distribute. Each time a consumer makes a
purchase using a coupon code, a transaction occurs and a distribution fee is generally paid to us.

We also generate revenues from digital media in which CPGs, retailers, and advertising agencies, use our platform to
deliver digital advertising. Using our proprietary data and shopper data from our retail partners, we target audiences
with digital ad campaigns. These ads are delivered to shoppers through our network, including our websites and
mobile apps, as well as those of our publishers, retailers and other third parties. Campaigns are measured based on
optimization and performance, attributing digital ad campaigns to in-store purchases in near real time. In 2018, we
acquired Ahalogy, an influencer marketing platform, and Elevaate, a sponsored search technology platform for our
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retail partners and CPG customers. Our media solutions, including the solutions we acquired from Ahalogy and
Elevaate, help serve our customers and partners’ needs as they shift more of their marketing dollars to digital.

We generally pay a distribution fee to retailers and publishers for activation or redemption of a digital promotion, for
media campaigns, and for use of data for targeting or measurement. We also pay a fee to third-party publishers for
traffic acquisition, which consists of delivering campaigns on certain networks or sites. These distribution and
third-party service fees are included in our cost of revenues. See Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations – “Non-GAAP Financial Measure and Key Operating Metrics” for more
information.
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Our operating expenses may increase in the future as we continue to (1) invest in (i) research and development to
enhance our platform and investments in newer product offerings; (ii) sales and marketing to acquire new CPG and
retailer customers and increase revenues from our existing customers; and; (iii) corporate infrastructure; (2) amortize
expenses related to intangibles assets associated with acquisitions and other strategic acquisitions and partnerships;
and (3) remeasure contingent consideration related to acquisitions.

For 2018, 2017 and 2016, our revenues were $387.0 million, $322.1 million, and $275.2 million, respectively. Our net
loss for 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $28.3 million, $15.1 million, and $19.5 million, respectively.

Seasonality

Some of the Company’s products experience seasonal sales and buying patterns mirroring those in the CPG, retail,
advertising, and e-commerce markets, including back-to-school and holiday campaigns, where demand increases
during the second half of the Company’s fiscal year. Seasonality may also be affected by CPG annual budget cycles, as
some large CPGs have fiscal years ending in June. We believe that this seasonality pattern has affected, and will
continue to affect, our business and the associated revenues during the first half and second half of our fiscal year. We
recognized 54%, 54% and 52% of our annual revenue during the second half of 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure and Key Operating Metrics

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”), a non-GAAP financial
measure, is a key metric used by our management and our Board of Directors to understand and evaluate our core
operating performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget, to develop short and long-term
operational plans, and to determine bonus payouts. In particular, we believe that the exclusion of certain income and
expenses in calculating Adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our core
business. Additionally, Adjusted EBITDA is a key financial metric used by the compensation committee of our Board
of Directors in connection with the determination of compensation for our executive officers. Accordingly, we believe
that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
operating results in the same manner as our management and Board of Directors.

Adjusted EBITDA excludes non-cash charges, such as depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation,
because such non-cash expenses in any specific period may not directly correlate to the underlying performance of our
business operations and can vary significantly between periods. Additionally, it excludes the effects of interest
expense, income taxes, other (income) expense net, one-time charge for certain distribution fees, change in fair value
of escrowed shares and contingent consideration, net, charges related to Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) software
implementation costs, certain acquisition related costs and restructuring charges. We exclude certain items because we
believe that these costs (benefits) do not reflect expected future operating expenses. Additionally, certain items are
inconsistent in amounts and frequency, making it difficult to contribute to a meaningful evaluation of our current or
past operating performance.

We define a “transaction” as any action that generates revenue, directly or indirectly, including per item transaction fees,
such as, coupon activation fees and coupon redemption fees, volume-based fixed fees and revenue sharing.
Transactions continue to exclude retailer offers that generate no direct revenue. Transactions indirectly generate
revenue when the action is not paid for on a per item basis, but is part of an agreement which generates revenue for
offer services; for example, transactions after a fixed fee cap has been reached would be included in our definition.
This definition of transaction does not impact the number of transactions reported in prior filings. While the number of
transactions on our platform has been an important indicator of our ability to grow our revenues historically, as our
business continues to evolve with the shift to digital paperless and we experiment with different pricing models to
monetize transactions, we believe transaction volume on our platform will become a less predictive indicator of future
operating performance. We plan to discontinue providing the number of transactions after the first quarter of 2019, as
it no longer is indicative of the health of the business.

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

89



Net loss, Adjusted EBITDA and number of transactions for each of the periods presented were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
(in thousands)

Net loss $(28,318 ) $(15,077 ) $(19,479 )
Adjusted EBITDA 57,612 47,040 32,476
Transactions 3,876,093 3,546,294 2,445,455
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Our use of Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a
substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

•although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to
be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such
replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;
•Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
•Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest and tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;
•Adjusted EBITDA also does not include the effects of stock-based compensation, amortization of acquired intangible
assets, one-time charge for certain distribution fees, charges related to ERP software implementation costs, net
change in fair value of escrowed shares and contingent consideration, interest expense, other (income) expense, net,
provision for (benefit from) income taxes, certain acquisition related costs and restructuring charges; and
•other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently, which reduces
its usefulness as a comparative measure.

A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, for each of
the periods presented is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
(in thousands)

Net loss $(28,318) $(15,077) $(19,479)
Adjustments:
Stock-based compensation 31,386 32,252 28,286
Depreciation, amortization and other (1) 32,262 24,391 22,938
One-time charge for certain distribution fees — — 7,435
Change in fair value of escrowed shares and contingent

   consideration, net 13,190 5,515 (6,450 )
Interest expense 13,411 1,589 —
Other (income) expense, net (4,801 ) (928 ) (495 )
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 482 (702 ) 241
Total adjustments $85,930 $62,117 $51,955

Adjusted EBITDA $57,612 $47,040 $32,476

(1)For the year ended December 31, 2018, Other includes certain acquisition related costs of $2.8 million and
restructuring charges of $4.4 million. For the year ended December 31, 2017, Other includes certain acquisition
costs of $1.9 million, restructuring charges of $3.4 million, and ERP software implementation costs related to
service agreements of $1.2 million. Acquisition related costs primarily include diligence, accounting, and legal
expenses incurred related to certain acquisitions and certain bonuses contingent upon the acquired company
meeting certain financial metrics over the contingent consideration period. Restructuring charges relates to facility
exit costs and severance for impacted employees.

This non-GAAP financial measure is not intended to be considered in isolation from, as substitute for, or as superior
to, the corresponding financial measure prepared in accordance with GAAP. Because of these and other limitations,
Adjusted EBITDA should be considered along with GAAP based financial performance measures, including various
cash flow metrics, net loss, and our other GAAP financial results.

Factors Affecting Our Performance
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Obtaining high quality coupons and increasing the number of CPG-authorized activations.   Our ability to grow
revenue will depend upon our ability to shift more dollars to our platform from our CPG customers, continue to obtain
high quality coupons and increase the number of CPG-authorized activations available through our platform. If we are
unable to do any of these, growth in our revenue will be adversely affected.
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Increasing revenue from CPGs on our platform.    Our ability to grow our revenue in the future depends upon our
ability to continue to increase revenues from existing and new CPGs on our platform through national brand coupons,
targeted media and measurement, trade promotions, and increasing the number of brands that are using our platform
within each CPG.

Variability in promotional spend by CPGs.    Our revenues may fluctuate due to changes in promotional spending
budgets of CPGs and retailers and the timing of their promotional spending. Decisions by major CPGs or retailers to
delay or reduce their promotional and media spending, move campaigns, or divert spending away from digital
promotions or media could slow our revenue growth or reduce our revenues.

Ability to scale Retailer iQ and further integrate with Retailers.    Our ability to grow our revenues will depend upon
our ability to continue to successfully implement and scale Retailer iQ and Retail Performance Media among retailers.
If we are unable to continue to successfully maintain our Retailer iQ and Retail Performance Media partners, or if our
retail partners do not provide sufficient support to our platforms, the growth in our revenues will be adversely
affected. Our ability to grow our revenue in the future is also dependent upon our ability to further integrate digital
promotions and media into retailers’ loyalty or POS systems and other channels so that CPGs and retailers can more
effectively engage consumers and drive their own sales.

Growth of our consumer selection and digital offerings.    Our ability to grow our revenue in the future will depend on
our ability to innovate and invest in promotion and media solutions, including Retailer iQ, Retailer Performance
Media, sponsored search, mobile solutions for consumers, including digital print, mobile solutions and digital
promotion offerings for specialty/franchise retail, leverage our reach to consumers and the strength of our platform to
broaden the selection and use of digital coupons by consumers, manage the transition from digital print coupons to
digital paperless coupons as well as the transition from desktop to mobile platforms, and invest in solutions around our
data and analytic capabilities, referred to as Quotient Analytics Cloud and Quotient Audience Cloud, for CPGs and
retailers.

International Growth and Acquisitions.   Our ability to grow our revenues will also depend on our ability to grow our
operations and offerings in existing international markets and expand our business through selective acquisitions,
similar to our acquisitions of Ahalogy, Crisp, Elevaate, SavingStar, and Shopmium and their integration with the core
business of the Company.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenues

We generate revenues by delivering digital coupons, including coupons and coupon codes, and digital media through
our platform. CPGs and retailers choose one or more of our offerings and are charged a fee for each selected offering.
Our customers generally submit insertion orders that outline the terms and conditions of a campaign, including the
channels through which the campaign will be run, the offerings for each selected channel, the type of content to be
delivered, the timeframe of the campaign, the number of authorized activations and the pricing of the campaign.
Substantially all of our revenues are generated from sales in the United States.

Coupons.    We generate revenues, as consumers select, activate, or redeem a coupon through our platform by either
saving it to a retailer loyalty account for automatic digital redemption, or printing it for physical redemption at a
retailer. Coupon setup fees relates to the creation of digital coupons and set up of the underlying campaign on our
proprietary platform for tracking of related activations or redemptions. We recognize revenues related to coupon setup
fees over time, proportionally, on a per transaction basis, using the number of authorized transactions per insertion
order, commencing on the date of the first coupon transaction. Coupon transaction fees are generally determined on a
per unit activation or per redemption basis, and are generally billed monthly. Insertion orders generally include a limit
on the number of activations, or times consumers may select a coupon.
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Coupon Codes.     We generally generate revenues when a consumer makes a purchase using a coupon code from our
platform and completion of the order is reported to us. This leads to a transaction, and a distribution fee is generally
paid to us. In the same period that we recognize revenues for the delivery of coupon codes, we also estimate and
record a reserve, based upon historical experience, to provide for end-user cancelations or product returns which may
not be reported until a subsequent date.

Digital Media.    Our media services enable CPGs and retailers to distribute digital media to promote their brands and
products on our websites, and mobile apps, and through a network of affiliate publishers and non-publisher third
parties that display our media offerings on their websites or mobile apps. Revenue is generally recognized each time a
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digital media ad is displayed or each time a user clicks on the media ad displayed on the Company’s websites, mobile
apps or on third party websites. Media pricing is generally determined on a per campaign, impression or per click
basis and are generally billed monthly.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues includes the costs resulting from distribution fees. If we deliver a digital coupon or media on a
retailer’s website or mobile apps or through its loyalty program, or the website or mobile apps of a publisher, we
generally pay a distribution fee to the retailers or publisher which is included in our cost of revenues. These costs are
expensed as incurred. We generally do not pay a distribution fee for a coupon or code which is offered through the
website of the CPG or retailer that is offering the coupon or coupon code. From time to time, we have entered into
arrangements pursuant to which we have agreed to the payment of minimum distribution or other service fees that are
included in our cost of revenues.

Cost of revenues also includes personnel compensation costs, depreciation and amortization expense of equipment,
software and acquired intangible assets incurred on revenue producing technologies, amortization of certain
exclusivity rights acquired under strategic partnerships, data center costs and third-party service fees including traffic
acquisition costs and purchase of third-party data. Personnel costs related to costs of revenues include salaries,
bonuses, stock-based compensation and employee benefits. These costs are primarily attributable to individuals
maintaining our data centers and members of our network operations group, which initiates, sets up and delivers
digital promotion and media campaigns. Cost of revenues also includes third-party service fees, including traffic
acquisition costs, which consists of payments related to delivering campaigns on certain networks or sites. We
capitalize costs related to software that is developed or obtained for internal use. Costs incurred in connection with
internal software development for revenue producing technologies are capitalized and are amortized in cost of
revenues over the internal use software’s useful life. The amortization of these costs begins when the internally
developed software is ready for its intended use.

Operating Expenses

We classify our operating expenses primarily into three categories: sales and marketing, research and development
and general and administrative. Our operating expenses consist primarily of personnel compensation costs and, to a
lesser extent, professional fees and facilities expense. Personnel costs for each category of operating expenses
generally include salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation and employee benefits.

Sales and marketing.    Our sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel compensation costs
(including salaries and benefits, sales commissions, and stock-based compensation) provided to our sales and
marketing personnel, brand marketing, amortization of acquired intangible asset costs associated with professional
services, travel, trade shows and marketing materials. We expect to continue to invest in sales and marketing in order
to support our growth and business objectives, while continuing to optimize our investment in promotional and
advertising activities.

Research and development.    Our research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel compensation
costs (including salaries and benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation) provided to our engineering personnel,
costs of professional services associated with the ongoing development of new products and the enhancement of
existing products; fees for design, testing, consulting, and other related services.

We believe that continued investment in technology is critical to attaining our strategic objectives. Our investment in
research and development will be balanced with our continued operational and cost optimization efforts including
headcount shift to low cost locations, as it provides us with the ability to invest in strategic areas, while managing
growth in future periods.
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General and administrative.    Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel compensation
costs (including salaries and benefits, bonuses and stock-based compensation) provided to our executives, finance,
legal, human resources, compliance and other administrative personnel, as well as facility costs and other related
overheads; accounting, tax and legal professional services fees and other corporate expenses.

We expect to continue to incur additional general and administrative expenses in future periods as we continue to
invest in corporate infrastructure to support our expected growth as well as additional compliance costs associated
with being a public Company.

Change in fair value of escrowed shares and contingent consideration, net.    The change in fair value of escrowed
shares relates to the acquisition of certain exclusivity rights under a services and data agreement whereby a certain
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amount of shares were issued and placed in escrow. Those shares are subject to re-measurement until they are released
from escrow. The change in fair value of contingent consideration is due to the re-measurement contingent
consideration liabilities resulting from acquisitions based on the expected achievement of certain financial metrics
over each acquisition’s respective contingent consideration period.

Interest expense

Interest expense consists of cash coupon interest, accretion of debt discounts and issuance costs and primarily relates
to our debt obligations under our convertible senior notes issued during the fourth quarter of 2017.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net, includes interest income on short-term certificate of deposits and foreign currency
exchange gains and losses.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) was signed into law making significant
changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include, but are not limited to, a federal corporate tax rate decrease
from 35% to 21%, effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the transition of U.S. international
taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed
repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings. As of December 31, 2017, we recorded a provisional impact for the
re-measurement of deferred taxes of $0.7 million as an income tax benefit. The provisional amount related to the
re-measurement of certain deferred tax assets and liabilities, based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in
the future, was $27.7 million, with a corresponding provisional valuation allowance of $28.4 million, resulting in a
provisional income tax benefit of $0.7 million attributable to the re-measurement of certain indefinite lived deferred
tax liabilities related to tax deductible goodwill.

The Tax Act’s new international rules, including Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”), Foreign Derived
Intangible Income (“FDII”), and Base Erosion Anti-Avoidance Tax (“BEAT”) are effective beginning in 2018. For year
2018, we have included these effects of the Tax Act in our 2018 financial statements and have concluded the impact
will not be material. As of December 31, 2018, pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 118 (regarding the
application of ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”) associated with the enactment of the Tax Act), we have completed
our accounting under ASC 740 for the provisions of the Tax Act and no material adjustments were recorded.

We recorded provision for income taxes of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, a benefit from income
taxes $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, and a provision for income taxes of $0.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016. The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily
attributable to the impact of the indefinite lived deferred tax liabilities related to tax deductible goodwill, change in the
geographical mix of earnings in foreign jurisdictions and state taxes. The benefit from income taxes for the year ended
December 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to the provisional impact of the re-measurement of certain indefinite
lived deferred tax liabilities related to tax deductible goodwill as a result of the Tax Act. The provision for income
taxes for the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily attributable to an increase in deferred tax liabilities
associated with the change in fair value of contingent consideration from prior year acquisitions and a decrease in
foreign income taxed at non-US tax rates.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our consolidated results of operations and our consolidated results of operations as a
percentage of revenues for the periods presented.

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues $386,958 100.0% $322,115 100.0% $275,190 100.0%
Cost and expenses:
Cost of revenues 206,230 53.3 % 140,752 43.7 % 114,870 41.7 %
Sales and marketing 90,086 23.3 % 92,833 28.8 % 92,596 33.6 %
Research and development 46,873 12.1 % 50,009 15.5 % 50,503 18.4 %
General and administrative 49,805 12.9 % 48,124 14.9 % 43,404 15.8 %
Change in fair value of escrowed shares and

   contingent consideration, net 13,190 3.4 % 5,515 1.7 % (6,450 ) (2.3 )%
Total costs and expenses 406,184 105.0% 337,233 104.6% 294,923 107.2%
Loss from operations (19,226 ) (5.0 )% (15,118 ) (4.6 )% (19,733 ) (7.2 )%
Interest expense (13,411 ) (3.5 )% (1,589 ) (0.5 )% — (— )%
Other income (expense), net 4,801 1.2 % 928 0.3 % 495 0.2 %
Loss before income taxes (27,836 ) (7.3 )% (15,779 ) (4.8 )% (19,238 ) (7.0 )%
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 482 0.1 % (702 ) (0.2 )% 241 0.1 %
Net loss $(28,318 ) (7.4 )% $(15,077 ) (4.6 )% $(19,479 ) (7.1 )%

Disaggregated Revenue

The following table presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by type of services. The majority of the
Company’s revenue is generated from sales in the United States.

Year Ended December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017
(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Promotion $245,493 $237,184 $212,110 $8,309 4 % $25,074 12 %
Media 141,465 84,931 63,080 56,534 67 % 21,851 35 %
Total revenue $386,958 $322,115 $275,190 $64,843 20 % $46,925 17 %

Revenues

Year Ended December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017
(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Revenues $386,958 $322,115 $275,190 $64,843 20 % $46,925 17 %
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Revenues increased by $64.8 million, or 20%, during the year ended December 31, 2018, as compared to the same
period in 2017. The increase was primarily due to growth in media revenue, including incremental revenue related to
our acquisition of Ahalogy in the second quarter of 2018, and promotions driven by the continued growth of Retailer
iQ transactions. During 2018, total transactions were 3.9 billion, as compared to 3.5 billion during 2017. Revenues
generated from media campaigns represented 87% of the total year over year increase, with the balance of the increase
driven by our revenues from promotion transactions. During 2018, revenues from promotion transactions and media
were 63% and 37% of total revenues, respectively, as compared to 74% and 26% of total revenues, respectively, for
2017.

Revenues increased by $46.9 million, or 17%, during the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to the same
period in 2016. The increase was due to growth in promotions revenue driven by the continued growth of Retailer iQ
transactions and increase in media revenues, which included revenues related to the Crisp acquisition. During 2017,
total transactions were 3.5 billion, as compared to 2.4 billion during 2016. Revenues generated from promotion
transactions represented 53% of the total year over year increase, with the balance of the increase driven by our
revenues from media campaigns. During 2017, revenues from promotion transactions and media were 74% and 26%
of total revenues, respectively, as compared to 77% and 23% of total revenues, respectively, for 2016.  
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We expect to see variability in our results quarter over quarter in the future as we continue to integrate our digital
promotions and media solutions into retailers’ in-store and point of sale systems and consumer channels, and as we
continue to manage digital print trends. We expect revenue growth in 2019 from increased media revenues as well as
promotion revenues with anticipated marketing campaigns as well as adoption of our platform by consumers.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017
(in thousands, except
percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Cost of revenues $206,230 $140,752 $114,870 $65,478 47 % $25,882 23 %
Gross profit $180,728 $181,363 $160,320 $(635 ) (0 )% $21,043 13 %
Gross margin 47 % 56 % 58 %

Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased by $65.5 million, or 47%, as compared to the same
period in 2017. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $51.5 million in distribution fees corresponding to a
greater number of Retailer iQ transactions completed through our platform, as well as higher data and traffic
acquisition costs for offsite media on non-owned-and-operated properties, an increase in amortization expense of $6.6
million related to acquired intangible assets as well as certain exclusivity rights acquired under strategic partnerships,
an increase in data center expenses of $2.5 million, an increase in compensation costs, including stock-based
compensation of $2.8 million, an increase in overhead expenses related to facilities and infrastructure support of $1.7
million, and an increase in restructuring charges of $0.4 million.

Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2018 decreased to 47% from 56%, as compared to the same period in
2017. The decrease was primarily due to the continued shift in our product mix as revenues from media, which have
higher data and traffic acquisition costs related to offsite media, as a percentage of our total revenue continue to
increase compared to our promotion revenue. The decrease is also attributable to an increase in distribution fees paid
to our partners for promotions and media revenues delivered through their platform.

Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by $25.9 million, or 23%, as compared to the same
period in 2016. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $29.0 million in distribution fees as well as
third-party services fees related to the Crisp acquisition, an increase in third-party media service fees of $5.9 million,
an increase in amortization expense of $4.5 million related to acquired intangible assets as well as certain exclusivity
rights acquired under strategic partnerships, an increase in data center expenses of $2.5 million, and an increase in
compensation costs, including stock-based compensation of $0.7 million, an increase in restructuring charges of $0.2
million primarily related to severance for the impacted employees, and an increase in other revenue related expenses
of $0.3 million. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in amortization expense of $9.8 million associated
with our Retailer iQ platform spend which was fully amortized, and the benefit from the non-recurring one-time
charge of $7.4 million, recorded during the third quarter of 2016, associated with certain distribution fees under an
arrangement with a retail partner.

Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased to 56%, as compared to 58% in the same period in
2016, primarily due to the continued shift in our product mix as well as an increase in distribution fees and third-party
media service fees.

We expect the costs associated with distribution and third-party service fees to continue to increase in the future as we
continue to expand and scale our distribution network and reach. As we continue to pursue opportunities to expand
our business through selective acquisitions, we expect pressure on our gross margin as our growth strategy evolves
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and our product mix continues to change.

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017
(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change % Change $ Change% Change
Sales and marketing $90,086 $92,833 $92,596 $(2,747) (3 )% $237 0 %
Percent of revenues 23 % 29 % 34 %

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $2.7 million, or 3%, during the year ended December 31, 2018, as
compared to the same period in 2017. The decrease was primarily the result of reduced spending in promotional and
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advertising costs of $9.8 million resulting from our expense management efforts, partially offset by an increase in
compensation costs of $4.6 million from acquisitions and hiring additional employees to support our growth and
business objectives, an increase in intangible asset amortization expense of $1.0 million related to our acquisitions, an
increase in facilities expense of $0.9 million, and an increase in restructuring charges of $0.6 million due to severance
for impacted employees.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to the
same period in 2016. The increase was primarily due to an increase in compensation costs of $2.7 million, and an
increase in restructuring costs of $0.4 million, partially offset by a reduction in promotional and advertising costs of
$2.9 million.

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017
(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change % Change $ Change% Change
Research and development $46,873 $50,009 $50,503 $(3,136) (6 )% $(494) (1 )%
Percent of revenues 12 % 16 % 18 %

Research and development expenses decreased by $3.1 million, or 6%, during the year ended December 31, 2018, as
compared to the same period in 2017. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in compensation costs of $4.1
million, a decrease in research and development support activities of $1.5 million, and a decrease in overhead
expenses related to facilities and infrastructure support of $1.2 million, partially offset by a reduction in capitalization
of internal use software development costs of $2.8 million, and an increase in restructuring charges of $0.9 million
primarily related to severance for the impacted employees.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we capitalized internal use software development costs of $1.0 million, as
compared to $3.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2017.

Research and development expenses decreased by $0.5 million, or 1%, during the year ended December 31, 2017, as
compared to the same period in 2016. The decrease was primarily due to the increase in capitalization of internal use
software development costs of $3.1 million, partially offset by an increase in research and development support
activities of $1.3 million, an increase in compensation costs of $0.9 million, and an increase in restructuring costs of
$0.4 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we capitalized internal use software development costs of $3.8 million, as
compared to $0.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2016.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017
(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change% Change $ Change% Change
General and administrative $49,805 $48,124 $43,404 $1,681 3 % $4,720 11 %
Percent of revenues 13 % 15 % 16 %
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General and administrative expenses increased by $1.7 million, or 3%, during the year ended December 31, 2018, as
compared to the same period in 2017. The increase was primarily due to an increase in professional service fees of
$1.7 million due to increased compliance costs associated with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the change in expense related
to the allowance for doubtful accounts of $1.2 million, and an increase in acquisition related charges of $0.9 million,
partially offset by a decrease in ERP cloud-based software implementation costs of $1.2 million, and a decrease in
restructuring charges of $0.9 million primarily related to facility exit costs and severance for the impacted employees.

General and administrative expenses increased by $4.7 million, or 11%, during the year ended December 31, 2017, as
compared to the same period in 2016. The increase was primarily due to an increase in restructuring costs of $2.4
million primarily related to facility exit costs and severance for the impacted employees, an increase in compensation
costs of $2.7 million, certain acquisition related fees of $1.9 million related to Crisp acquisition, an increase in ERP
cloud-based software implementation costs of $1.1 million, partially offset by a decrease in third-party consultation
services of $2.1 million, and a change in expense related to the allowance for doubtful accounts of $1.3 million.
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Change in Fair Value of Escrowed Shares and Contingent Consideration, Net

Year Ended December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017
(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change% Change $ Change % Change
Change in fair value of escrowed

   shares and contingent

   consideration, net $13,190 $5,515 $(6,450) $7,675 139 % $11,965 (186 )%

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a charge of $14.3 million related to the remeasurement of
both Ahalogy’s and Crisp’s contingent consideration, due to the increase in expected achievement of certain financial
metrics over the contingent consideration period, as discussed in Note 3 (Fair Value Measurements), partially offset
by a gain of $1.1 million related to certain escrowed shares resulting from a decrease in the Company’s stock price as
discussed in Note 7 (Goodwill and Intangible Assets). The period for measuring Crisp’s contingent consideration
ended during the second quarter of 2018 and the final amount of contingent consideration was paid out to the Sellers
of Crisp during the third quarter of 2018. 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded a loss of $3.7 million primarily due to the change in fair value
of Crisp contingent consideration related to the increase in expected achievement of certain financial metrics over the
contingent consideration period, and a loss of $2.0 million due to the decrease in fair value of certain escrowed shares
related to a decrease in the Company’s stock price.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, we recorded a gain of $4.9 million due to the decrease in fair value of
certain escrowed shares related to the change in the Company’s stock price, a gain of $1.2 million due to the change in
fair value of Shopmium contingent consideration related to a decline in the expected revenue and profit milestones for
the year ending December 31, 2016 and a gain of $0.3 million due to the change in fair value of Eckim contingent
consideration related to a decrease in the Company’s stock price when the Company and the sellers of Eckim agreed on
the performance against the milestones and when the shares were issued.

Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense), Net

Year Ended December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017
(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Interest expense $(13,411) $(1,589) $— $(11,822) 744 % $(1,589) 100 %
Other income (expense), net 4,801 928 495 3,873 417 % 433 87 %

$(8,610 ) $(661 ) $495 $(7,949 ) 1,203 % $(1,156) (234 )%

Interest expense is related to the convertible senior notes issued during the fourth quarter of 2017. The increase in
interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2018, as compared to the same period in 2017, was due to the
recording of full year interest expense in fiscal year 2018 as compared to approximately two months of interest
expense in fiscal year 2017.

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income on short-term certificate of deposits. The increase in
other income (expense), net during the year ended December 31, 2018, as compared to the same period in 2017, as
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well as during the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the same period in 2016, was due to interest income
earned on short-term certificate of deposits, net of the effect of re-measuring balances in foreign currency due to
exchange rate fluctuations.

Provision for (benefit from) Income Taxes

Year Ended
December 31, 2017 to 2018 2016 to 2017

(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 $ Change% Change $ Change% Change
Provision for (benefit from) income

   taxes $482 $(702) $241 $1,184 (169 )% $(943) (391 )%

The provision for income taxes of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily attributable to the
impact of the indefinite lived deferred tax liabilities related to tax deductible goodwill, change in the geographical mix
of earnings in foreign jurisdictions and state taxes.
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The income tax benefit of $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to the
provisional impact of the re-measurement of certain indefinite lived deferred tax liabilities related to tax deductible
goodwill recorded on our consolidated balance sheets due to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted December 22, 2017.

The income tax provision of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily attributable to a net
increase in deferred tax liabilities associated with the change in fair value of contingent consideration from prior year
acquisitions and a decrease in foreign income taxed at non-US tax rates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations and capital expenditures through the issuance of common stock and convertible
senior notes, and cash flows obtained through the exercise of stock options from operations. As of December 31,
2018, our principal source of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents, and short-term investments totaling $322.8
million, which were held for working capital purposes. Our cash equivalents and short-term investments are
comprised primarily of certificate of deposits, money market funds and U.S. Treasury Bills.

In the near term, although we intend to continue to manage our operating expenses in line with our existing cash and
available financial resources, we anticipate we will incur increased spending in future periods in order to execute our
long-term business plan and to support our growth to fund our operating expenses. We have incurred and expect to
continue to incur legal, accounting, regulatory compliance and other costs in future periods as we continue to invest in
corporate infrastructure. In addition, we may use cash to fund acquisitions or invest in other business, repurchase the
Company’s common stock under the publicly announced share repurchase program or incur capital expenditures
including leasehold improvements or technologies.

Our Board of Directors has approved programs for us to repurchase shares of our common stock. In April 2018, our
Board of Directors authorized a one-year share repurchase program (“2018 Program”) for us to repurchase up to $100.0
million of our common stock from May 2018 through May 2019. During May 2018, the active repurchase program at
that time expired. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we had repurchased and retired 1,264,053 shares of our
common stock for an aggregate of $15.8 million. As of December 31, 2018, a total of $84.2 million remained
available for repurchases under the 2018 Program.  Stock repurchases may be made from time to time at prevailing
market prices, subject to certain restrictions on volume, pricing and timing. The repurchases may be made in the open
market, through negotiated transactions, including accelerated share repurchase agreements, and through plans
designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Act.  The 2018 Program is discretionary, and we may
suspend, modify or terminate the 2018 Program at any time without prior notice.

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we retired 1,264,053 and 9,647,708 shares of our treasury
stock, respectively. We accounted for the retirement of treasury stock by allocating the excess repurchase price over
par value of the repurchased shares between additional paid-in capital and accumulated deficit. When the repurchase
price of the shares repurchased is greater than the original issue proceeds, the excess is charged to accumulated deficit.

We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our working
capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months and the foreseeable future. To the extent that
current and anticipated future sources of liquidity are insufficient to fund our future business activities and
requirements, we may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event additional financing is
required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented (in thousands):

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

106



Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Cash flows provided by operating activities $22,048 $48,457 $21,815
Cash flows used in investing activities (21,119) (18,253 ) (50,559)
Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities (33,558) 198,276 (26 )
Effects of exchange rates on cash 22 (19 ) (3 )
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $(32,607) $228,461 $(28,773)
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Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities is primarily influenced by the amount of cash we invest in personnel and
infrastructure to support the anticipated growth of our business and the increase in our revenues. Cash provided by
operating activities has typically been due to our net losses and changes in our operating assets and liabilities.

During 2018, net cash provided by operating activities of $22.1 million reflects our net loss of $28.3 million, adjusted
for net non-cash expenses of $81.8 million, and cash provided as a result of changes in working capital of $31.4
million. Non-cash expenses included stock-based compensation, change in the fair value of escrowed shares and
contingent consideration, net, depreciation and amortization, restructuring charge related to facility exist costs,
amortization of debt discount and issuance costs, deferred income taxes, allowance for doubtful accounts, and loss on
disposal of property and equipment. The uses of cash from working capital items included an increase in accounts
receivable of $26.0 million,  payments for Crisp contingent consideration of $9.7 million related to the changes in fair
value over the contingent consideration period, a decrease in accrued compensation and benefits of $1.3 million, and
an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.9 million related to prepaid subscription and support
fees, partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and other current liabilities of $6.5 million due to timing of
services and payments.

During 2017, net cash provided by operating activities of $48.5 million reflects our net loss of $15.1 million, adjusted
for net non-cash expenses of $57.6 million, and cash provided as a result of changes in working capital of $6.0
million. Non-cash expenses included stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, change in the fair
value of escrowed shares and contingent consideration, restructuring charge related to facility exit costs, amortization
of debt issuance costs, loss on disposal of property and equipment, deferred income taxes and recovery from
allowance for doubtful accounts. The cash from the net change in working capital items included, most notably an
increase in accounts payable and other current liabilities of $12.8 million and an increase in accrued compensation and
benefits of $0.7 million, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $4.4 million due to timing of
invoicing and collections, an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $2.5 million related to prepaid
subscription and support fees, and a decrease in deferred revenue of $0.6 million.  

During 2016, net cash provided by operating activities of $21.8 million reflects our net loss of $19.5 million, adjusted
for net non-cash expenses of $53.4 million, partially offset by cash used as a result of changes in working capital of
$12.1 million. Non-cash expenses included depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, one-time charge
for certain distribution fees under an arrangement with a retail partner, change in the fair value of escrowed shares and
contingent consideration, loss on disposal of property and equipment, deferred income taxes and provision for
allowance for doubtful accounts. The use of cash from the net change in working capital items included, an increase in
accounts receivable of $9.4 million, a decrease in accrued compensation and benefits of $1.9 million, a decrease in
accounts payable and other current liabilities of $1.7 million, and a decrease in deferred revenues of $0.5 million,
partially offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $1.4 million related to the timing of payments.

Investing Activities

Purchases of property and equipment may vary from period-to-period due to the timing of the expansion of our
operations, the addition of headcount and the development activities related to our future offerings. We expect to
continue to invest in property and equipment and in the further development and enhancement of our software
platform for the foreseeable future. In addition, from time to time, we may consider potential acquisitions that would
complement our existing service offerings, enhance our technical capabilities or expand our marketing and sales
presence. Any future transaction of this nature could require potentially significant amounts of capital or could require
us to issue our stock and dilute existing stockholders.

During 2018, net cash used in investing activities of $21.1 million reflects the cash consideration paid of $33.7
million, net of cash acquired, for the acquisitions of Ahalogy, Elevaate, and SavingStar, payments of $20.5 million to
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acquire certain exclusive rights pursuant to strategic partnership agreements, purchases of certificates of deposits of
$75.1 million, purchases of property and equipment of $6.1 million, which includes capitalized software development
costs, and technology hardware and software to support our growth, partially offset by proceeds from the maturities of
certificates of deposits of $114.3 million.

During 2017, net cash used in investing activities of $18.2 million reflects the purchases of certificates of deposits of
$114.2 million, net cash consideration paid for the Crisp acquisition of $21.0 million, purchases of property,
equipment and intangible assets of $6.5 million, which includes capitalized software development costs related to
Quotient Analytics, and technology hardware and software to support our growth, partially offset by proceeds from
the maturities of certificates of deposits of $123.5 million.
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During 2016, net cash used in investing activities of $50.6 million reflects the purchases of certificates of deposits of
$88.2 million, purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets of $6.4 million that includes technology
hardware and software, and leasehold improvements to support our growth as well as capitalized development and
enhancement costs related to Retailer iQ and Quotient Analytics, partially offset by proceeds from the maturity of a
certificate of deposit of $44.0 million.

Financing Activities

Our financing activities consisted primarily of net proceeds from the issuance of net borrowings under term debt, a
line of credit and convertible senior notes, the issuance of shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options
and repurchases of common stock.

During 2018, net cash used in financing activities of $33.6 million reflects the payments for Crisp contingent
consideration of $14.8 million (initially measured and included as part of purchase consideration on the date of
acquisition and disclosed as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets), repurchases of common stock of $14.3
million, payments made for shares withheld to cover the required payroll withholding taxes of $11.7 million, and
payments on promissory note and capital lease obligations of $0.3 million, partially offset by proceeds received from
exercises of stock options under equity incentive plans and ESPP, net of $7.5 million.

During 2017, net cash provided by financing activities of $198.3 million reflects the issuance of $200.0 million
principal amount of convertible senior notes due 2022, net of issuance costs of $6.2 million, proceeds received from
exercises of stock options under stock plans of $8.8 million, partially offset by payments for taxes related to shares
withheld to cover the required payroll withholding taxes for the settlement of equity awards of $4.0 million, and
payments on promissory note and capital lease obligations of $0.3 million.

During 2016, net cash used in financing activities was insignificant, primarily due to repurchases of our common
stock of $11.9 million, offset by proceeds received from exercises of stock options of $12.0 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2018.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our future minimum payments under contractual commitments as of December 31,
2018 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period
Less
Than

More
Than

Total 1 Year
1 - 3
Years

3 - 5
Years

5
Years

Convertible senior notes (1) $200,000 $— $— $200,000 $—
Interest obligations (2) 13,708 3,500 7,000 3,208 —
Capital leases 90 39 51 — —
Operating leases (3) 15,035 5,850 5,062 3,105 1,018
Purchase obligations (4) 15,266 5,429 4,767 700 4,370
Total $244,099 $14,818 $16,880 $207,013 $5,388
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(1)Represents aggregate principal amount of the convertible senior notes, without the effect of associated discounts.
(2)Represents the estimated interest obligation for our outstanding convertible senior notes that is payable in cash.
(3)We lease various office facilities, including our corporate headquarters in Mountain View, California and various

sales offices, under operating lease agreements that expire through December 2024. The terms of the lease
agreements provide for rental payments on a graduated basis. We recognize rent expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease periods.

(4)We have an unconditional purchase commitment for the years 2019 to 2034 in the amount of $6.1 million for
marketing arrangements relating to the purchase of a 20-year suite license for a professional sports team which we
use for sales and marketing purposes. We have unconditional purchase commitments, primarily related to ongoing
software license fees and marketing services, of $9.2 million.
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The contractual commitment amounts in the table above are associated with agreements that are enforceable and
legally binding. Obligations under contracts that we can cancel without a significant penalty are not included in the
table above.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.

We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets,
convertible senior notes, revenue recognition, stock-based compensation and income taxes have the greatest potential
impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical accounting policies
and estimates. For further information on all of our significant accounting policies, see the notes to our consolidated
financial statements.

Business Combinations

We account for acquisitions of entities that include inputs and processes and have the ability to create outputs as
business combinations. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total consideration is allocated to the tangible
and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the
acquisition dates. The excess of the consideration transferred over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. During
the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill.

In determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, we use recognized
valuation methods, including the income approach, market approach and cost approach, and apply present value
modeling. Our significant estimates in the income, market or cost approach include identifying business factors such
as size, growth, profitability, risk and return on investment and assessing comparable net revenues and operating
income multiples in estimating the fair value. We also make certain assumptions specific to present value modeling
valuation techniques which include risk-adjusted discount rates, rates of increase in operating expenses,
weighted-average cost of capital, long-term growth rate assumptions and the future effective income tax rates.

The valuations of our acquired businesses have been performed by valuation specialists under our management’s
supervision. We believe that the estimated fair value assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based
on reasonable assumptions and estimates that marketplace participants would use. However, such assumptions are
inherently uncertain and actual results could differ from those estimates. Future changes in our assumptions or the
interrelationship of those assumptions may negatively impact future valuations. In future measurements of fair value,
adverse changes in discounted cash flow assumptions could result in an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets
that would require a non-cash charge to the consolidated statements of operations and may have a material effect on
our financial condition and operating results.

Acquisition related costs are not considered part of the consideration, and are expensed as general and administrative
expense as incurred. Contingent consideration, if any is measured at fair value initially on the acquisition date as well
as subsequently at the end of each reporting period, typically based on the expected achievement of certain financial
metrics, until settlement at the end of the assessment period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
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Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, and more frequently upon the occurrence of certain events that
may indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that could trigger an
impairment test include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in the business climate or in legal factors,
an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, a loss of key personnel, significant changes in our use of the acquired
assets or the strategy for our overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends, significant
underperformance relative to operating performance indicators, a significant decline in market capitalization and
significant changes in competition. We complete our annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of each year, at
the reporting unit level, which is at the company level as a whole, since we operate in one single reporting segment.
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Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of intangible assets may not be
recoverable. Conditions that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant decline in the
observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or any
other significant adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets may not be
recoverable. When such events occur, we compare the carrying amounts of the assets to their undiscounted cash flows.
If this comparison indicates that there is impairment, the amount of the impairment is calculated as the difference
between the carrying value and the fair value.

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured first by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to
future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired,
an impairment loss would be recognized for an amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair
value of the asset.

During the third quarter of 2016, we recorded a one-time charge associated with certain distribution fees under an
arrangement with a retail partner that were deemed unrecoverable. When we deliver a digital coupon on a retailer’s
website or mobile app or through its loyalty program, or the website or mobile app of a publisher, or through its
Retailer iQ platform, and the consumer takes certain actions, we pay a distribution fee to the retailer or other
publisher, which, in some cases may be prepaid prior to being incurred. We considered various factors in its
assessment including its historical experience with transaction volumes through the retailer and other comparative
retailers, ongoing communications with the retailer to increase its marketing efforts to promote the digital platform, as
well as the projected revenues, and associated revenue share payments. Accordingly, during the three months ended
September 30, 2016, we recognized a one-time charge of $7.4 million related to such distribution fees in cost of
revenues on the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2018, we had no prepaid
non-refundable payments with our Retailer IQ partners.

Convertible Senior Notes

In accounting for the issuance of the notes, we separated the notes into liability and equity components. The carrying
amount of the liability component was calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar liability that does not have
an associated convertible feature. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the conversion option
was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the par value of the notes as a whole. This
difference represents a debt discount that is amortized to interest expense over the terms of the notes. The equity
component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification. In accounting for
the issuance costs related to the notes, we allocated the total amount incurred to the liability and equity components.
Issuance costs attributable to the liability components are being amortized to expense over the contractual term of the
notes, and issuance costs attributable to the equity component were netted with the equity component in additional
paid-in capital.

Revenue Recognition

We primarily generate revenue by providing digital promotions and media solutions to our customers and partners.
Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount
that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

•Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer
•Identification of the performance obligations in the contract
•Determination of the transaction price
•Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
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•Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation
Promotion Revenue

We generate revenue from promotions, in which consumer packaged goods brands, or CPGs, pay us to deliver
coupons to consumers through our network of publishers and retail partners. We generate revenues, as consumers
select, activate, or redeem a coupon through our platform by either saving it to a retailer loyalty account for automatic
digital redemption, or printing it for physical redemption at a retailer. The pricing for promotion arrangements
generally includes both coupon setup fees and coupon transaction fees. Coupon setup fees are related to the creation of
digital coupons and
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set up of the underlying campaign on our proprietary platform for tracking of related activations or redemptions. We
recognize revenues related to coupon setup fees over time, proportionally, on a per transaction basis, using the number
of authorized transactions per insertion order, commencing on the date of the first coupon transaction. Coupon
transaction fees are generally determined on a per unit activation or per redemption basis, and are generally billed
monthly. Insertion orders generally include a limit on the number of activations, or times consumers may select a
coupon.

Promotion revenues also include our Specialty Retail business, in which specialty stores including clothing,
electronics, home improvement and others, offer coupon codes that we distribute. Each time a consumer makes a
purchase using a coupon code, a transaction occurs and a distribution fee is generally paid to us. We generally
generate revenues when a consumer makes a purchase using a coupon code from our platform and completion of the
order is reported to us. In the same period that we recognize revenues for the delivery of coupon codes, we also
estimate and record a reserve, based upon historical experience, to provide for end-user cancelations or product returns
which may not be reported until a subsequent date. We present sales returns reserve as a liability for the periods
beginning with the first quarter ended March 31, 2018 versus a contra-asset within accounts receivable, net of
allowance for doubtful accounts on the consolidated balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Media Revenue

Our media services enable CPGs and retailers to distribute digital media to promote their brands and products on our
websites, and mobile apps, and through a network of affiliate publishers and non-publisher third parties that display
our media offerings on their websites or mobile apps. Revenue is generally recognized each time a digital media ad is
displayed or each time a user clicks on the media ad displayed on our websites, mobile apps or on third-party
websites. Media pricing is generally determined on a per campaign, impression or per click basis and are generally
billed monthly. 

Gross versus Net Revenue Reporting

In the normal course of business and through our distribution network, we deliver digital coupons and media on
retailers’ websites through retailers’ loyalty programs, and on the websites of digital publishers. In these situations, we
evaluate whether we are the principal (i.e., report revenues on a gross basis) or agent (i.e., report revenues on a net
basis). Generally, we report digital promotion and media advertising revenues for campaigns placed on third-party
owned properties on a gross basis, that is, the amounts billed to our customers are recorded as revenues, and
distribution fees paid to retailers or digital publishers are recorded as cost of revenues. We are the principal because
we control the digital coupon and media advertising inventory before it is transferred to our customers. Our control is
evidenced by our sole ability to monetize the digital coupon and media advertising inventory, being primarily
responsible to our customers, having discretion in establishing pricing for the delivery of the digital coupons and
media, or a combination of these.

Arrangements with Multiple Performance Obligations

Our contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, we account for
individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate
performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price, basis. We determine the best estimate of the standalone
selling prices based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors,
including the value of our contracts and characteristics of targeted customers.  

Stock-based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation using the fair value method, which requires us to measure the stock-based
compensation based on the grant-date fair value of the awards and recognize the compensation expense over the
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requisite service period. We adopted ASU 2016-09 Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee
Share-Based Payment Accounting in the first quarter of 2017. Upon adoption, we elected to change our accounting
policy to account for forfeitures as they occur. The change was applied on a modified retrospective basis with a
cumulative effect adjustment related to estimated forfeitures of $3.4 million recorded to accumulated deficit balance
as of January 1, 2017. Equity awards issued to nonemployees are recorded at fair value on their measurement date and
are subject to adjustment each period as the awards vest.

The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The fair value of RSUs equals the market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Our option-pricing model
requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, the expected term of the option, the expected volatility of the
price of our common stock, risk-free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of our common stock.
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Income Taxes

We account for our income taxes using the liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported
amounts using enacted tax rates in effect for the year the differences are expected to reverse. In evaluating our ability
to recover our deferred tax assets we consider all available positive and negative evidence including our past operating
results, the existence of cumulative losses in past fiscal years, and our forecast of future taxable income in the
jurisdictions.

We have placed a valuation allowance on the U.S. deferred tax assets and certain non-U.S. deferred tax assets,
because realization of these tax benefits through future taxable income does not meet the more-likely-than-not
threshold.

We account for uncertainty in income taxes using a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax
positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available
evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of
related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that
is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) was signed into law making significant
changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include, but are not limited to, a federal corporate tax rate decrease
from 35% to 21%, effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the transition of U.S. international
taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed
repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings. As of December 31, 2017, we recorded a provisional impact for the
re-measurement of deferred taxes of $0.7 million as an income tax benefit. The provisional amount related to the
re-measurement of certain deferred tax assets and liabilities, based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in
the future, was $27.7 million, with a corresponding provisional valuation allowance of $28.4 million, resulting in a
provisional income tax benefit of $0.7 million attributable to the re-measurement of certain indefinite lived deferred
tax liabilities related to tax deductible goodwill.

The Tax Act’s new international rules, including Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”), Foreign Derived
Intangible Income (“FDII”), and Base Erosion Anti-Avoidance Tax (“BEAT”) are effective beginning in 2018. For year
2018, the Company has included these effects of the Tax Act in its 2018 financial statements and has concluded the
impact will not be material. As of December 31, 2018, pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 118
(regarding the application of ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”) associated with the enactment of the Tax Act), we
have completed our accounting under ASC 740 for the provisions of the Tax Act and no material adjustments were
recorded.

Tax laws are dynamic and subject to change as new laws are passed and new interpretations of the law are issued or
applied. The U.S. recently enacted significant tax reform, and certain provisions of the new law may adversely affect
us. In addition, governmental tax authorities are increasingly scrutinizing the tax positions of companies. Many
countries in the European Union, as well as a number of other countries and organizations such as the Organization
for Economic Cooperation and Development, are actively considering changes to existing tax laws that, if enacted,
could increase our tax obligations in countries where we do business. If U.S. or other foreign tax authorities change
applicable tax laws, our overall taxes could increase, and our business, financial condition or results of operations may
be adversely impacted.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Part II, Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, Note 2, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for a full
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description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the actual and expected dates of adoption and estimated
effects on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We have operations both within the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to market risks in the
ordinary course of our business. These risks include primarily interest rate, foreign exchange risks and inflation. We
do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

Our cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and money market funds. Our borrowings under capital lease
obligations are generally at fixed interest rates.

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without
significantly increasing risk. Because our cash and cash equivalents have a relatively short maturity, our portfolio’s fair
value is relatively insensitive to interest rate changes. We do not believe that an increase or decrease in interest rates
of 100 basis points would have a material effect on our operating results or financial condition. In future periods, we
will continue to evaluate our investment policy in order to ensure that we continue to meet our overall objectives.

Market Risk and Market Interest Risk

In November 2017, we issued $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 1.75% convertible senior notes due 2022.
The fair value of our convertible senior notes is subject to interest rate risk, market risk and other factors due to the
convertible feature. The fair value of the convertible senior notes will generally increase as our common stock price
increases and will generally decrease as our common stock price declines in value. The interest and market value
changes affect the fair value of our convertible senior notes but do not impact our financial position, cash flows or
results of operations due to the fixed nature of the debt obligation.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We have limited foreign currency risks related to our revenues and operating expenses denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, principally the British Pound Sterling and the Euro. The volatility of exchange rates
depends on many factors that we cannot forecast with reliable accuracy. Although we have experienced and will
continue to experience fluctuations in our net income (loss) as a result of transaction gains (losses) related to revaluing
certain cash balances, trade accounts receivable balances and intercompany balances that are denominated in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar, we believe such a change will not have a material impact on our results of
operations. In the event our foreign sales and expenses increase, our operating results may be more greatly affected by
fluctuations in the exchange rates of the currencies in which we do business. At this time, we do not, but we may in
the future, enter into derivatives or other financial instruments in an attempt to hedge our foreign currency exchange
risk. It is difficult to predict the impact hedging activities would have on our results of operations.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
If our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher
costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Quotient Technology Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Quotient Technology Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 27, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2009.

San Jose, California
February 27, 2019
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Quotient Technology Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Quotient Technology Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based
on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Quotient Technology Inc. (the
Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2018, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes and our report dated February 27, 2019 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
February 27, 2019
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QUOTIENT TECHNOLOGY INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2018 2017

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $302,028 $334,635
Short-term investments 20,738 59,902
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,200 and $786

   at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively 112,108 81,189
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10,044 8,737
Total current assets 444,918 484,463
Property and equipment, net 15,579 16,610
Intangible assets, net 81,724 46,490
Goodwill 118,821 80,506
Other assets 1,311 1,006
Total assets $662,353 $629,075
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $17,060 $6,090
Accrued compensation and benefits 13,107 13,914
Other current liabilities 53,255 35,538
Deferred revenues 8,686 6,276
Contingent consideration related to acquisitions — 18,500
Total current liabilities 92,108 80,318
Other non-current liabilities 3,622 3,205
Contingent consideration related to acquisitions 28,963 —
Convertible senior notes, net 155,719 145,821
Deferred tax liabilities 1,854 1,690
Total liabilities 282,266 231,034
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value—10,000,000 shares authorized and no shares issued or

   outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017 — —
Common stock, $0.00001 par value—250,000,000 shares authorized; 94,995,211 and
93,199,718

   shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 703,023 686,025
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (844 ) (700 )
Accumulated deficit (322,093) (287,285)
Total stockholders’ equity 380,087 398,041
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $662,353 $629,075
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QUOTIENT TECHNOLOGY INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Revenues $386,958 $322,115 $275,190
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues 206,230 140,752 114,870
Sales and marketing 90,086 92,833 92,596
Research and development 46,873 50,009 50,503
General and administrative 49,805 48,124 43,404
Change in fair value of escrowed shares and contingent

   consideration, net 13,190 5,515 (6,450 )
Total costs and expenses 406,184 337,233 294,923
Loss from operations (19,226 ) (15,118 ) (19,733 )
Interest expense (13,411 ) (1,589 ) —
Other income (expense), net 4,801 928 495
Loss before income taxes (27,836 ) (15,779 ) (19,238 )
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 482 (702 ) 241
Net loss $(28,318 ) $(15,077 ) $(19,479 )

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $(0.30 ) $(0.17 ) $(0.23 )
Weighted-average number of common shares used in computing net loss

   per share, basic and diluted 93,676 89,505 84,157

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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QUOTIENT TECHNOLOGY INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Net loss $(28,318) $(15,077) $(19,479)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments (144 ) 48 (1 )
Comprehensive loss $(28,462) $(15,029) $(19,480)

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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QUOTIENT TECHNOLOGY INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Stock Paid-In Treasury Stock ComprehensiveAccumulatedStockholders'
Shares AmountCapital Shares Amount Loss Deficit Equity

Balance as of
December 31, 2015 81,995,286 $ 1 $570,588 7,940,095 $(85,427 ) $ (747 ) $ (218,925 ) $ 265,490
Exercise of employee
stock options 2,328,197 — 10,578 — — — — 10,578
Vesting of restricted
stock units 2,422,146 — — — — — — —
Issuance of common
stock, stock purchase
plan 185,066 — 1,388 — — — — 1,388
Issuance of common
stock, acquisition 337,327 — 1,944 — — — — 1,944
Issuance of common
stock related to a
services

   and data agreement 3,000,000 39,570 — — — — 39,570
Stock-based
compensation — — 28,286 — — — — 28,286
Change in fair value
of escrowed shares
related to

   a services and data
agreement — — (4,880 ) — — — — (4,880 )
Repurchases of
common stock (1,707,613 ) — — 1,707,613 (11,147 ) — — (11,147 )
Other comprehensive
loss — — — — — (1 ) — (1 )
Net loss — — — — — — (19,479 ) (19,479 )
Balance as of
December 31, 2016 88,560,409 $ 1 $647,474 9,647,708 $(96,574 ) $ (748 ) $ (238,404 ) $ 311,749
Exercise of employee
stock options 1,435,484 — 6,200 — — — — 6,200
Vesting of restricted
stock units 1,750,137 — — — — — — —
Issuance of common
stock, stock purchase
plan 275,761 — 2,563 — — — — 2,563

— — (4,012 ) — — — — (4,012 )
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Payments for taxes
related to net share
settlement of

   equity awards
Issuance of common
stock, acquisition 1,177,927 — 12,957 — — — — 12,957
Cumulative-effect of
accounting change — — 3,381 — — — (3,381 ) —
Conversion feature of
convertible senior
notes, net — — 49,090 — — — — 49,090
Retirement of
treasury stock — — (66,151 ) (9,647,708) 96,574 — (30,423 ) —
Stock-based
compensation — — 32,523 — — — — 32,523
Change in fair value
of escrowed shares
related to

   a services and data
agreement — — 2,000 — — — — 2,000
Other comprehensive
loss — — — — — 48 — 48
Net loss — — — — — — (15,077 ) (15,077 )
Balance as of
December 31, 2017 93,199,718 $ 1 $686,025 — $— $ (700 ) $ (287,285 ) $ 398,041
Exercise of employee
stock options 1,329,361 — 4,028 — — — — 4,028
Vesting of restricted
stock units 2,287,008 — — — — — — —
Issuance of common
stock, stock purchase
plan 323,439 — 3,467 — — — — 3,467
Payments for taxes
related to net share
settlement of

   equity awards (880,262 ) — (11,658 ) — — — — (11,658 )
Repurchases of
common stock (1,264,053 ) — — 1,264,053 (15,843) — — (15,843)
Retirement of
treasury stock — — (9,248 ) (1,264,053) 15,843 — (6,595 ) —
Cumulative-effect of
accounting change — — — — — 105 105
Stock-based
compensation — — 31,479 — — — — 31,479
Change in fair value
of escrowed shares
related to

— — (1,070 ) — — — — (1,070 )
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   a services and data
agreement
Other comprehensive
loss — — — — — $ (144 ) — (144 )
Net loss — — — — — — (28,318 ) (28,318 )
Balance as of
December 31, 2018 94,995,211 $ 1 $703,023 — $— $ (844 ) $ (322,093 ) $ 380,087

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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QUOTIENT TECHNOLOGY INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(28,318 ) $(15,077 ) $(19,479 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 25,041 17,840 22,770
Stock-based compensation 31,386 32,252 28,286
Amortization of debt discount and issuance cost 9,898 1,148 —
Restructuring charge related to facility exit costs 1,057 2,074 —
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 207 85 476
Allowance (recovery) for doubtful accounts 509 (655 ) 652
Deferred income taxes 482 (702 ) 241
One-time charge for certain distribution fees — — 7,435
Change in fair value of escrowed shares and contingent consideration, net 13,190 5,515 (6,450 )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (26,032 ) (4,382 ) (9,358 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (861 ) (2,553 ) 1,360
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 6,449 12,834 (1,718 )
Payments for contingent consideration (9,700 ) — —
Accrued compensation and benefits (1,287 ) 658 (1,914 )
Deferred revenues 27 (580 ) (486 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 22,048 48,457 21,815

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (6,077 ) (6,475 ) (6,281 )
Purchases of intangible assets (20,545 ) — (106 )
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (33,661 ) (21,048 ) —
Purchases of short-term investments (75,120 ) (114,239) (88,172 )
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investment 114,284 123,509 44,000
Net cash used in investing activities (21,119 ) (18,253 ) (50,559 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings on convertible senior notes, net of issuance costs — 193,763 —
Proceeds from issuances of common stock under stock plans 7,495 8,763 11,966
Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards (11,658 ) (4,012 ) —
Repurchases and retirement of common stock under share repurchase program (14,285 ) — (11,944 )
Principal payments on promissory note and capital lease obligations (310 ) (238 ) (48 )
Payments of contingent consideration (14,800 ) — —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (33,558 ) 198,276 (26 )
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 22 (19 ) (3 )
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (32,607 ) 228,461 (28,773 )
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Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 334,635 106,174 134,947
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $302,028 $334,635 $106,174

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for income taxes $246 $168 $140
Cash paid for interest 3,655 29 3
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and financing activities
Fair value of common stock issued in connection with a services and data
agreement — — 39,570
Issuance of shares related to Crisp acquisition — 12,957 1,944
Repurchase of common stock not settled 1,558 — —
Computer equipment acquired under promissory note — 819 —
Property and equipment acquired under capital leases — 31 22
Intangible asset acquisitions not yet paid 14,548 — —
Fixed asset purchases not yet paid 1,253 973 1,324

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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QUOTIENT TECHNOLOGY INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Background

Description of Business

Quotient Technology Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), is an industry leading digital marketing
platform, providing technology and services that power integrated digital promotions and media programs for
consumer packaged goods (“CPG”s) brands and retailers. These programs are delivered across the Company’s network,
including its flagship consumer brand Coupons.com and retail partners. This network provides the Company with
proprietary and licensed data, including online behaviors, purchase intent, and retailers’ in-store point-of-sale (“POS”)
shopper data, to target shoppers with the most relevant digital coupons and ads. Customers and partners use the
Company to influence shoppers via digital channels, integrate marketing and merchandising programs, and leverage
shopper data and insights to drive measurable sales results.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated.

There have been no changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies that have had a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and related notes, including the adoption of the requirements of
Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, effective January 1,
2018 using the modified retrospective basis and ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230):
Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date
of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such
management estimates include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition, collectability of accounts receivable,
coupon code sales return reserve, valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination,
useful lives of intangible assets and property and equipment, estimates related to recovery of long-lived assets and
goodwill, stock-based compensation, measurement of contingent consideration, restructuring accruals, classification
of current and non-current deferred revenue, debt discounts, and income taxes deferred income tax assets and
associated valuation allowances. These estimates generally require judgments, may involve the analysis of historical
and prediction of future trends, and are subject to change from period to period. Actual results may differ from the
Company’s estimates, and such differences may be material to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments
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The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of
purchase to be cash equivalents. The Company’s short-term investments consists of certificates of deposits with
original maturities of greater than three months and remaining maturities less than one year as of the balance sheet
date. We classify all of our cash equivalents and short-term investments as available-for-sale, which are recorded at
fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in stockholders’
equity. Realized gains and losses are included in other income (expense), net.
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Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade and other receivables are included in accounts receivables and primarily comprised of trade receivables that are
recorded at invoiced amounts and do not bear interest, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Other receivables
included unbilled receivables related to digital promotions and media advertising contracts with customers. The
Company generally does not require collateral and performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and maintains
allowances for potential credit losses. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the
expected collectability of its accounts receivable. The allowance is determined based upon specific account
identification and historical experience of uncollectable accounts. The expectation of collectability is based on the
Company’s review of credit profiles of customers, contractual terms and conditions, current economic trends, and
historical payment experience.

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and
amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are three
years for computer equipment and software and five years for all other asset categories except leasehold
improvements, which are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the expected useful life of the improvements.
Equipment leased under capital leases is amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the asset’s estimated useful
life.

Internal-Use Software Development Costs

For costs incurred for computer software developed or obtained for internal use, the Company begins to capitalize its
costs to develop software when preliminary development efforts are successfully completed, management has
authorized and committed project funding, and it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will
be used as intended. These costs are amortized to cost of revenues over the estimated useful life of the related asset,
generally estimated to be three years. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post implementation activities,
including training and maintenance are expensed as incurred and recorded in research and development expense on
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Leases

Leases meeting certain criteria are accounted for as capital leases. The imputed interest is included in interest expense
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, and the capitalized value is amortized as part of the
Company’s property and equipment, net. Obligations under capital leases are reduced by lease payments, net of
imputed interest. All other leases are accounted for as operating leases. When an operating lease contains a
predetermined fixed escalation of the minimum rent, or if tenant allowances have been received, the related rent
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, with the difference between the recognized
rent expense and amounts payable under the lease recorded as deferred rent liability.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for acquisitions of entities that include inputs and processes and have the ability to create
outputs as business combinations. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total consideration is allocated to
the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration transferred over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. During
the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Acquisition

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

137



related costs are not considered part of the consideration, and are expensed as general and administrative expense as
incurred. Contingent consideration, if any, is measured at fair value initially on the acquisition date as well as
subsequently at the end of each reporting period, typically based on the expected achievement of certain financial
metrics, until, the assessment period is over and it gets finally settled.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill is not subject to
amortization but is tested for impairment at least annually, and more frequently upon the occurrence of certain events
that may indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable. The Company completes its annual
impairment test during the fourth quarter of each year, at the reporting unit level, which is at the company level as a
whole, since the Company operates in one single reporting segment. There was no impairment of goodwill for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Long-Lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured first
by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by
the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, an impairment loss would be recognized for an amount by
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.

During the third quarter of 2016, the Company recorded a one-time charge associated with certain distribution fees
under an arrangement with a retail partner that were deemed unrecoverable. When the Company delivers a digital
coupon on a retailer’s website or mobile app or through its loyalty program, or the website or mobile app of a
publisher, or through its Retailer iQ platform, and the consumer takes certain actions, the Company pays a distribution
fee to the retailer or other publisher, which, in some cases may be prepaid prior to being incurred. The Company
considered various factors in its assessment including its historical experience with transaction volumes through the
retailer and other comparative retailers, ongoing communications with the retailer to increase its marketing efforts to
promote the digital platform, as well as the projected revenues, and associated revenue share payments. Accordingly,
during the three months ended September 30, 2016, the Company recognized a one-time charge of $7.4 million
related to such distribution fees in cost of revenues on the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. As of
December 31, 2018, the Company had no prepaid non-refundable payments with its Retailer iQ partners. The
Company has  recognized any impairment of long-lived assets during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued compensation and benefits, and other current liabilities, approximate fair value due to their
short-term nature. The Company records money market funds, short-term investments and contingent consideration at
fair value. See Note 3 (Fair Value Measurements).

Convertible Senior Notes

In November 2017, the Company issued $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 1.75% convertible senior notes
due 2022 (the “notes”). In accounting for the issuance of the notes, the Company separated the notes into liability and
equity components. The carrying amount of the liability component was calculated by measuring the fair value of a
similar liability that does not have an associated convertible feature. The carrying amount of the equity component
representing the conversion option was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the par
value of the notes as a whole. This difference represents a debt discount that is amortized to interest expense over the
terms of the notes. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity
classification. In accounting for the issuance costs related to the notes, the Company allocated the total amount
incurred to the liability and equity components. Issuance costs attributable to the liability components are being
amortized to expense over the contractual term of the notes, and issuance costs attributable to the equity component
were netted with the equity component in additional paid-in capital.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company primarily generates revenue by providing digital promotions and media solutions to its customers and
partners. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the Company’s
customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those
goods or services.

The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:

•Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer
•Identification of the performance obligations in the contract
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•Determination of the transaction price
•Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
•Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Promotion Revenue

The Company generates revenue from promotions, in which consumer packaged goods brands, or CPGs, pay the
Company to deliver coupons to consumers through its network of publishers and retail partners. The Company
generates revenues, as consumers select, activate, or redeem a coupon through its platform by either saving it to a
retailer loyalty account for automatic digital redemption, or printing it for physical redemption at a retailer. The
pricing for promotion arrangements generally includes both coupon setup fees and coupon transaction fees. Coupon
setup fees are related to the creation of digital coupons and set up of the underlying campaign on Quotient’s proprietary
platform for tracking of related activations or redemptions. The Company recognizes revenues related to coupon setup
fees over time, proportionally, on a per transaction basis, using the number of authorized transactions per insertion
order, commencing on the date of the first coupon transaction. Coupon transaction fees are generally determined on a
per unit activation or per redemption basis, and are generally billed monthly. Insertion orders generally include a limit
on the number of activations, or times consumers may select a coupon.

Promotion revenues also include the Company’s Specialty Retail business, in which specialty stores including clothing,
electronics, home improvement and others, offer coupon codes that the Company distributes. Each time a consumer
makes a purchase using a coupon code, a transaction occurs and a distribution fee is generally paid to the Company.
The Company generally generates revenues when a consumer makes a purchase using a coupon code from its
platform and completion of the order is reported to the Company. In the same period that the Company recognizes
revenues for the delivery of coupon codes, it also estimates and records a reserve, based upon historical experience, to
provide for end-user cancelations or product returns which may not be reported until a subsequent date. The Company
presents sales returns reserve as a liability for the periods beginning with the first quarter ended March 31, 2018
versus a contra-asset within accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts on the consolidated balance
sheet for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Media Revenue

The Company’s media services enable CPGs and retailers to distribute digital media to promote their brands and
products on its websites, and mobile apps, and through a network of affiliate publishers and non-publisher third parties
that display its media offerings on their websites or mobile apps. Revenue is generally recognized each time a digital
media ad is displayed or each time a user clicks on the media ad displayed on the Company’s websites, mobile apps or
on third-party websites. Media pricing is generally determined on a per campaign, impression or per click basis and
are generally billed monthly.

Gross versus Net Revenue Reporting

In the normal course of business and through its distribution network, the Company delivers digital coupons and
media on retailers’ websites through retailers’ loyalty programs, and on the websites of digital publishers. In these
situations, the Company evaluates whether it is the principal (i.e., report revenues on a gross basis) or agent (i.e.,
report revenues on a net basis). Generally, the Company reports digital promotion and media advertising revenues for
campaigns placed on third-party owned properties on a gross basis, that is, the amounts billed to its customers are
recorded as revenues, and distribution fees paid to retailers or digital publishers are recorded as cost of revenues. The
Company is the principal because it controls the digital coupon and media advertising inventory before it is transferred
to its customers. The Company’s control is evidenced by its sole ability to monetize the digital coupon and media
advertising inventory, being primarily responsible to its customers, having discretion in establishing pricing for the
delivery of the digital coupons and media, or a combination of these.
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Arrangements with Multiple Performance Obligations

The Company’s contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, the
Company accounts for individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct. The transaction price is
allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis. The Company
determines its best estimate of its standalone selling prices based on its overall pricing objectives, taking into
consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of its contracts and characteristics of targeted
customers.  
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Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenues consist of coupon setup, coupon transaction and digital media fees that are expected to be
recognized upon coupon activations, or delivery of media impressions or clicks, which generally occur within the next
twelve months. The Company records deferred revenues, including amounts which are refundable, when cash
payments are received or become due in advance of the Company satisfying its performance obligations. The increase
in the deferred revenue balance for year ended December 31, 2018 is primarily driven by cash payments received or
due in advance of satisfying our performance obligations of $20.6 million, partially offset by $18.2 million of
recognized revenue.

The Company’s payment terms vary by the type and size of its customers. For certain products or services and
customer types, we require payment before the products or services are delivered to the customer.

Disaggregated Revenue

The following table presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by type of services (in thousands). The majority of
the Company’s revenue is generated from sales in the United States.

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017(1) 2016(1)

Promotion $245,493 $237,184 $212,110
Media 141,465 84,931 63,080
Total Revenue $386,958 $322,115 $275,190

(1)As noted above, prior period amounts have not been adjusted under the modified retrospective method.
Practical Expedients and Exemptions

The Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original
expected length of one year or less and (ii) contracts for which it recognizes revenue for an amount where it has the
right to invoice for services performed.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consist primarily of distribution fees, personnel costs, depreciation related to data center equipment,
and amortization expense related to capitalized internal use software, acquisition related intangible assets and
purchased intangible assets, data center costs, third-party service fees including traffic acquisition costs and purchase
of third-party data. Distribution fees consist of payments to partners within the Company’s network for their digital
coupon publishing services. Personnel costs include salaries, bonuses, stock-based awards and employee benefits and
are primarily attributable to individuals maintaining the Company’s data centers and operations, which initiate, sets up
and deliver digital coupon media campaigns. Third-party service fees including traffic acquisition costs consist of
payments related to delivering campaigns on certain networks or sites.

Sales Commissions

The Company generally incurs and expenses sales commissions upon recognition of revenue for related goods and
services, which typically occurs within one year or less. Sales commissions earned related to revenues for initial
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contracts are commensurate with sales commissions related to renewal contracts. These costs are included in sales and
marketing expenses within the consolidated statements of operations.

Research and Development Expense

The Company expenses the cost of research and development as incurred. Research and development expense consists
primarily of personnel and related headcount costs and costs of professional services associated with the ongoing
development of the Company’s technology.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation for all stock-based awards made to employees and directors,
including stock options, restricted stock units, performance-based restricted stock units, and employee stock purchase
plan using the fair value method. This method requires the Company to measure the stock-based compensation based
on the grant-date fair value of the awards and recognize the compensation expense over the requisite service period.
The fair values of stock options and shares pursuant to Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) are estimated at the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, which includes assumptions for the dividend
yield, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, and expected life. The fair values of restricted stock and restricted
stock units are determined based upon the fair value of the underlying common stock at the date of grant. The
Company expenses stock-based compensation using the straight-line method over the vesting term of all awards
except for performance-based restricted stock units, which are expensed using the accelerated attribution method.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-09 Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting in the first quarter of 2017. Upon adoption, the Company elected to change its accounting policy
to account for forfeitures as they occur. The change was applied on a modified retrospective basis with a cumulative
effect adjustment related to estimated forfeitures of $3.4 million recorded to accumulated deficit balance as of January
1, 2017. Equity awards issued to nonemployees are recorded at fair value on their measurement date and are subject to
adjustment each period as the awards vest.

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred and are included in sales and marketing expense on the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The Company incurred $0.3 million, $1.0 million and $2.7 million of
advertising costs during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Advertising costs consist
primarily of online marketing costs, such as sponsored search, advertising on social networking sites, e-mail
marketing campaigns, loyalty programs, and affiliate programs.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with authoritative guidance, which requires the use of the
liability method. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the
difference between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities and
are measured using the enacted tax rate expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the differences are
expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based upon a two-step process. To the
extent a tax position does not meet a more-likely-than-not level of certainty, no benefit is recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. If a position meets the more-likely-than-not level of certainty, it is recognized in the
consolidated financial statements at the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement. The Company accounts for any applicable interest and penalties as a component of income tax
expense.

Foreign Currency

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, where the local currency is the functional
currency, are translated into U.S. Dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates, and income and
expenses are translated using average exchange rates during the period. The resulting foreign currency translation
adjustments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss, a component of stockholders’ equity.
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Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in other income (expense), net in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) were immaterial for all the periods
presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) consists of foreign currency translation adjustments.
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Net Income (Loss) per Share

The Company’s basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net
income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. The diluted
net income (loss) per share is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive common share equivalents
outstanding during the period. The dilutive effect of dilutive common share equivalents is reflected in diluted net
income (loss) per share by application of the treasury stock method. Since the Company intends to settle the principal
amount of its outstanding convertible senior notes in cash, the Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating
any potential dilutive effect of the conversion spread on diluted net income per share, if applicable. The effects of
options to purchase common stock, RSUs, certain shares held in escrow, and convertible senior notes are excluded
from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders because their effect is
antidilutive.

Segments

The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), who is the Chief Executive Officer, reviews the Company’s
financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating its
financial performance. There are no segment managers who are held accountable by the CODM, or anyone else, for
operations, operating results, and planning for levels or components below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly,
the Company has determined that it operates in one single reporting segment.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash,
cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable. For cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments, the Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of default by the financial institutions to the extent of
the amounts recorded on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable is dispersed due to the large number of customers. The Company does not require collateral for accounts
receivable.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”)
2016-02, Leases (“Topic 842”). The guidance requires lessees to put most leases on their balance sheets but recognize
expenses on their income statements in a manner similar to today’s accounting. Lessees initially recognize a lease
liability for the obligation to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset for the right to use the underlying asset for
the lease term. The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. The
right-of-use asset is measured at the lease liability amount, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received
and the lessee’s initial direct costs. The standard is effective for public business entities for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within that reporting period, which is the first quarter of 2019
for the Company. Early adoption is permitted. Topic 842 is required to be adopted using a modified retrospective
approach.

The Company currently anticipates the most significant impact will be from the recognition of ROU assets and lease
liabilities related to its office space operating leases. In preparation for the adoption of the new standard, the Company
is in process of finalizing its accounting policies and procedures and implementing internal controls over financial
reporting. The Company will adopt the new lease standard in the first quarter of 2019, using the optional transitional
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method, and does not expect that the adoption of the new accounting standard will have a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

Topic 606: In May 2014, FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”), which
supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in ASC 605, ”Revenue Recognition” (“Topic 605”), and requires entities
to recognize revenue when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.
Additionally, the standard requires reporting companies to also disclose the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.
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The Company adopted Topic 606 as of January 1, 2018, using the modified retrospective method applied to those
contracts which were not completed as of January 1, 2018. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1,
2018 are presented under Topic 606, while prior periods are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance
with its historic accounting under Topic 605.  

As a result of adopting the new standard, the Company recorded a net increase to retained earnings of $0.1 million as
of January 1, 2018, with the impact primarily related to unbilled receivables for performance obligations that have
been satisfied but no invoice has been issued. Also, under Topic 606, the Company presents sales returns reserve as a
liability versus a contra-asset within accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts on the consolidated
balance sheet for fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. The impact to revenues as a result of applying Topic 606 for
the year ended December 31, 2018 was an increase of $1.0 million.  

Topic 230: In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (“Topic 230”): Classification of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments, which clarifies how companies present and classify certain cash receipts
and cash payments in the statement of cash flows. Following the adoption of Topic 230, cash payments that are not
made soon after the consummation of a business combination to settle a contingent consideration liability will be
classified as cash outflows for financing and operating activities, as applicable. Topic 230 requires that the portion of
the cash payment up to the acquisition date fair value of the contingent consideration liability should be classified as a
financing outflow, and amounts paid in excess of the acquisition date fair value of that liability should be classified as
operating outflows. The Company adopted Topic 230 as of January 1, 2018 and classified the cash payments related
to contingent consideration in accordance with this guidance. 

3. Fair Value Measurements

The fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is estimated by applying the following
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the categorization within
the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:

Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, quoted prices
for similar assets or liabilities in active or inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated
by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimate of assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The Company’s fair value hierarchy for its financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $142,507 — — $142,507
U.S. Treasury Bills 19,689 — — 19,689
Short-Term investments:
Certificate of deposit — 20,738 — 20,738
Total $162,196 $20,738 $— $182,934
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration related to acquisitions — — 28,963 28,963
Total $— $— $28,963 $28,963

December 31, 2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $100,152 — — $100,152
Short-Term investments:
Certificate of deposit — 59,902 — 59,902
Total $100,152 $59,902 $— $160,054
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration related to acquisitions — — 18,500 18,500
Total $— $— $18,500 $18,500

The valuation technique used to measure the fair value of money market funds and U.S. Treasury Bills includes using
quoted prices in active markets. The money market funds have a fixed net asset value (NAV) of $1. The valuation
technique to measure the fair value of certificate of deposits included using quoted prices in active markets for similar
assets.

The contingent consideration as of December 31, 2018 relates to the acquisition of MLW Squared Inc. (“Ahalogy”) and
Elevaate Ltd. (“Elevaate”). The contingent consideration as of December 31, 2017 relates to the acquisition of Crisp
Media, Inc. (“Crisp”). The fair values of contingent consideration are based on the expected achievement of certain
revenue targets as defined under the acquisition agreements and was estimated using an option pricing method with
significant inputs that are not observable in the market, thus classified as a Level 3 instrument. The inputs included the
expected achievement of certain financial metrics over the contingent consideration period, volatility and discount
rate. The fair-value of the contingent consideration is classified as a liability and is re-measured each reporting period.
Refer to Note 6 for further details related to the acquisition.
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The following table represents the change in the contingent consideration (in thousands):

Elevaate Ahalogy Crisp Shopmium Eckim
Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 1 Total

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ — $— $— $ 1,407 $2,291 $3,698
Change in fair value during the period — — — (1,222 ) (347 ) (1,569 )
Settlement — — — — (1,944) (1,944 )
Balance as of December 31, 2016 — — — 185 — 185
Addition related to acquisition (initial

   measurement) — — 14,800 — — 14,800
Change in fair value during the period — — 3,700 (185 ) — 3,515
Balance as of December 31, 2017 — — 18,500 — — 18,500
Addition related to acquisition (initial

   measurement) 6,121 14,582 — — — 20,703
Change in fair value during the period — 8,260 6,000 — — 14,260
Payments made during the period — — (24,500) — — (24,500)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 6,121 $22,842 $— $ — $— $28,963

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the recorded a charge of $14.3 million and $3.5 million,
and a gain of $1.6 million, respectively, for the re-measurement of the fair values of contingent consideration related
to acquisitions, as a component of operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The
gain of $1.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 related to acquisitions completed prior to fiscal year
2016.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company paid $24.5 million related to Crisp’s achievement of financial
metrics subject to contingent consideration during the measurement period ending May 31, 2018, and as a result, no
liability exists as of December 31, 2018. Out of the total consideration paid, $14.8 million was originally measured
and recorded on the acquisition date and $9.7 million was recorded subsequent to the acquisition date through changes
in fair value of contingent consideration within the consolidated statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company determined that Shopmium S.A. (“Shopmium”) did not meet its revenue and
profit milestones, during the contingent consideration measurement period, and the fair value was concluded to be
zero.  Accordingly, the Company determined that no payout was required when the contingent consideration period
expired on March 31, 2018.

Fair Value Measurements of Other Financial Instruments

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value of the 1.75% convertible senior notes due 2022 was $187.5 million
and $196.3 million, respectively. The fair value was determined based on a quoted price of the convertible senior
notes in an over-the-counter market on the last trading day of the reporting period. Accordingly, these convertible
senior notes are classified within Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. Refer to Note 9 for additional information related
to the Company’s convertible debt.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

152



Assets and liabilities are valued on the date of acquisition for businesses acquired on a nonrecurring basis.

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, there were no assets and liabilities that are required to be measured
at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.
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4. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The summary of activities in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December
31,
2018 2017 2016

Balance at beginning of period $786 $1,338 $833
Additions related to acquisitions 32 229 —
Bad debt expense (recovery) 509 (655 ) 652
Write-offs (127 ) (126 ) (147 )
Balance at end of period $1,200 $786 $1,338

5. Balance Sheet Components

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2018 2017

Software $37,987 $33,198
Computer equipment 23,986 24,342
Leasehold improvements 8,147 7,905
Furniture and fixtures 2,057 2,107
Total 72,177 67,552
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (59,348) (55,752)
Projects in process 2,750 4,810
Property and equipment, net $15,579 $16,610

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment was $7.2 million, $6.9 million and $16.0 million
for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

The Company capitalized internal use software development costs of $2.9 million, $3.8 million, and $0.7 million
during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, the Company had $1.3 million, $0.6 million and $10.5 million, respectively, in amortization expense
related to internal use software, which is included in property and equipment depreciation and amortization expense
and recorded as cost of revenues. The unamortized capitalized internal use software development costs were $6.1
million and $4.4 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively and included as part of software costs.

Accrued Compensation and Benefits

Accrued compensation and benefits consist of the following (in thousands):
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December 31,
2018 2017

Bonus $5,997 $7,212
Commissions 4,104 4,199
Payroll and related expenses 1,938 2,132
Severance related to restructuring 709 —
Vacation 359 371
Accrued compensation and benefits $13,107 $13,914
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Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2018 2017

Distribution fees $15,389 $18,485
Liability related to purchased intangible asset 14,500 —
Prefunded liability 5,131 2,151
Traffic acquisition cost 2,417 3,040
Marketing expenses 2,416 2,826
Facility exit costs related to restructuring 1,019 1,105
Interest payable 282 418
Other 12,101 7,513
Other current liabilities $53,255 $35,538

6. Acquisitions

Acquisition of Elevaate

On October 26, 2018, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of Elevaate, a sponsored search company for
retail partners and CPG brands.

The total preliminary acquisition consideration of $13.3 million consisted of $7.2 million in cash and contingent
consideration of up to $18.5 million payable in cash with an estimated fair value of $6.1 million as of the acquisition
date. The contingent consideration payout is based on Elevaate achieving certain financial metrics between February
1, 2019 through January 31, 2021. The acquisition date fair value of the contingent consideration was determined by
using an option pricing model. The fair value of the contingent consideration will be remeasured every reporting
period. Refer to Note 3 for the fair value of contingent consideration at December 31, 2018.

Acquisition of SavingStar, Inc.

On August 27, 2018, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of SavingStar, Inc. (“SavingStar”), a digital
promotions company with a CRM platform designed to help brands build and track loyalty programs with their
consumers.

The total preliminary acquisition consideration at closing consisted of $7.5 million in cash. In addition, SavingStar
may receive potential contingent consideration of up to $10.6 million payable in all cash, subject to achieving certain
financial metrics between closing through February 29, 2020. At the date of acquisition, the contingent consideration’s
fair value was determined to be zero using an option pricing model. The fair value of the contingent consideration is
remeasured every reporting period and remains zero as of December 31, 2018.

Acquisition of Ahalogy

On June 1, 2018, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of Ahalogy, an influencer marketing firm that
delivers premium content across social media channels for CPG brands. The acquisition enhances the Company’s
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performance media solutions for CPGs and retailers, adding social media expertise and a roster of influencers.

The total preliminary acquisition consideration of $36.4 million consisted of $21.8 million in cash and contingent
consideration of up to $30.0 million payable in all cash with an estimated fair value of $14.6 million as of the
acquisition date. The contingent consideration payout is based on Ahalogy achieving certain financial metrics between
closing through December 31, 2019. The acquisition date fair value of the contingent consideration was determined by
using an option pricing model. The fair value of the contingent consideration is remeasured every reporting period.
Refer to Note 3 for the fair value of contingent consideration at December 31, 2018.
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Acquisition of Crisp

On May 31, 2017, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of Crisp, a mobile marketing and advertising
company delivering shopper marketing media campaigns for CPGs and retailers. Crisp’s mobile media expertise
complements the Company’s proprietary shopper data, retail network and existing promotions and media offerings.

The total acquisition consideration of $51.9 million consisted of $24.1 million in cash, 1,177,927 shares of the
Company’s common stock with a fair value of $13.0 million or $11.00 per share, and contingent consideration of up to
$24.5 million payable in cash with a fair value of $14.8 million, as of the acquisition date. The contingent
consideration payout is based on Crisp achieving certain financial metrics over a period of one year after closing. The
acquisition date fair value of the contingent consideration was determined by using an option pricing method. The fair
value of the contingent consideration is remeasured every reporting period. The Company recorded a charge of $9.7
million since the acquisition date, related to the changes in fair value of Crisp contingent consideration due to an
increase in expected achievement of certain financial metrics over the contingent consideration period. As of May 31,
2018, the date that the contingent consideration period ended, Crisp earned the full payout of the contingent
consideration by achieving certain financial metrics and the Company paid out $24.5 million during the year ended
December 31, 2018, and as a result, no liability exists as of December 31, 2018. Of the total $24.5 million, $14.8
million is classified as a financing outflow and the remaining $9.7 million is classified as an operating outflow. Refer
to Note 3 for the fair value of contingent consideration at December 31, 2018.

Each of these acquisitions were accounted for as a business combination. Accordingly, assets acquired and liabilities
assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date when control was obtained. The
Company expensed all transaction costs in the period in which they were incurred. The Company acquired various
intangible assets resulting from these acquisitions, such as, customer relationships, vendor relationships, developed
technologies and trade names. The fair value of the customer relationships was determined by using a discounted cash
flow model. The fair value of the vendor relationships was determined by using a cost approach. The fair value of
developed technologies was determined by using the relief from royalty method or the with-and-without method. The
fair value of trade names was determined by using the relief from royalty method. The excess of the consideration
paid over the fair value of the net tangible assets and liabilities and identifiable intangible assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill arising from the acquisitions are largely attributable to the synergies expected to be
realized. None of the goodwill recorded from the acquisitions will be deductible for income tax purposes.

For each of these acquisitions, the fair value of the consideration transferred and the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed was determined by the Company and in doing so management engaged a third-party valuation specialist to
measure the fair value of identifiable intangible assets and obligations related to deferred revenue and contingent
consideration. The estimated fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the relevant
acquisition is based on management’s best estimates. As the Company finalizes certain valuation assumptions, the
provisional measurements of identifiable assets and liabilities, and the resulting goodwill related to the acquisitions of
Elevaate, Ahalogy and SavingStar are subject to change and the final purchase price accounting could be different
from the amounts presented herein.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair values as of the respective acquisition dates. The
following table summarizes the consideration paid for each acquisition and the related fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed (in thousands):

Purchase Net Identifiable Goodwill Goodwill Acquisition

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

158



Consideration Tangible

Assets

Acquired/

(Liabilities

Assumed)

Intangible

Assets

Deductible

for Taxes

Related

Expenses

(1)

Elevaate $ 13,346 $ (60 ) $ 3,781 $ 9,625 Not Deductible $ 549
SavingStar $ 7,485 $ (1,126 ) $ 2,577 $ 6,034 Not Deductible $ 556
Ahalogy $ 36,432 $ 2,196 $ 11,580 $ 22,656 Not Deductible $ 684
Crisp $ 51,904 $ 5,893 $ 9,400 $ 36,611 Not Deductible $ 1,504

$ 109,167 $ 6,903 $ 27,338 $ 74,926 $ 3,293

(1)    Expensed as general and
administrative
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The following table sets forth each component of identifiable intangible assets acquired in connection with the
acquisitions: (in thousands):

Elevaate

Estimated

Useful

Life

(in Years) SavingStar

Estimated

Useful

Life

(in Years) Ahalogy

Estimated

Useful

Life

(in Years) Crisp

Estimated

Useful

Life

(in Years)
Developed technologies $ 3,307 5.0 $ 1,476 3.0 $3,100 4.0 $5,000 4.0
Customer relationships 379 5.0 1,040 3.0 6,210 6.0 2,800 7.0
Trade names 95 3.0 61 1.5 650 4.0 1,600 4.0
Vendor relationships — — — — 1,620 2.0 — —
Total identifiable intangible

   assets $ 3,781 $ 2,577 $11,580 $9,400

The financial results of the acquired companies are included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations
from their respective acquisition dates and were insignificant to the Company’s operating results. The pro forma
impact of these acquisitions on consolidated revenues, income (loss) from operations and net loss was not material.

7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill:

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired in a business combination. The changes in the carrying value of goodwill are as follows (in
thousands):

Goodwill
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $43,895
Acquisition of Crisp 36,611
Balance as of December 31, 2017 80,506
Acquisition of Ahalogy 22,656
Acquisition of SavingStar 6,034
Acquisition of Elevaate 9,625
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $118,821
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Intangible Assets:

The following table summarizes the gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization for the intangible assets (in
thousands):  

December 31, 2018

Gross

Accumulated

Amortization Net

Weighted

Average

Amortization

Period

(Years)
Media service rights $34,476 $ (6,838 ) $27,638 3.2
Promotion service rights 29,492 (7,248 ) 22,244 5.1
Developed technologies 20,070 (8,353 ) 11,717 3.2
Customer relationships 19,290 (9,145 ) 10,145 4.5
Data access rights 10,801 (4,544 ) 6,257 3.3
Domain names 5,948 (5,260 ) 688 0.5
Trade names 2,573 (923 ) 1,650 2.7
Vendor relationships 2,510 (1,364 ) 1,146 1.4
Patents 975 (821 ) 154 3.6
Registered users 420 (335 ) 85 1.0

$126,555 $ (44,831 ) $81,724 3.7

December 31, 2017

Gross

Accumulated

Amortization Net

Weighted

Average

Amortization

Period

(Years)
Promotion service rights $22,492 $ (4,252 ) $18,240 6.1
Developed technologies 12,187 (5,013 ) 7,174 3.0
Customer relationships 11,660 (6,547 ) 5,113 4.3
Data access rights 10,801 (2,666 ) 8,135 4.3
Media service rights 6,383 (1,575 ) 4,808 4.3
Domain names 5,949 (4,689 ) 1,260 1.3
Trade names 1,767 (401 ) 1,366 3.4
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Patents 975 (769 ) 206 4.5
Vendor relationships 890 (890 ) — —
Registered users 420 (232 ) 188 2.2

$73,524 $ (27,034 ) $46,490 4.7

In August 2016, the Company entered into a services and data agreement, (the “Agreement”), which provides the
Company with certain exclusive rights to provide promotion and media services, and the use of shopper data, for 5.5
years, with certain rights continuing on a non-exclusive basis for up to an additional 4.5 years. In exchange, the
Company agreed to issue 3,000,000 shares of common stock.
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The consideration for such services and data rights aggregated to $39.6 million based on the fair value of 3,000,000
shares of the Company’s common stock at the date of entering into the Agreement. Out of the 3,000,000 shares issued,
1,000,000 shares were issued within five business days of execution of the Agreement and 2,000,000 shares are held
in escrow and will be released in two equal installments, within 15 business days following the years ending
December 31, 2017 and 2018. The fair value of the shares held in escrow was recorded in additional paid in capital
and is subject to re-measurement until released from escrow. During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, the Company recorded a gain of $1.1 million, a loss of $2.0 million, and a gain of $4.9 million, respectively,
due to the change in the Company’s stock price with a corresponding adjustment into additional paid in capital. Gains
and losses as a result of the changes in the fair value of the shares that are being held in escrow are included in change
in fair value of escrowed shares and contingent consideration, net on the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the contingencies for the release of each respective installment of
1,000,000 shares held in escrow have been met. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the initial installment of
1,000,000 shares was released from escrow. Subsequent to December 31, 2018, the remaining installment of
1,000,000 shares was released from escrow.

The consideration of $39.6 million as well as the capitalized transaction costs of $0.1 million were allocated to the
acquired intangible assets based on the respective fair values. The Company is amortizing the intangible assets on a
straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives in cost of revenues on the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations.

In April 2018, the Company entered into an agreement which provides the Company with, amongst other things,
certain exclusive media service rights in exchange for $13.0 million cash consideration for up to four years. The
consideration, as well as capitalized transaction costs of $0.1 million, were recorded as media service rights intangible
asset, and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life in cost of revenues on the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

In October 2018, the Company entered into an agreement which provides the Company with, amongst other things,
certain exclusive media service rights for up to four years in exchange for $15.0 million cash consideration with 50%
due upon execution and the remaining 50% due in January 2019. The second installment of $7.5 million is included in
other current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The total consideration, as well as
capitalized transaction costs of $0.1 million, were recorded as media service rights intangible asset, and is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life in cost of revenues on the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations. The agreement includes provisions for additional cash consideration, up to a total of $5.0
million, if certain contingencies are resolved within a two-year expiration period from the effective date of the
agreement. If any of the contingencies are resolved in the future, the Company will account for such cash payments in
a consistent manner as the initial intangible asset and amortized over the remaining useful life.

In December 2018, the Company entered into another agreement which provides the Company with certain exclusive
in-lane printing promotion service rights in exchange for $8.0 million cash consideration, of which $7.0 million is due
upon entering into the agreement and $1.0 million is due upon launch of services. The initial consideration of $7.0
million was recorded as an intangible asset with a corresponding charge to other current liabilities and the remaining
$1.0 million will be recorded as intangible assets upon launch of services. The total cash consideration including any
capitalized transaction costs will be amortized on a straight-line basis beginning the launch date over its estimated
useful life in cost of revenues on the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Intangible assets subject to amortization are amortized over their useful lives as shown in the table above.
Amortization expense related to intangible assets subject to amortization was $17.8 million, $10.9 million and $6.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Estimated future amortization expense
related to intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 is as follows (in thousands):
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Total
2019 $24,578
2020 23,530
2021 17,608
2022 9,894
2023 4,949
Thereafter 812
Total estimated amortization expense $81,371
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As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has a domain name with a gross value of $0.4 million with an
indefinite useful life that is not subject to amortization.

8. Restructuring Charges

The Company has carried out certain restructuring activities to further drive operational efficiencies and to align its
resources with its business strategies. Restructuring charges include facility exit costs related to future contractual
lease payments recorded in general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of operations and
severance and benefit costs related to headcount reduction recorded on the consolidated statement of operations based
on the impacted employees function. During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Company
recognized restructuring expense of $4.4 million, $3.4 million, and zero, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has restructuring accruals of $1.7 million and $2.1 million,
respectively, primarily related to facility exit costs, which is included in other current liabilities and other non-current
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, and severance, which is included in accrued compensation and benefits
on the consolidated balance sheets.

9. Debt Obligations

2017 Convertible Senior Notes

In November 2017, the Company issued $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 1.75% convertible senior notes
due 2022 in a private placement to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, (the “notes”). The notes are unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a fixed rate of
1.75% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing on June 1,
2018. The total net proceeds from the debt offering, after deducting transaction costs, were approximately $193.8
million.  

The conversion rate for the notes will initially be 57.6037 shares of the Company’s common stock per $1,000 principal
amount of notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $17.36 per share of common
stock, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of specified events.

Holders of the notes may convert their notes at their option at any time prior to the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding September 1, 2022, only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar
quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on March 31, 2018 (and only during such calendar quarter), if
the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive)
during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately
preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2)
during the five-business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which
the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than
98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion rate for the notes
on each such trading day; (3) if the Company calls any or all of the notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close
of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date; or (4) upon the occurrence of
specified corporate events. On or after September 1, 2022, holders may convert all or any portion of their notes at any
time prior to the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date regardless of
the foregoing conditions. Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of its
common stock or a combination of cash and shares of its common stock, at its election. The Company intends to settle
the principal amount of the notes with cash.
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The Company may not redeem the notes prior to December 5, 2020. It may redeem for cash all or any portion of the
notes, at its option, on or after December 5, 2020 if the last reported sale price of its common stock has been at least
130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30
consecutive trading day period (including the last trading day of such period) ending not more than three trading days
preceding the date on which it provides notice of redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. No
sinking fund is provided for the notes.
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If the Company undergoes a fundamental change prior to the maturity date, holders may require the Company to
repurchase for cash all or any portion of their notes at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental
change repurchase date.

In accounting for the issuance of the notes, the Company separated the notes into liability and equity components. The
carrying amount of the liability component of $149.3 million was calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar
debt instrument that does not have an associated convertible feature. The carrying amount of the equity component of
$50.7 million, representing the conversion option, was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability
component from the par value of the notes. The excess of the principal amount of the liability component over its
carrying amount (“debt discount”) is amortized to interest expense over the term of the notes at an effective interest rate
of 5.8%.

The Company allocated the total debt issuance costs incurred of $6.2 million to the liability and equity components of
the notes in proportion to the respective values. Issuance costs attributable to the liability component of $4.6 million
are being amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the contractual terms of the notes.
Issuance costs attributable to the equity component of $1.6 million were netted with the equity component in
additional paid-in capital.

The net carrying amount of the liability component of the notes recorded in convertible senior notes, net on the
consolidated balance sheets was as follows (in thousands):

December
31,

December
31,

2018 2017
Principal $200,000 $200,000
Unamortized debt discount (40,650 ) (49,631 )
Unamortized debt issuance costs (3,631 ) (4,548 )
Net carrying amount of the liability component $155,719 $145,821

The net carrying amount of the equity component of the notes recorded in additional paid-in capital on the
consolidated balance sheets was $49.1 million, net of debt issuance costs of $1.6 million as of December 31, 2018 and
2017.

The following table sets forth the interest expense related to the notes recognized in interest expense on the
consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

Year
Ended

Year
Ended

December
31,

December
31,

2018 2017
Contractual interest expense $ 3,500 $ 406
Amortization of debt discount 8,981 1,039
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Amortization of debt issuance costs 917 109
Total interest expense related to the Notes $ 13,398 $ 1,554

10. Stock-based Compensation

2013 Equity Incentive Plan

In October 2013, the Company adopted the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”), which became effective in
March 2014 and serves as the successor to the Company’s 2006 Stock Plan (the “2006 Plan”). Pursuant to the 2013 Plan,
4,000,000 shares of common stock were initially reserved for grant, plus (1) any shares that were reserved and
available for issuance under the 2006 Plan at the time the 2013 Plan became effective, and (2) any shares that become
available upon forfeiture or repurchase by the Company under the 2006 Plan and 2000 Plan.
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Under the 2013 Plan, the Company may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted
stock units, performance-based stock and units to employees, directors and consultants. The shares available will be
increased at the beginning of each year by lesser of (i) 4% of outstanding common stock on the last day of the
immediately preceding year, or (ii) such number determined by the Board of Directors. Under the 2013 Plan, both the
ISOs and NSOs are granted at a price per share not less than 100% of the fair market value on the effective date of the
grant. The Board of Directors determines the vesting period for each option award on the grant date, and the options
generally expire 10 years from the grant date or such shorter term as may be determined by the Board of Directors.

Stock Options

The fair value of each option was estimated using Black-Scholes model on the date of grant for the periods presented
using the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Expected life (in years) 6.02
5.50 -
6.25 2.30 - 6.08

Risk-free interest rate
2.66%

1.87%
-
2.14% 0.68% - 1.34%

Volatility 50 % 50 % 55% - 70%
Dividend yield — — —

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted was $6.59, $6.33 and $5.14 per share during the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of RSUs equals the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The RSUs are
excluded from issued and outstanding shares until they are vested.

On September 28, 2017 (the “Grant Date”), the Company granted 128,205 performance-based RSUs (“PSU Award”),
under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, to Mir Aamir, in connection with his promotion to President and Chief
Executive Officer. The original PSU Award represented the right to receive shares of the Company’s common stock
upon meeting certain vesting conditions which were tied to achievement of certain Company stock price goals. The
terms of the original PSU Award were subsequently modified to provide incentives based on targets directly tied to
the Company’s performance. The fair value of the original PSU Award of $1.6 million was measured using a Monte
Carlo simulation and will be recognized over the requisite service period. The incremental fair value of the modified
award of $0.4 million was derived from the excess fair value of the modified PSU award, based on the Company’s
stock price as of the modification date, over the fair value of the original PSU award, and will be recognized if the
achievement of the performance condition is considered probable over the requisite service period. During the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized $0.9 million and $0.2 million stock-based
compensation expense, respectively, in the consolidated financial statements related to the PSU Award.
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A summary of the Company’s stock option and RSUs award activity under the Plans is as follows:

Options Outstanding RSUs Outstanding

Shares

Available

for Grant

Number of

Shares

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price

Weighted

Average

Remaining

Contractual

Term (Years)

Aggregate

Intrinsic

Value

(in thousands)

Number of

Shares

Weighted

Average

Grant

Date
Fair

Value
Balance as of December 31,
2015 2,889,301 8,469,666 $ 7.62 5.91 $ 19,231 6,786,446 $ 13.14

Increase in shares authorized 3,279,811 — — — — — —
Options granted (2,197,432) 2,197,432 8.99 — — — —
Options exercised — (2,328,197) 4.54 — 15,485 — —
Options canceled or expired 592,834 (592,834 ) 8.97 — — — —
RSUs granted (2,855,267) — — — — 2,855,267 10.37
RSUs released — — — — — (2,422,146) 11.92
RSUs canceled or expired 1,715,483 — — — — (1,715,483) 11.81
Balance as of December 31,
2016 3,424,730 7,746,067 $ 8.83 6.12 $ 30,507 5,504,084 $ 12.02

Increase in shares authorized 3,542,416 — — — — — —
Options granted (1,319,680) 1,319,680 $ 12.76 — — — —
Options exercised — (1,435,484) $ 4.32 — $ 10,768 — —
Options canceled or expired 218,035 (218,035 ) $ 10.34 — — — —
RSUs and PSUs granted (2,517,721) — — — — 2,517,721 $ 12.04
RSUs released — — — — — (2,040,504) $ 12.20
RSUs canceled or expired 787,009 — — — — (787,009 ) $ 11.47
RSUs vested and withheld for
taxes 290,366 — — — — — —
Balance as of December 31,
2017 4,425,155 7,412,228 $ 10.36 6.09 $ 25,415 5,194,292 $ 12.26

Increase in shares authorized 3,727,989 — — — — — —
Options granted (801,000 ) 801,000 $ 13.10 — — — —
Options exercised — (1,329,361) $ 3.03 — $ 13,821 — —
Options canceled or expired 261,861 (261,861 ) $ 11.38 — — — —
RSUs granted (2,838,879) — — — — 2,838,879 $ 13.12
RSUs released — — — — — (2,287,045) $ 12.97
RSUs canceled or expired 841,965 — — — — (841,965 ) $ 11.99
RSUs vested and withheld for
taxes 880,262 — — — — — —
Balance as of December 31,
2018 6,497,353 6,622,006 $ 12.12 5.96 $ 9,987 4,904,161 $ 12.48

5,023,286 $ 12.16 5.21 $ 9,258

Edgar Filing: Quotient Technology Inc. - Form 10-K

170



Vested and exercisable as of
December 31, 2018

The aggregate intrinsic value disclosed in the table above is based on the difference between the exercise price of the
options and the fair value of the Company’s common stock.

The aggregate total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $6.7
million, $6.6 million and $3.7 million, respectively.

Additional information for options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2018 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average

Number of Contractual Term Exercise Number of Exercise
Exercise
Prices Shares (Years) Price Shares Price
$0.15 -
$5.33 779,837 2.25 $ 4.29 779,837 $ 4.29

$5.48 -
$8.51 1,241,532 6.70 8.27 905,841 8.17

$8.65 -
$13.00 2,168,338 6.25 10.77 1,638,000 10.12

$13.04 -
$16.25 1,632,299 7.32 14.29 899,608 15.26

$25.00 800,000 4.87 $ 25.00 800,000 $ 25.00
6,622,006 5,023,286
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), which became effective
in March 2014, pursuant to which 1,200,000 shares of common stock were reserved for future issuance. In addition,
ESPP provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance on the first day of each year equal
to the least of (i) 0.5% of the outstanding shares of common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding year,
(ii) 400,000 shares or (iii) such other amount as may be determined by the Board of Directors. Eligible employees can
enroll and elect to contribute up to 15% of their base compensation through payroll withholdings in each offering
period, subject to certain limitations. Each offering period is six months in duration. The purchase price of the stock is
the lower of 85% of the fair market value on (a) the first day of the offering period or (b) the purchase date.

The fair value of the option feature is estimated using the Black-Scholes model for the period presented based on the
following assumptions:

Year Ended December
31,
2018 2017 2016

Expected life (in years) 0.50 0.50 0.50

Risk-free interest rate

1.42%
-
2.50%

0.62%
-
1.42%

0.38%
-
0.62%

Volatility
35 -
40%

40% -
50%

50% -
74%

Dividend yield — — —

During the year ended December 31, 2018, a total of 1,149,287 shares of common stock were issued under the 2013
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), since inception of the plan. As of December 31, 2018, a total of 1,650,713
shares are available for issuance under the ESPP.  

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The following table sets forth the total stock-based compensation expense resulting from stock options, RSUs, and
ESPP included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Cost of revenues $2,315 $2,000 $1,821
Sales and marketing 6,596 6,621 5,776
Research and development 6,137 7,949 7,286
General and administrative 16,338 15,682 13,403
Total stock-based compensation expense$31,386 $32,252 $28,286
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During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 the Company capitalized stock-based compensation cost
of $0.1 million, $0.3 million, and zero, respectively, in projects in process as part of property and equipment, net on
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

During 2016, the Company recorded $1.0 million of stock-based compensation expense on account of modification of
stock options and RSUs granted to a former employee pursuant to transitioning from an employee to a special advisor
consulting arrangement. Under the original terms of the grant agreements, the unvested options and RSUs would be
forfeited upon termination. The transition arrangement extended the period over which the vested awards can be
exercised and allows for continued vesting of unvested options and RSUs subject to the former employee continuing
to provide services in accordance with the special advisor consulting arrangement. The expense is included in general
and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations.

As of December 31, 2018, there was $56.6 million unrecognized stock-based compensation expense of which $10.0
million is related to stock options and ESPP and $46.6 million is related to RSUs. The total unrecognized stock-based
compensation expense related to stock options and ESPP as of December 31, 2018 will be amortized over a
weighted-average period of 2.28 years. The total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs as
of December 31, 2018 will be amortized over a weighted-average period of 2.59 years.
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11. Stockholders’ Equity

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

In March 2014, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which became effective
immediately following the completion of the Company’s IPO. Under the restated certificate of incorporation,
the authorized capital stock consists of 250,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock.

Common Stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of common stock are subject to the rights of the
holders of shares of any series of preferred stock which the Company may issue in the future. Subject to the foregoing,
for as long as such stock is outstanding, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably any dividends as
may be declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available for dividends. Holders of common stock are
entitled to one vote per share on any matter to be voted upon by stockholders. The amended and restated certificate of
incorporation establishes a classified Board of Directors that is divided into three classes with staggered three year
terms. Only the directors in one class will be subject to election at each annual meeting of stockholders, with the
directors in other classes continuing for the remainder of their three year terms. Upon liquidation, dissolution or
winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to the Company’s stockholders would be distributable ratably
among the holders of common stock and any participating preferred stock outstanding at that time, subject to prior
satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of and the payment of liquidation
preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Preferred Stock. The Board of Directors is authorized to issue undesignated preferred stock in one or more series
without stockholder approval and to determine for each such series of preferred stock the voting powers, designations,
preferences, and special rights, qualifications, limitations, or restrictions as permitted by law, in each case without
further vote of action by the stockholders. The Board of Directors can also increase or decrease the number of shares
of any series of preferred stock, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding, without any further
vote or action by the stockholders. The Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting
or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of common stock.

Amendment. The amendment of the provisions in the restated certificate requires approval by holders of at least
66 2/3% of the Company’s outstanding capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors.

Common Stock Repurchases

The Board of Directors has approved programs for the Company to repurchase shares of its common stock. In April
2018, the Board of Directors authorized a one-year share repurchase program (“2018 Program”) for the Company to
repurchase up to $100.0 million of its common stock from May 2018 through May 2019. Stock repurchases may be
made from time to time at prevailing market prices, subject to certain restrictions on volume, pricing and timing. The
repurchases may be made in the open market, through negotiated transactions, including accelerated share repurchase
agreements, and through plans designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Act.  The 2018 Program is
discretionary, and we may suspend, modify or terminate the 2018 Program at any time without prior notice.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased 1,264,053 shares of its common stock for an
aggregate of $15.8 million under the 2018 Program. As of December 31, 2018, $84.2 million remained available for
repurchases under the 2018 Program.

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company retired 1,264,053 and 9,647,708 shares of its
treasury stock, respectively. The Company accounted for the retirement of treasury stock by allocating the excess
repurchase price over par value of the repurchased shares between additional paid-in capital and accumulated
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deficit. When the repurchase price of the shares repurchased is greater than the original issue proceeds, the excess is
charged to accumulated deficit.
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12. Income Taxes

The components of the Company’s loss before provision for (benefit from) income taxes were as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Domestic$26,813 $12,770 $18,041
Foreign 1,023 3,009 1,197
Total $27,836 $15,779 $19,238

The components of the provision for (benefit from) income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Current:
Federal $— $— $43
State 147 4 8
Foreign 390 173 84
Total current income tax expense (benefit) 537 177 135
Deferred:
Federal 120 (673) 142
State 102 84 14
Foreign (277) (290) (50 )
Total deferred income tax expense (benefit) (55 ) (879) 106
Total $482 $(702) $241

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Federal tax (21.00%) (34.00 %) (34.00%)
State income tax, net of federal tax benefit 0.91 % 0.56 % 0.11 %
Tax credits (4.55 %) (8.29 %) (8.14 %)
Stock-based compensation 0.44 % (0.54 %) 1.52 %
Foreign income taxes at other than U.S. rates (0.85 %) 5.74 % 2.29 %
Acquisition related costs 1.10 % 1.66 % —
Contingent consideration related to acquisitions 10.90 % 12.28 % (9.04 %)
162(m) 1.31 % — —
Other 1.69 % 2.93 % 2.77 %
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IRS Settlement — — (12.42%)
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act 0.00 % 175.93 % —
Valuation allowance, net 11.82 % (160.72%) 58.16 %
Effective tax rate 1.77 % (4.45 %) 1.25 %

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Act”) was signed into law making significant changes
to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include, but are not limited to, a federal corporate tax rate decrease from 35%
to 21%, effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the transition of U.S. international taxation from a
worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of
cumulative foreign earnings. As of December 31, 2017, the Company recorded a provisional impact for the
re-measurement of deferred taxes of $0.7 million as an income tax benefit. The provisional amount related to the
re-measurement of certain deferred tax assets and liabilities, based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in
the future, was $27.7 million, with a corresponding provisional valuation allowance of $28.4 million, resulting in a
provisional income tax benefit of $0.7 million attributable to the re-measurement of certain indefinite lived deferred
tax liabilities related to tax deductible goodwill.
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The Tax Act’s new international rules, including Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”), Foreign Derived
Intangible Income (“FDII”), and Base Erosion Anti-Avoidance Tax (“BEAT”) are effective beginning in 2018. For year
2018, the Company has included these effects of the Tax Act in its 2018 financial statements and has concluded the
impact will not be material. As of December 31, 2018, pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 118
(regarding the application of ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”) associated with the enactment of the Tax Act), the
Company has completed its accounting under ASC 740 for the provisions of the Tax Act and no material adjustments
were recorded.

The Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, a benefit
from income taxes of $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, and a provision for income taxes of $0.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2018
was primarily attributable to the impact of the indefinite lived deferred tax liabilities related to tax deductible
goodwill, change in the geographical mix of earnings in foreign jurisdictions and state taxes. The benefit from income
taxes for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to the provisional impact of the
re-measurement of certain indefinite lived deferred tax liabilities related to tax deductible goodwill as a result of the
Tax Act. The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily attributable to an
increase in deferred tax liabilities associated with the change in fair value of contingent consideration from prior year
acquisitions and a decrease in foreign income taxed at non-US tax rates.  

As a result of meeting certain employment and capital investment actions under Section 10AA of the Indian Income
Tax Act, the Company’s Indian subsidiary is wholly exempt from income tax for tax years beginning April 1, 2014
through March 31, 2019 and partially exempt from income tax for tax years beginning April 1, 2019 through March
31, 2024. A portion of these tax incentives will expire at the beginning April 1, 2020.

The components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2018 2017

Deferred tax assets:
Credits and net operating loss carryforward $100,326 $90,729
Accrued compensation 240 (31 )
Deferred revenues 246 54
Stock-based compensation 6,811 7,416
Property and equipment 391 1,231
Other deferred tax assets 1,533 1,495
Total deferred tax assets 109,547 100,894
Valuation allowance (95,301 ) (84,619 )

Deferred tax liabilities:
Basis difference on purchased intangible assets 6,211 6,559
Other deferred tax liabilities 9,889 11,406
Total deferred tax liabilities 16,100 17,965
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $(1,854 ) $(1,690 )
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Other deferred tax assets and liabilities are primarily comprised of the tax effects of accounts receivable reserves, sales
allowances, deferred rent, and other miscellaneous accruals. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had
gross deferred tax assets of $109.6 million and $100.9 million, respectively. The Company also had deferred tax
liabilities of $16.1 million and $18.0 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Realization of the
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income, if any, the amount and timing of which
is uncertain. Based on the available objective evidence, and historical operating performance, management believes
that it is more likely than not that all U.S. and certain foreign deferred tax assets are not realizable. Accordingly, the
net deferred tax assets have been fully offset with a valuation allowance. The net valuation allowance increased by
approximately $10.7 million and decreased $2.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $283.9 million
which will begin to expire in 2020. The Company had state net and foreign operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $242.7 million and $18.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has research
credit carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $14.9 million which will begin to expire in the
year 2032. The Company also had state net research credit carryforwards for income tax purposes of approximately
$16.9 million which can be carried forward indefinitely.

A reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefit is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December
31,
2018 2017 2016

Unrecognized tax benefit - beginning balance $7,527 $6,447 $8,759
Increases for tax positions taken in prior years — 16 313
Decreases for tax positions taken in prior years (242 ) — (785 )
Increases for tax positions taken in current year 932 1,064 1,163
Settlements — — (3,003)
Unrecognized tax benefit - ending balance $8,217 $7,527 $6,447

The unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would not impact the Company's effective tax rate as the recognition of
these tax benefits would be offset by changes in the Company's valuation allowance. The Company does not believe
there will be any material changes in its unrecognized tax benefits over the next twelve months.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had no accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. Due
to the Company’s historical loss position, all tax years from inception through December 31, 2018 remain open due to
unutilized net operating losses.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and various states and foreign jurisdictions and is subject
to examination by various taxing authorities including major jurisdiction like the United States. As such, all its net
operating loss and research credit carryforwards that may be used in future years are subject to adjustment, if and
when utilized.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to
the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state
provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits before their
utilization.

13. Net Income (Loss) per Share

Net Loss per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
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The computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net loss per share is as follows (in thousands, except per share
data):

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Net loss $(28,318) $(15,077) $(19,479)

Weighted-average number of shares used to

   compute net loss per share, basic and diluted 93,676 89,505 84,157

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $(0.30 ) $(0.17 ) $(0.23 )

Basic and diluted net loss per share is the same for each period presented, as the inclusion of all potential common
shares outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.
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The outstanding common equivalent shares excluded from the computation of the diluted net loss per share for the
periods presented because including them would have been antidilutive are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Stock options and ESPP 6,664 7,465 7,854
Restricted stock units 4,904 5,194 5,504
Shares held in escrow — 1,000 2,000
Shares related to convertible senior notes 11,521 11,521 —

23,089 25,180 15,358

14. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases office space under non-cancelable operating leases with lease terms ranging from one to six
years. Additionally, the Company leases certain equipment under non-cancelable operating leases at its facilities and
its leased data center operations.

Rent expense was $3.8 million, $4.3 million and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Aggregate Future Contractual Obligations and Lease Commitments

As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s unconditional purchase commitments and minimum payments under its
non-cancelable operating and capital leases are as follows (in thousands):

Operating Leases Capital Leases
2019 $ 5,850 $ 39
2020 3,561 39
2021 1,501 12
2022 1,542 —
2023 1,563 —
2024 and thereafter 1,018 —
Total minimum payments $ 15,035 $ 90

Less: Amount representing interest 8
Present value of capital lease obligations 82
Less: Current portion 34
Capital lease obligation, net of current portion $ 48

Other Future Commitments
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The Company has unconditional purchase commitments which expire through 2034 in the amount of $6.1 million for
marketing arrangements relating to the purchase of a 20-year suite license for a professional sports team which it uses
for sales and marketing purposes.

The Company also has unconditional purchase commitments, primarily related to software license fees and marketing
services, of $9.2 million as of December 31, 2018.

Promissory Note

In January 2017, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement with a lender to finance the purchase of
computer equipment for $0.8 million to be paid in quarterly installments over three years. As of December 31, 2018,
the Company had a remaining balance of $0.4 million under the agreement, which is included in other current
liabilities and other non-current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Indemnification

In the normal course of business, to facilitate transactions related to the Company’s operations, the Company
indemnifies certain parties, including CPGs, advertising agencies and other third parties. The Company has agreed to
hold certain parties harmless against losses arising from claims of intellectual property infringement or other liabilities
relating to or arising from our products, services or other contractual infringement. The term of these indemnity
provisions generally survive termination or expiration of the applicable agreement. To date, the Company has not
recorded any liabilities related to these agreements.

In accordance with our bylaws and/or pursuant to indemnification agreements entered into with directors, officers and
certain employees, we have indemnification obligations to our directors, officers and employees for claims brought
against these persons arising out of certain events or occurrences while they are serving at our request in such a
capacity. We maintain a director and officer liability insurance coverage to reduce our exposure to such obligations,
and payments made under these agreements. To date, there have been no indemnification claims by these directors,
officers and employees.

We maintain various insurance coverages, subject to policy limits, that enable us to recover a portion of any amounts
paid by us in connection with our obligation to indemnify our customers and vendors. However, because our
maximum liability associated with such indemnification obligations generally is not stated explicitly in the related
agreements, and further because many states prohibit limitations of liability for such indemnified claims, the
maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification provisions
could significantly exceed insurance policy limits.

Litigation

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may be involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations, and proceedings
consisting of intellectual property, commercial, employment, and other matters. The Company records a provision for
these claims when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss, or a range of the
potential loss, can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed regularly and adjusted to reflect the
impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information or events pertaining to a
particular case. In the event that one or more of these matters were to result in a claim against the Company, an
adverse outcome, including a judgment or settlement, may cause a material adverse effect on the Company’s future
business, operating results, or financial condition.

The Company believes that liabilities associated with any claims are remote, therefore the Company has not recorded
any accrual for claims as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. The Company expenses legal fees in the period in which
they are incurred.

15. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company maintains a defined-contribution plan in United States that is intended to qualify under Section 401(k)
of the Internal Revenue Code. The 401(k) plan provides retirement benefits for eligible employees. Eligible
employees may elect to contribute to the 401(k) plan. The Company provides a match of up to the lesser of 3% of
each employee’s annual salary or $6,000, which vests fully after four years of continuous employment. The Company’s
matching contribution expense was $1.9 million, $1.6 million and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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16. Concentrations

As of December 31, 2018, there was one customer with an accounts receivable balance greater than 10% of total
accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2017, there was no customer with an accounts receivable balance greater
than 10% of total accounts receivable.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was no customer that accounted for revenues greater than
10% of total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2016, there was one customer that accounted for revenues
greater than 10% of total revenues.

17. Information About Geographic Areas

Revenues generated outside of the United States were insignificant for all periods presented. Additionally, as the
Company’s assets are primarily located in the United States, information regarding geographical location is not
presented, as such amounts are immaterial to these consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

18. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth our quarterly unaudited consolidated statements of operations for each of the eight
quarters in the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31, 2018 Year Ended December 31, 2017
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenues $107,056 $103,591 $89,545 $86,766 $93,093 $81,950 $74,493 $72,579
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues 60,935 57,073 47,769 40,453 44,018 37,501 30,021 29,212
Sales and marketing 22,944 22,782 20,530 23,830 25,377 22,002 21,617 23,837
Research and development 10,151 11,974 12,122 12,626 11,860 12,255 12,774 13,120
General and administrative 14,311 12,574 11,528 11,392 12,726 11,702 11,803 11,893
Change in fair value of
escrowed

   shares and contingent

   consideration, net 1,148 4,692 — 7,350 (5,500 ) 9,700 3,900 (2,585 )
Total cost and expenses 109,489 109,095 91,949 95,651 88,481 93,160 80,115 75,477
Income (loss) from operations (2,433 ) (5,504 ) (2,404 ) (8,885 ) 4,612 (11,210) (5,622 ) (2,898 )
Interest expense (3,404 ) (3,373 ) (3,326 ) (3,308 ) (1,589 ) — — —
Other income (expense), net 1,326 1,267 1,270 938 391 276 134 127
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Income (loss) before income
taxes (4,511 ) (7,610 ) (4,460 ) (11,255) 3,414 (10,934) (5,488 ) (2,771 )
Provision for (benefit from)

   income taxes (15 ) 195 200 102 (768 ) (107 ) 270 (97 )
Net income (loss) $(4,496 ) $(7,805 ) $(4,660 ) $(11,357) $4,182 $(10,827) $(5,758 ) $(2,674 )
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $(0.05 ) $(0.08 ) $(0.05 ) $(0.12 ) $0.05 $(0.12 ) $(0.06 ) $(0.03 )
Diluted $(0.05 ) $(0.08 ) $(0.05 ) $(0.12 ) $0.04 $(0.12 ) $(0.06 ) $(0.03 )
Weighted-average number of

   common shares used in
computing

   net income (loss) per share:
Basic 94,262 94,066 93,643 92,711 91,002 90,492 88,985 87,490
Diluted 94,262 94,066 93,643 92,711 95,679 90,492 88,985 87,490
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Item 9.Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A.Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The phrase “disclosure controls and procedures” refers to controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act, such as this Annual Report on Form
10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Disclosure controls and procedures are also designed to ensure that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer (CEO)
and chief financial officer (CFO), as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our CEO and CFO, evaluated the effectiveness
of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15(e) and 15d- 15(e)
under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based upon such
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that as of December 31, 2018, our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified by the
SEC, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO,
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Management conducted an assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework). Based on the assessment, management has concluded that its internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2018 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, independently assessed the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting, as stated in their attestation report, which is included in Part II, Item 8 of
this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant
to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the fourth quarter of 2018 that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls
and procedures relative to their costs.
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Item 9B.Other Information.
None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance
The information called for by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers
and directors, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other executive and senior financial
officers. The full text of our code of business conduct and ethics is posted on the investor relations page on our
website which is located at http://investor.quotient.com. We will post any amendments to our code of business
conduct and ethics, or waivers of its requirements, on our website.

Item 11.Executive Compensation
The information called for by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13.Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information, if any, required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 14.Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15.Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
Documents filed as part of this report are as follows:

1.Consolidated Financial Statements
Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the “Index To Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2.Financial Statement Schedules
Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information has been
provided in the consolidated financial statements or in the notes thereto of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

3.Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the accompanying “Index to Exhibits” are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report.
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Exhibit Index

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit

Filing

Date

Filed

Herewith

    3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Registrant, as amended effective October 20, 2015.

10-K 001-36331 3.1 3/11/2016

    3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. 8-K 001-36331 3.2 10/6/2015

    4.1 Form of Registrant’s Common Stock Certificate. S-1/A 333-193692 4.1 2/25/2014

    4.2 Eighth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights
Agreement among the Registrant and certain holders of
its capital stock, dated June 1, 2011.

S-1 333-193692 4.2 1/31/2014

    4.3 Indenture, dated November 17, 2017, between Quotient
Technology, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association

8-K 001-36331 4.1 11/17/2017

    4.4 Form of 1.75% Convertible Senior Note due 2022
(included in Exhibit 4.3)

8-K 001-36331 4.1 11/17/2017

  10.1† Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and
officers.

S-1/A 333-193692 10.1 2/14/2014

  10.2† 2000 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of agreement
thereunder.

S-1 333-193692 10.2 1/31/2014

  10.3† 2006 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of agreement
thereunder.

S-1 333-193692 10.3 1/31/2014

  10.4† 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1 333-193692 10.4 1/31/2014

  10.5† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement 10-Q 001-36331 10.6 11/8/2016

  10.6† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
Non-Employee Directors

10-Q 001-36331 10.1 11/3/2017

  10.7† Form of Option Agreement for Employees 10-Q 001-36331 10.7 11/8/2016

  10.8† Form of Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors 10-Q 001-36331 10.8 11/8/2016

  10.9† Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units for Employees 10-Q 001-36331 10.1 11/9/2018

  10.10† 10-Q 001-36331 10.2 11/3/2017
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000114420415058280/v421662_ex3-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514066562/d612699dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514030698/d612699dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514030698/d612699dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514030698/d612699dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312517346945/d482498dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312517346945/d482498dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312517346945/d482498dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312517346945/d482498dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514052609/d612699dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514052609/d612699dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514030698/d612699dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514030698/d612699dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514030698/d612699dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514030698/d612699dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514030698/d612699dex104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459016028326/quot-ex106_606.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459017021536/quot-ex101_184.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459017021536/quot-ex101_184.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459016028326/quot-ex107_607.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459016028326/quot-ex108_608.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459018028938/quot-ex101_182.htm


Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units for
Non-Employee Directors – Initial Award

  10.11† Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units for
Non-Employee Directors – Annual Grant

10-Q 001-36331 10.3 11/3/2017

  10.12† Amended and Restated 2013 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan, dated April 25, 2017

10-Q 001-36331 10.1 5/5/2017

  10.13† Executive Bonus Plan S-1 333-193692 10.9 2/25/2014

  10.14† Employment Offer Letter between the Registrant and Mir
Aamir, dated February 18, 2014.

S-1/A 333-193692 10.6 2/25/2014

  10.15† Offer Letter of Employment with Ronald J. Fior, dated
July 25, 2016

10-Q 001-36331 10.2 11/8/2016
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459017009096/quot-ex101_363.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459017009096/quot-ex101_363.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514066562/d612699dex109.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514066562/d612699dex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000119312514066562/d612699dex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459016028326/quot-ex102_259.htm
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit

Filing

Date

Filed

Herewith

  10.16† Transition Agreement, by and between the Registrant and
Richard Hornstein, dated January 4, 2016.

10-K 001-36331 10.8 3/11/2016

  10.17† Change of Control Severance Agreement with Steven R.
Boal, dated August 2, 2016

10-Q 001-36331 10.3 11/8/2016

  10.18† Change of Control Severance Agreement with Mir Aamir,
dated August 2, 2016

10-Q 001-36331 10.4 11/8/2016

  10.19† Change of Control Severance Agreement with Ronald J.
Fior, dated August 2, 2016

10-Q 001-36331 10.5 11/8/2016

  10.20† Change of Control Severance Agreement with Jason
Young, dated May 2, 2017 X

  10.21† Change of Control Severance Agreement with Chad
Summe, dated January 1, 2018 X

  10.22 Lease Agreement by and between the Registrant and 400
Logue LLC, successor in interest to MSCP Logue, LLC,
successor in interest to Divco West Real Estate Services,
Inc., dated August 11, 2006.

S-1 333-193692 10.14 1/31/2014

  10.23 Amendment No. 1 to Lease Agreement by and between
the Registrant and 400 Logue LLC, successor in interest
to MSCP Logue, LLC, dated March 19, 2009.

S-1 333-193692 10.15 1/31/2014

  10.24 Amendment No. 2 to Lease Agreement by and between
the Registrant and 400 Logue LLC, dated February 25,
2015.

10-K 001-36331 10.15 3/19/2015

  10.25 Office Lease Mountain View Technology Park by and
between Registrant and BP MV Technology Park LLC.,
dated December 22, 2010.

S-1 333-193692 10.16 1/31/2014

  10.26 Amendment No. 1 to Office Lease Mountain View
Technology Park by and between Registrant and BP MV
Technology Park LLC., dated May 31, 2012.

S-1 333-193692 10.17 1/31/2014

  10.27 Amendment No. 2 to Office Lease Mountain View
Technology Park by and between Registrant and
GOOGLE INC. successor in interest to BP MV
Technology Park LLC., dated July 1, 2016.

10-Q 333-193692 10.1 8/8/2016
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1115128/000156459016023388/quot-ex101_291.htm


  10.28 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Quotient
Technology Inc., Carrot Merger Sub, Inc., Crisp Media,
Inc., and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, as
Securityholder Representative, dated May 2, 2017

10-Q 001-36331 10.1 8/4/2017

  10.29 Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2017,
Between Quotient Technology Inc. and Morgan Stanley &
Co. LLC, as representative of the Initial Purchasers listed
in Schedule I thereto

8-K 001-36331 10.1 11/17/2017

  21.1 List of Subsidiaries of Registrant. X

  23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm. X

  24.1 Power of Attorney (Included on the signature page to this
report).

X
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit

Filing

Date

Filed

Herewith

  31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

X

  31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

X

  32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule
13a014(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

  32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule
13a014(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

101.INS XBRL Instance Document X

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document X

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document X
†Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
*The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not

deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any
filing of Quotient under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, whether made before or after the date of this Form 10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation
language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Quotient Technology Inc.

Date: February 27, 2019 By: /s/ Mir Aamir
Mir Aamir
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Mir Aamir, Ronald Fior and Connie Chen, jointly and severally, his attorney-in-fact, each with the full power
of substitution, for such person, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and
perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents
and purposes as he might do or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitute, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s/ Steven Boal
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors

February 27,
2019

Steven Boal

/s/ Mir Aamir
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

February 27,
2019

Mir Aamir

/s/ Ronald Fior
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

February 27,
2019

Ronald Fior

/s/ Jody Gessow
Director

February 27,
2019

Jody Gessow

/s/ Steve Horowitz
Director

February 27,
2019

Steve Horowitz
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/s/ Robert McDonald
Director

February 27,
2019

Robert McDonald

/s/ Michelle
McKenna Director

February 27,
2019

Michelle McKenna

/s/ David
Oppenheimer Director

February 27,
2019

David Oppenheimer

/s/ Scott Raskin
Director

February 27,
2019

Scott Raskin

/s/ Christy Wyatt
Director

February 27,
2019

Christy Wyatt
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